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PRESS RELEASE

April 03,2006

Nokia adds hosting to its fast-growing Services portfolio

Launch new subscriber services more quickly and efficiently with Nokia Mobility Hosting

Las Vegas, NV (CTIA Wireless 2006), US and Espoo, Finland - Nokia today launched its Nokia Mobility Hosting solution for mobile service
providers, offering them the chance to quickly roll out new, exciting services for subscribers while keeping investments in check and
uncertainties to a minimum.

Separately, Nokia announced it had won a push to talk (PoC) hosting trial agreement with Mobitel Slovenia. In 2005, Nokia won push to talk
hosting agreements with mobilkom austria and 3 Scandinavia, and Nokia is currently in hosting solution talks with a number of service providers
across the globe.

Hosting is now starting to take off, and is expected to grow sharply in the coming years as operator competition intensifies. Research group
Ovum forecasts the size of the hosting market to double to 1.35 billion euros by 2009 from around 670 million in 2005.

As the telecommunications market converges, operators are increasingly looking in the mirror and asking themselves what sort of role they want
to play in this process. They are scrutinizing their business models and asking what is a core activity and what isn t, said Jean-Charles Doineau,
Service infrastructure practice leader, Ovum.

We feel operating service platforms is one area that some operators will offload to outside parties in the coming years. Only a handful of vendors
have started to look at the potential in this market, and Nokia is one of them, he said.

The business environment for mobile service providers is becoming tougher, and new multimedia services are becoming increasingly complex
to install and maintain. By opting for Nokia s hosting solution, operators can focus squarely on winning and retaining subscribers by offering
popular services such as PoC and multimedia messaging.

Nokia is unmatched in its ability to serve operators needs, from networks to devices to services. With our global footprint of hosting centers,
including the new Nokia Global Networks Solutions Center in Chennai, we are in a prime position to tap the growing hosting market and ensure
the best hosted solutions for our customers, said Patrik Sallner, Head of Hosting Service Line, Networks, Nokia.
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Thanks to our broad mobile solutions portfolio and the customer understanding we have from our Enterprise Solutions, Mobile Phones and
Multimedia businesses, Nokia can help service providers accelerate the time to market of new offerings. Hosting is a partnership that benefits
both sides, allowing them to share initial start-up costs and also reap rewards once the services take off, Sallner said.

Hosting is one of the many tools that Nokia can offer operators to help grow their business in the face of ever-toughening competition and
growing technological complexity. Hosting sits alongside Managed Services to form one of the main pillars of Nokia s growing Services
business unit. Nokia is a leader in the managed services market, with 39 agreements in 30 countries.

Nokia provides a full range of support and services to help operators differentiate and innovate their mobile offerings, with close to 20 years
experience in the field. Services comprises over 30 percent of revenues in Nokia s Networks business group, and the figure is growing.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks

Communications

Tel: + 358 7180 34379




Nokia

Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com

Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K




Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

PRESS RELEASE

April 03,2006

Mobitel Slovenia to trial Nokia s hosted push to talk service

Espoo, Finland - Mobitel Slovenia has tapped Nokia s hosted Push to talk over Cellular (PoC) solution for trialing in the Slovenian market. The
agreement, which marks a new customer and market entry for Nokia s Networks business group, means Mobitel can roll out the solution more
quickly and at a reduced cost. Cooperation is already underway.

The trial is initially targeted to business users, but all users can benefit from push to talk, which lets people communicate with groups or
individuals at the push of a button. As part of the trial, Nokia will also offer support for its Presence solution.

Push to talk hosting is an attractive option for Mobitel, as it allows us to quickly deploy the solution effectively and cost efficiently, said Domen
Rakovec, Chief R&D Officer, Mobitel. Choosing to trial with Nokia was an easy decision given its strong PoC track record and the fact that its
end-to-end solution will be compliant with the OMA (Open Mobile Alliance) standard.

We are very pleased to work with Mobitel on their hosted push to talk trial. This agreement shows how Nokia Mobility Hosting allows operators
to quickly trial and roll out new mobile services, said Patrik Sallner, Head of Hosting Service Line, Networks, Nokia. Hosting is a rising
telecoms industry trend, and an area where Nokia intends to grow.

Hosting is one of the many tools that Nokia can offer operators to help grow their business in the face of ever-toughening competition and
growing technological complexity. Hosting sits alongside Managed Services to form one of the main pillars of Nokia s growing Services
business unit. Nokia is a leader in the managed services market, with 39 agreements in 30 countries.

Nokia s end-to-end push to talk solution offers a full feature set, and will be compliant with the OMA standard. Nokia s solution is compatible
with the IP Multimedia Subsystem as standardized in 3GPP, and it will be capable of supporting various push-to-media, such as video. With
commercial contracts for 48 PoC service offerings, and several operator trials ongoing, Nokia is leading the market for Push to talk over Cellular
in GSM.

About Mobitel

Mobitel is the leading Slovenian mobile communications operator and one of the most technologically advanced mobile operators in the world.
Mobitel is the only operator in Slovenia with a UMTS license, and it launched its UMTS network already in December 2003. Mobitel offers
various state-of-the-art services and provides a wide range of services using advanced generations of mobile telecommunications GSM
900/1800, GPRS, WLAN and UMTS.
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About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Mobitel
Katarina Larisa Ham
Head of Public Relations Office

Tel. +386 147 22 920

Nokia, Networks
Communications

Tel: + 358 7180 34379

Nokia
Communications
Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 03,2006

Nokia signs agreement with RadioFrame Networks to deploy Picocell Base Station Solutions

Espoo, Finland - Nokia and RadioFrame Networks today announced they have entered into a reseller and distribution agreement. Under the
terms of this agreement, Nokia will sell, distribute and support RadioFrame Networks picocell solutions to mobile network operators. Based on
3GPP standards for pico base transceiver stations, RadioFrame Networks software-controlled S-Series solution tightly integrates mobile voice
and data services for GSM/GPRS and EDGE networks for consumer applications in homes as well as small-to-medium enterprises. The

S-Series solution complements Nokia s base station portfolio for GSM indoor service offering.

The S-series solution is a cost-effective way to provide indoor coverage and capacity for the mobile operators. Mobile operators can deploy this
solution by making use of DSL and cable broadband packet switched networks for backhaul connectivity , said Ari Lehtoranta, Senior Vice
President and General Manager, Radio Networks, Networks, Nokia.

This is an important day for RadioFrame and we are thrilled to have reached this agreement with Nokia, said Jeff Brown, president and CEO of
RadioFrame Networks. As a proven world leader in mobile infrastructure and equipment, Nokia s commitment to our S-Series infrastructure is
an important validation of the product and will help them meet the dynamic needs of their global customer base.

The S-Series offers mobile network operators an easy and seamless opportunity to expand existing wireless networks through an innovative
picocell base station. The base station can operate either as a single-board transceiver or can be added to an existing DSL/cable modem box with
a high degree of reliability and security. The S-Series will work transparently with Nokia base station controller and with
multiple-switched-ports router with firewall security and Web services to provide mobile network operators with remote fault management and
configuration capabilities.

About RadioFrame Networks

Headquartered in Bellevue, Washington, USA, RadioFrame Networks Inc. is the leader in modular radio solutions for telecom operators.
RadioFrame Networks deploys cost-effective radio access via flexible and efficient software-driven base stations. Unlike traditional approaches
from vendors offering proprietary, single-technology equipment, RadioFrame Networks offers an agile, multiple-technology, future-proof
solution that integrates into existing networks, increases capacity and reduces operating costs and capital expenditures. For more information,
please visit the company s Web site at www.radioframenetworks.com.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.
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Media Enquiries:

Todd Wolfenbarger - The Summit Group for RadioFrame Networks
Tel: +1-1-595-1155 / +1-801-244-9600

E-mail: twolfenbarger @ summitslc.com

Nokia, Networks
Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34379

Nokia
Communications
Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 04,2006

Nokia supplies GSM and WCDMA 3G/HSDPA networks to Cable & Wireless in the Channel Islands

Espoo, Finland - Nokia and Cable & Wireless, one of the world s leading telecommunications companies, have today signed a contract for the
supply of GSM and WCDMA 3G radio and core networks in the Channel Islands of Guernsey and Jersey. This network contract is part of the
global frame agreement that Cable & Wireless and Nokia announced in February 2006.

With the support of Nokia s network infrastructure, Cable & Wireless can offer high-quality network coverage and the very latest multimedia
services to its mobile customers.

As part of the agreement, Nokia will supply Cable & Wireless with GSM and WCDMA 3G radio networks, including HSDPA, and core
networks, including the Nokia MSC Server mobile softswitches. Included in the deal is the unique Nokia NetAct(TM) network and service
management system, and a range of services such as network planning, implementation, commissioning and network optimization. Deliveries
will start immediately.

We are committed to providing our customers with high-quality services. With 3G and HSDPA our customers can enjoy advanced multimedia
services and faster download speeds, says Geoff Houston, Chief Executive, Cable & Wireless Channel Islands. Nokia has
world-class credentials and its 3G networks support several leading operators globally. We could not get a better partner.

We re delighted to be working with Cable & Wireless to introduce 3G services in Guernsey and Jersey, says Peter Kyyhne, Vice President,
Networks, Nokia. By supplying a complete, end to end solution encompassing terminals, infrastructure, network applications and services we
enable Cable & Wireless to bring value to both business and private users within the Channel Islands.

Nokia s high-performing, cost-optimized HSDPA is a simple software upgrade to Nokia WCDMA networks, offering average data speeds of 1-2
Mbps in the first phase. Later, the Nokia will HSDPA support up to 14.4 Mbps in accordance with industry standards. Nokia is a leader in the
HSDPA market, with over 20 contracts globally.

Mobile softswitching and IMS are the main elements in converging networks. With over 80 customers for the MSC Server, Nokia has delivered
the majority of the world s commercial 3GPP compliant mobile softswitches, accounting for over 75% of Nokia s switch deliveries. Nokia is also
the front runner in IMS for fixed and mobile networks, with over 70 references for IMS solutions, such as Push to talk over Cellular and video
sharing.

About Cable & Wireless
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Cable & Wireless is one of the world s leading international communications companies. It provides fixed and mobile voice, data, IP (Internet
Protocol) and broadband services to business and residential customers, as well as services to other telecoms carriers, mobile operators and
providers of content, applications and internet services.

Cable & Wireless principal operations are in the United Kingdom, the Caribbean, Panama, Macau and Monaco.

For more information about Cable & Wireless, go to www.cw.com.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks

Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34379
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia expands GSM network for AIS in Thailand

Espoo, Finland - Nokia and Advanced Info Service Plc (AIS), one of Thailand s leading mobile phone service operators, have signed a deal
worth USD 19 million to expand AIS GSM network in the Northern, Central and Southern regions of Thailand. The expansion will improve
network coverage and capacity and ensure that AIS can maintain a top-quality GSM network in the fiercely competitive Thailand market.

Under the agreement, Nokia is supplying a GSM radio network, including base stations and base station controllers; a core network, including
the Nokia Mobile Switching Centre (MSC), the Nokia Intelligent Content Delivery (ICD), the Nokia Online Service Controller (OSC), and the
Nokia Terminal Management Server (NTMS). The GSM expansion covers Northern, Central and Southern Thailand. The Nokia ICD and
NTMS will be supplied nationwide.

Nokia will provide services including project management, telecom implementation and planning for the GSM expansion. Nokia s systems
integration will play an important role in integrating the Nokia ICD and NTMS solutions to AIS charging system. The system continues to be
supported by the unique multitechnology Nokia NetAct(TM) network and service management system.

The end-to-end GSM solutions from Nokia will enable us to maintain high quality network coverage and services despite the heavy usage and
growth in the network, says Ms. Arpattra Sringkarrinkul, Executive Vice President, Solutions, AIS. We value our customers and are
continuously working towards a better customer experience. Nokia s solutions not only improve the quality of our voice service, but also help us
make our non-voice services more flexible and user-friendly.

Nokia is proud to be part of the AIS success story in Thailand. Even with the tough competition in the Thai market, AIS continues to grow their
subscriber base and improve their network quality, says Somchai Thamsirisup, Account Director, Networks, Nokia.

Nokia has been working with AIS since the early 1990s, providing comprehensive services for the operator s GSM infrastructure.

The Nokia ICD solution enables AIS to provide data services to both prepaid and post-paid customers and charge for them differentially. The
NTMS enables AIS customers to send and update mobile settings over-the-air.

About AIS

Advanced Info Service Public Company Limited (AIS), a subsidiary of Shin Corporation PCL., is the established leader in Thailand s wireless
communications industry after more than 15 years of services with its subscribers based more than 16 millions and market share more than 50%.
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To date, AIS service network covers 795 districts (amphur) throughout Thailand, plus international roaming across in six continents.
Additionally, indoor coverage has been greatly expanded in both Bangkok and the provinces. AIS has continuously enhanced and expanded its
network in order to respond to the market and technological advances, whilst keeping abreast of consumers growing demands and needs. It
continues to integrate the latest in advanced technology and deliver more than just voice communication, with GPRS and EDGE technology.

AIS strongly believe that wireless communications bring changes to the way Thai people live their life, regardless of who they are and what they
do. With endless communications possibilities, the quality of life is better. Visit our web site at www.ais.co.th

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks

Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34379
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Exercises with stock options of Nokia Corporation

Espoo, Finland - A total of 427,902 shares of Nokia Corporation ( Nokia ) were subscribed for as of March 30, 2006 based on Nokia s 2003
employee stock option plan. This resulted in an increase of EUR 25,674.12 in Nokia s share capital and an increase of EUR 6,085,039.40 in
shareholders equity. The new shares carry full shareholder rights as from the registration date, April 5, 2006. The shares are admitted to public
trading on the Helsinki Exchanges as of the same date together with the old Nokia share class (NOK1V).

As a result of the increase, the share capital of Nokia is currently EUR 266,058,866.52 and the total number of shares is 4,434,314,442 including
the shares that are held by the company.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia

Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

N-Gage gamers stand to attention as the N-Gage Arena Battle the Commandos tournament commences

Espoo, Finland - Nokia today announced its latest N-Gage Arena tournament, Battle the Commandos featuring Pathway to Glory: Ikusa Islands.
From today until April 29, gamers can sign up to fight their way to the top for the chance to take on real Special Forces soldiers during the
tournament s grand finale.

Since Pathway to Glory arrived on N-Gage there has been nothing but praise for its attention to detail and in-depth tactical game play, said Sally
Vedros, product marketing manager for N-Gage Arena. By enlisting real soldiers to take on gamers during this tournament we are really putting
these elements of Pathway to Glory: Ikusa Islands to the test.

Following sign up, qualifying rounds will take place on April 12, 19 and 26. The finale on April 29 will give the best gamers the opportunity to
play against the Special Forces soldiers before a live chat session with them after the event.

Three Special Forces operatives will be taking part in the tournament, including Tony Sloane, author of The Naked Soldier: My Life in the
French Foreign Legion.

The beauty of the N-Gage Arena once again comes to the fore with this exciting online battle. Whether players participate from home or on the
bus, this global tournament is accessible wherever the gamer chooses to play.

Prizes include night vision goggles and limited edition military jackets. Terms and Conditions apply. For more information, visit
http://arena.n-gage.com .

About N-Gage

The N-Gage game deck is an innovative mobile device that is creating an entirely new market for the games industry. Built for active gamers,
the N-Gage platform is the first mobile and connected game deck to feature online high-quality 3D multiplayer game play over Bluetooth
wireless technology and GPRS. The N-Gage device also offers unique online games services as well as a comprehensive and growing games
catalogue from the leading game publishers. Nokia is the world leader in mobile communications. Nokia and N-Gage are trademarks or
registered trademarks of Nokia Corporation.

About Nokia
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Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Multimedia
Communications

Tel: +358 7180 45667

Nokia, Americas
Press Desk
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: n-gage.media@nokia.com

Nokia, Asia Pacific
Communications
Tel: +65 6723 2323

E-mail: communications.apac @nokia.com

WWW.n-gage.com/press

www.nokia.com
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Copyright © 2006 Nokia. All rights reserved. Nokia and N-Gage are trademarks or registered trademarks of Nokia Corporation. Bluetooth is a
registered trademark of Bluetooth SIG, Inc. Some features and services are dependent on the network, supported digital content formats, the
compatibility of other devices and applications, and other factors. Please refer to the user guide for complete information.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia Showcases End-to-End Mobility Solutions at CTIA 2006

New GSM and CDMA devices and network infrastructure innovations broaden Nokia portfolio

Las Vegas, NV, USA - Today at the world s largest wireless show, CTIA Wireless 2006, Nokia is demonstrating its comprehensive offering of
true end-to-end mobility solutions, which together enable people to mobilize their lives. Nokia will be showcasing new devices and network
innovations, as well as the latest mobile enterprise and multimedia solutions at Nokia booth 2641, located in the Central Hall of the Las Vegas
Convention Center.

Nokia Expands CDMA Portfolio with Multiple New Handsets

With the addition of three new CDMA handsets, Nokia s range of CDMA products continues its growth across all consumer segments with a
variety of designs at multiple price points.

The ultra compact and sleek new Nokia 2365i entry-tier flip phone features a large internal display, striking blue-on-black external display,
extended talk time and Bluetooth technology. The Nokia 2865/2865i phone is an elegant and stylish monoblock design with a large color
display, Bluetooth technology, internal antenna and FM Radio. With a slender, compact fold design, the Nokia 6175i is a new mid-tier flip
phone with a 1.3 megapixel camera, Bluetooth technology, internal antenna, large color display and stereo FM radio.

Nokia Unveils Desirably Slim GSM Phone

The latest Nokia GSM handset, the Nokia 6126 phone, boasts a full feature set with music, design and imaging. This quad-band (GSM/EDGE
850/900/1800/1900) has a 1.3 megapixel camera, music player with removable memory available via hot-swappable card, Bluetooth, video ring
tones, and a large 16 million color screen display - all wrapped in a thin, sleek package.

Nokia Networks Announces New Operator Offerings

Nokia launched Nokia Mobility Hosting for mobile service providers, offering them the chance to quickly roll out new, exciting services like
push-to-talk over cellular and multimedia messaging. Nokia also will be demonstrating its new Nokia UMA (unlicensed mobile access) Solution
which enables the seamless handover of a voice or data call from a WLAN network to a cellular network. And the Nokia Flexi Base Station, an
innovative product that completely changes the way 3G and broadband wireless networks will be built, will be featured at the booth. Nokia also
announced with RadioFrame Networks that Nokia will sell, distribute, and support RadioFrame Networks picocell solutions to mobile network
operators.
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Nokia s Mobile Solutions Experience Center will be located outside the Las Vegas Convention Center in the Silver Lot. UMA, IP Multimedia
Subsystem (IMS) applications, the Nokia Flexi Base Station, and Internet-High Speed Packet Access (I-HSPA) will be demonstrated.
Demonstrations are by appointment only.

Nokia Provides End-to-End Mobile Device Management

Nokia today announced a new Device Management offering for carriers, which allows mobile operators to provide device management and
device security services to their corporate customers. The new Nokia product, a result of the recent Intellisync acquisition, will become a part of
a broader Nokia Unified Device Management Solution offering for enterprises, carriers, and service providers that will help operators manage
their customer segments and device management operations.

Nokia will also be showcasing its latest enterprise solutions and business optimized devices, software and enhancements at the show. Highlights
include the anticipated Nokia Eseries (E60, E61, E70) business devices and the Nokia 9300 device. In addition, mobile application solutions
such as mobile email, enterprise voice, VOIP over WLAN, and the latest capabilities from Nokia s Intellisync product range.

Experience the Latest Multimedia Innovations

Nokia will be showcasing its Nseries devices and latest multimedia experiences in mobile TV, music, photography and Internet communications
- including the Nokia 770 Internet Tablet. Visit our booth and experience how the Nokia Nseries brings mobile connectivity to the next level -
beyond the phone call.

PRO Developers Work Showcased

Forum Nokia, Nokia s global developer support program, will be showcasing the Preminent client with a demonstration. Also, learn more about
the S60 platform and experience enterprise, consumer and personal productivity applications from key developers on Series 40, S60 and
Series 80 devices.
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Jorma Ollila to Keynote on Day One

Jorma Ollila, Chairman and CEO of Nokia, will give a keynote on Wednesday, April 5, in the North Hall of the Las Vegas Convention Center.

Lecture Series at the Nokia Booth

Each hour beginning at 11:30 a.m. on all three show days, Nokia will host a series of educational presentations to provide in-depth information
on industry trends and Nokia-specific products and solutions. The schedule of topics includes: DVB-H, Mobility in the Enterprise, Nokia Flexi
Base Station, Product Design, Network Hosting, and S60. Visit the Nokia booth for a full schedule.

Receive Nokia Insider SMS Alerts

If you want to stay up to speed on the latest and greatest from Nokia at CTIA, sign up for SMS alerts. For media, send a text message to 27166
with the keyword MEDIA. For show attendees, send a text message to 27166 with the keyword NOKIA. We 11 send you periodic text messages
alerting you to our news and activities. Standard text message rates apply. Available only on participating carriers. You can also check out
www.nokia.mobi/ctia on your Web-enabled device for more show information.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Americas
Media Relations
Tel: + 1972 894 4573

E-mail: communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia
Communications
Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia brings many of the most wanted new technologies to a trio at CDMA phones

Nokia 2365i, Nokia 2865/2865i and Nokia 6175i phones offer Bluetooth wireless technology and more at multiple price points

Las Vegas, NV, USA -Continuing to build upon its well-received line of CDMA handsets, Nokia (NYSE: NOK) today unveiled three new
handsets that bring exciting new features to devices across Nokia s growing CDMA portfolio. Each of these phones includes wireless Bluetooth
wireless technology, allowing them to seamlessly integrate with an ever-expanding range of devices with Bluetooth technology from Nokia and
others. Today s announcements include the Nokia 23651 phone, a value priced fold-style handset, the Nokia 2865/2865i phone, an eye-catching
monoblock design and the Nokia 6175i phone, a sleekly designed mid-tier fold-style device. Each of these new phones is expected to be
available during the 2nd half of 2006.

This new collection of CDMA handsets offer an exceptional range of features, including Bluetooth wireless technology, to consumers shopping
for various form factors and at multiple price points, said Timo Thamuotila, senior vice president of Nokia s CDMA business unit. Combined
with Nokia s driving mission to build high-quality, easy-to-use devices, these new phones bring an outstanding level of value to the CDMA
market.

Nokia 6175i phone

Combining a sleek and sophisticated internal-antenna design with a wide array of advanced mobile features, the mid-tier Nokia 6175i fold-style
phone is positioned to appeal to wireless customers wanting a stylish, well-featured mobile phone that is intuitive and pocketable. The integrated
1.3 megapixel camera introduces to the Nokia CDMA portfolio a full-screen portrait viewfinder that takes full advantage of the 262,000 color
128 x 160 pixel TFT internal display. High-resolution images and videos, digitally zoomed up to 4x, can be sent via multimedia messaging on
compatible networks or transferred to a PC using Bluetooth technology or an optional USB cable. Photo printing is simplified with the inclusion
of PictBridge compatibility, ensuring easy connection to a variety of PictBridge-enabled printing devices. Consimers can stay plugged in to their
music with a built-in stereo FM radio or by streaming audio and video in a variety of formats. The Nokia 6175i phone also supports a variety of
location-based services that utilize its integrated GPS receiver.

Only 3.4 ounces, the Nokia 6175i phone offers up to 3.5 hours of digital talk time or up to 14 days of standby time.

Nokia 2865/2865i phone

The Nokia 2865/2865i phone is a new entry-tier monoblock design that combines a contemporary sleek form with a well-appointed set of
features selected to satisfy the needs of today s mobile customer. The 262,000 color 128 x 160 pixel screen can be used to show off the latest
downloadable wallpapers, themes, games and applications, while the built-in FM radio and real-sound ringtones supporting MP3, AAC and
other file types let owners express themselves through music. The push-to-talk capable Nokia 2865/2865i phone also features an integrated
speakerphone and Bluetooth technology to allow convenient connection to a wide variety of compatible accessories and other devices with
Bluetooth technology.
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Weighing under 3.5 ounces, the Nokia 2865/2865i provides up to 4 hours of talk time or up to 14 days of standby time.

Nokia 2365i phone

Featuring an uncommonly compact profile for a value-priced handset, the Nokia 23651 phone includes an attractive list of features designed to
position it a step above most entry tier CDMA phones. Along with integrated Bluetooth technology and hands-free speakerphone, the fold-style
Nokia 2365i phone includes a large 128 x 160 pixel color main display complemented by a high-visibility 96 x 65 pixel blue/black external
display. A built-in FM radio connects owners to music and news, and the Nokia 23651 phone can be easily personalized with built-in graphics
and unique polyphonic ringtones.

A mere 3.7 ounces, the Nokia 2365i provides up to 4 hours of talk time or up to 10 days of standby time.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with
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easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides
equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Americas
Media Relations
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia

Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com

Please note:

The Nokia 23651, Nokia 2865/28651 and Nokia 61751 phones have not been authorized as required by the rules of the Federal Communications

Commission ( FCC ). This device may not be sold or leased or offered for sale or lease, until FCC authorization is obtained.

Some features and services are dependent on the carrier, the network, and the compatibility of other devices, supported digital content formats,

and other factors. Please refer to the user guide for complete information.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Must a slim design always mean a slim feature set? Nokia engineers say no.

The feature-filled Nokia 6126 phone offers Nokia quality, ease-of-use and style in a desirably slim package

Las Vegas, NV, USA - When Nokia (NYSE: NOK) engineers were tasked with designing a sleek, fold-style handset that did not compromise on
quality, ease-of-use, style or features, they took up the challenge and delivered a product that changes the conventional wisdom that a slim phone
cannot be as powerful as it is beautiful. Today, Nokia unveils the result of this engineering challenge, the quad-band (GSM/EDGE
850/900/1800/1900) Nokia 6126 phone. Featuring a graceful tapered design that averages a mere 17mm (.67 inches) from top to bottom, it still
manages to deliver a wide range of the most desired mobile features which are easily accessible via Nokia s hallmark intuitive user interface. The
Nokia 6126 phone is expected to be available in North American markets during the 2nd quarter of 2006.

Design

Along with its slim, tapered profile - the Nokia 6126 phone is also just 48mm (1.9 inches) wide and weighs in at a featherweight 112 grams (3.9
ounces). While these compact dimensions make the Nokia 6126 phone easy to pick up, the luxurious soft-touch finish makes it equally hard to
put down. Besides the soft-touch black finish, the Nokia 6126 phone can also be found in silver with white, beige or red accents.

For an added touch of fun and convenience, the Nokia 6126 phone also integrates a push-to-open button into its design. Located at the edge of
the hinge, the button, when depressed, allows the phone to automatically glide into the open position. This not only makes for convenient
one-handed operation, but satisfies the desire to create a level of phone envy among friends.

Features

A full suite of the most popular features has been engineered into the Nokia 6126 phone. To enjoy music on the go, the Nokia 6126 phone
includes a digital music player that supports a variety of formats including MP3, AAC, AAC+ and eAAC+. With an optional 1 GB microSD
card, approximately 1,000 songs can be stored on the hot-swappable memory card and enjoyed using an optional wired stereo headset, or for the
ultimate in convenience, through an optional wireless stereo headset using Bluetooth technology.

Quad-band GSM/EDGE technology allows the Nokia 6126 phone to be used on virtually all GSM systems around the world (subject to operator
roaming agreements), while Nokia s industry benchmark RF engineering maximizes performance to get the most out of these global networks.

The integrated 1.3 megapixel camera includes 8x digital zoom and a full screen portrait mode viewfinder that lets users see exactly what they are
capturing. In video mode, the Nokia 6126 can capture video clips that can be saved, sent, or used as video ring tones on both the internal and
external displays. Additional features include streaming audio and video support, built-in 3D games, including a 3D version of the classic Snake
game, local and remote synchronization of contact, calendar and to-do lists and enhanced voice features including speaker-independent name
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dialing.

Ease-of-use

The Nokia 6126 phone implements the all-new third edition of Nokia s popular Series 40 user interface. This user interface builds upon the
intuitive menu structure that has made Nokia Series 40-based handsets perennial best-sellers around the world. It also adds Active Standby
Mode , which allows the idle screen to keep owners informed of calendar and to-do items and to provide quick access to the most-used
applications.

To make this powerful functionality easily accessible, the Nokia 6126 phone includes the latest in human interface technology. The main display
features an ultra-crisp 2.2 inch 16.7 million True Color TFT 320 x 240 pixel QVGA display to make icons, text and images incredibly sharp and
true-to-life. The external display is a full 262,000 color 128 x 160 pixel screen - which delivers even higher quality output than the main display

found on many phone models. For fast, accurate data entry, the Nokia 6126 phone employs a unique dual level keypad that uses a raised area on

each key which allows for the largest possible key size, yet still delivers a natural space between keys for a positive tactile response.
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About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Americas
Media Relations
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia
Communications
Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia Services Maximizes 1700/2100 MHz and 700 MHz Spectrum Potential in North America

Nokia offers professional services and consultancy to assist participants in FCC s upcoming spectrum license auctions

Las Vegas, NV, USA - The Federal Communications Commission s (FCC) auctions of licenses for 1700/2100 MHz and 700 MHz spectrum
present many unique opportunities for communications providers. To optimize these opportunities, Nokia s Services group has a comprehensive
suite of consultancy services, like Site Engineering Consulting, to assist auction participants in creating business cases for these spectrum bands.

Nokia s vast global experience in this field shows that depending on a provider s current or desired business model, there is a range of options
available, and a number of factors to be considered when determining the best course of action with a high impact on both capital and operating
expenditures.

Nokia s leading global position in both mobile devices and network infrastructure together with an increasing presence in professional services
creates a unique set of capabilities in today s marketplace, said Mark Slater, vice president, Networks, Nokia. These assets allow Nokia to
provide operators with a thorough understanding of the intricate ecosystem necessary for a successful network rollout, including assistance in
identifying applications that work seamlessly with devices to provide a compelling end-user experience.

Auction participants must consider service offerings, device types and distribution models, coverage versus capacity requirements, and global
technology adaptation rates that would impact how services and devices are rolled out and priced in North America.

Nokia provides a full range of support and services, including hosting, managed services and systems integration and consulting, to help
operators differentiate and innovate their mobile offerings, Services is a significant growth area for Nokia, comprising more than 30 percent of
revenues in Nokia s Networks business group.

In addition to services, Nokia has recently introduced network equipment and infrastructure optimized for the 1700/2100 MHz and 700 MHz
bands. The Nokia Flexi Base Station enables easy deployment of cellular and/or broadband wireless access networks, like WCDMA, HSPA, and
WiMAX with up to 70 percent lower base station site expenditures. The Flexi Base Station will be available for WCDMA and HSPA for the
IMT-2000 frequencies 2100 MHz, 1700 MHz, 1800 MHz and 1700/2100 MHz in the second half of 2006. In addition, Nokia was the first
company to introduce Internet-High-Speed Packet Access (I-HSPA), an innovative flat network solution that enables high-speed mobile access
with wide area coverage for data intensive business and consumer applications, and VoIP.

Nokia will be showcasing the Nokia Flexi Base Station in Las Vegas at CTIA Wireless 2006, April 5-7, at Booth #2641 and will be
demonstrating I-HSPA and a live Nokia Flexi Base Station call in the Nokia Mobile Solutions Experience Center located outside the Las Vegas
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Convention Center. Live demonstrations are by appointment only.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks
Communications
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia
Communications
Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia Launches New Enterprise Device Management Offering for Mobile Carriers

Nokia s Intellisync software enables mobile operators to provide device management service for enterprises

Las Vegas, NV, USA - Nokia today announced its new Intellisync Device Management offering for carriers, which allows the mobile operator
to provide proven device management and device security services to their corporate customers. The new Nokia product, a result of the recent
Intellisync acquisition, enables carriers to effectively enter the rapidly expanding business mobility market and build customer loyalty for the
business segment. The new product will become a part of a broader Nokia Unified Device Management Solution offering for enterprises, mobile
operators and service providers that will help operators manage all their customer segments and device management operations. With this new
product, Nokia is now in a unique position to provide end-to-end mobile device management for almost any customer and across different
devices, networks and technologies.

Mobile device management and mobile security is now a critical component to an enterprise deploying a mobile solution, said Stephen Drake,
Program Director for IDC s Mobile Software service. The delivery of mobile device management and mobile security solutions through a carrier
empowers an increasingly important channel within the mobile ecosystem for both managed services and on-premise offerings to the enterprise
and demonstrates how successful providers seek a comprehensive approach to the delivery of these key mobile software segments.

Having Nokia s new Intellisync Device Management as part of our offering has added a lot of value for Eurotel , stated Tomas Jecny Chief
commercial officer responsible for Corporate and Business segment, Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o. With Device Management we are able to offer
customers a complete solution, not just email and PIM access .

Nokia is at the forefront in business mobility applications and device mobility with its mobile devices and messaging software. The company,
with the addition of its Intellisync products delivers some of the largest deployments of mobile email and software over the widest array of
devices and application platforms across enterprises and operator networks all over the world. This technology allows for synchronization of
data and files with high levels of accuracy and security across some of the most complex software applications.

With Intellisync Device Management, Nokia provides two deployment models for operators to deliver device management services to their
Enterprise customers. In the first, operators can provide this Intellisync device management service from a central NOC (network operating
center) using a hierarchical web-based system that enables them to support individual enterprise customers easily. Operators can charge
customers a monthly or an annual fee to manage their fleet of mobile devices - performing a full range of services including device security
enforcement, application installation and configuration, device inventory and reporting, device backup/restore, and other functions.

In the second deployment model, the system can also be deployed behind-the-firewall to enable larger enterprise customers to control all aspects
of the system. Operators benefit in two ways from this functionality. First, they can generate new revenue streams and deliver an entirely new
category of service to their customers. Second, the active management of devices will help with device maintenance and reduce the support call
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load into their customer care teams.

Nokia s new Intellisync Device Management for Carriers provides all the major functions that customers associate with wireless device
management, including device backup and restore, device provisioning and configuration, software updating, security and policy management,
and diagnostic and repair services.

This, along with other modules in the Intellisync Carrier Platform offered by Nokia, work across a broad range of devices. The Intellisync
Carrier Platform supports devices from Nokia, Motorola, Hewlett Packard, Samsung, LG, Palm, Kyocera, Sony Ericsson, Sanyo, Siemens,
Dopod, Qtek, and many others. The Intellisync software works on a broad range of mobile platforms including SymbianOS, Palm OS and
Windows Mobile.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with
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easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides
equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Americas
Communications
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia, APAC
Communications
Tel: +65 6723 2323

E-mail: communications.apac @nokia.com

Nokia
Communications
Tel. +358 7180 34900

Email: press.office @nokia.com

Industry Analyst Enquiries:

Nokia, Americas
Virve Virtanen
Tel: +1 914 368 0511

E-mail: virve.virtanen @nokia.com
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Company and product names may be trademarks or registered trademarks of the individual companies and are respectfully acknowledged.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia selected as 3G network supplier for Sonofon in Denmark

Espoo, Finland - Nokia has been selected as supplier of WCDMA 3G network equipment for Sonofon in Denmark. With Nokia s radio access
network, Sonofon will be able to rapidly offer new 3G mobile services to its customers in Denmark this year.

Under the terms of the agreement, Nokia supplies a WCDMA 3G radio access network to Sonofon. The contract follows on a new frame
agreement signed by Nokia and Telenor, Nordic, covering Telenor Nordic s affiliates: Telenor Mobile and Sonofon, both operating in the Nordic
region.

WCDMA technology is a cost effective way to upgrade network infrastructure leading to increased network capacity that supports offering
advanced mobile multimedia services. Nokia has a strong global position as a radio network provider with 58 WCDMA 3G references to date.

There is growing demand for high quality connections and richer, more advanced 3G mobile services, said Oddbjorn Schei, Vicepresident
Nordic in Telenor. We are confident that Nokia s network infrastructure will allow us to efficiently enhance our product offering to meet the
needs of our customers.

Telenor has already launched 3G services in Norway. Drawing on these experiences and strong group competence, Sonofon is now able to
deploy 3G services rapidly in the Danish market.

We are very pleased to have been selected as the supplier for the 3G radio network to Sonofon s roll-out in Denmark, as well as with the new
frame agreement that emphasizes and brings further the long term cooperation between Nokia and Telenor in the Nordic region, said Finn Erik
Hermansen, General Manager, Networks, Nokia.

About Sonofon

Sonofon is a leading Danish mobile operator with 1.5 million mobile subscribers and more than 1.200 employees. Sonofon is owned by the
Telenor group, one of the largest operators in the Nordic region. The strategy of Telenor in Denmark is to set the agenda for tomorrow s telecom
market with strong positions in mobility and broadband.

About Nokia
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Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks
Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34379

Nokia
Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

SONOFON

Corporate Communications

Tel. +4525 600 800

E-mail: info@sonofon.dk

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 05,2006

Nokia wins radio network contract with Warid Telecom in Bangladesh

Turnkey deal marks new customer for Nokia; Significant services element also included

Espoo, Finland - Nokia has won a radio network contract from Warid Telecom for the company s greenfield operations in Bangladesh. The
contract marks a new customer for Nokia in one of the world s fastest-growing mobile markets. Deliveries have begun, and the network will be
launched later this year.

As part of the contract, which covers the key Dhaka administrative district, Nokia will supply its leading UltraSite base station solution, helping
Warid meet increasing demand for higher voice and data traffic in a cost-effective way. Nokia s extensive services offerings are also part of the
contract, including Nokia s NetAct network and service management solution, and installation, planning and project management services.

Chief Executive Officer of Warid Telecom International L.L.C., Bashir A. Tahir, says: Warid Telecom is pleased to partner with Nokia. We
chose Nokia to supply its state-of-the-art radio network in the Dhaka capital area because we are confident that Nokia s solutions will help us to
respond to the customer requirements in the rapidly growing Bangladeshi market. We have built a best-in-class network in Pakistan, and we
have the same ambition here. For us to build a strong market leadership in Bangladesh, it is vital that we have a partner who does not only have a
strong technology roadmap and global experience but a proven track record and a long-term commitment to this country.

Although we are a late entrant, Warid Telecom has an aggressive roll out plan that will see us reach the entire Bangladesh population within one
year. We will also ensure that we offer our Bangladeshi brethren a wide range of differentiating services that will add value to their lives, as well
as redefine customer service in the country, he adds.

Nokia is delighted and honored to be working with Warid Telecom for the first time, says Ricky Corker, Asia Pacific Vice President, Networks,
Nokia. The contract shows Nokia s commitment to New Growth Markets such as Bangladesh, and is a further step in our drive to lower the total
cost of ownership for consumers and spread the benefits of mobility.

Nokia has been a pioneer in bringing mobility to New Growth Markets. Nokia estimates the number of mobile subscribers to grow to three
billion in 2008, and around 80 percent of this growth will come from fast-growing markets such as Bangladesh. Nokia expects that Asia-Pacific
and China will account for 50 percent of the next billion subscribers.

About Warid Telecom
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Warid Telecom is owned by the Abu Dhabi Group led by His Highness Sheikh Nahayan Mabarak Al Nahayan. The group is one of the largest in
the Middle East and has diversified business interests ranging from oil and gas exploration, hospitality services, telecommunications, banking
and financial services, automobile industries and property development. The group has a large presence in the Pakistani market and owns Bank
Alfalah Ltd., the 5th largest and one of the country s premier consumer banks, as well as a substantial stake in United Bank Limited, the 3rd
largest bank with substantial presence abroad.

Warid Telecom has implemented a new and modern corporate identity as a result of the dynamic changes taking place in the telecom industry.
With a reflection of a new strategy, our aim is to be perceived not only as a telecommunication operator of voice services, but also as a universal
provider of comprehensive communications services for both residential and business customers. Warid s corporate identity seeks to reflect the
changes in telecom sector in relation to helping customers keep pace with rapidly changing technology in the field of communication, and to
harmonize the customers perception of our brand with the quality and range of our services. Our objective is to provide optimum level of support
and care through our highly skilled and motivated team of professionals and through maximum network coverage and clear connectivity that we
have committed to provide.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 06,2006

Nokia shares cancelled pursuant to the resolution of the Annual General Meeting

Espoo, Finland - Pursuant to the resolution taken by the Annual General Meeting on March 30, 2006, 341,890,000 of Nokia shares held by the
company have been cancelled. The share capital of Nokia Corporation has been reduced by the total nominal value of the cancelled shares
amounting to EUR 20,513,400, which amount was transferred from share capital into share issue premium.

The reduction in share capital was registered with the Finnish Trade Register on April 6, 2006. As a result of the reduction, the share capital of
Nokia is currently EUR 245,545,466.52 and the total number of shares outstanding 4,092,424,442.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia

Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34900

Email: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 06,2006

Nokia supports Elisa in launching the first HSDPA network in the Nordic Countries

Espoo, Finland - Finnish telecom operator Elisa today launched the first commercial High Speed Downlink Packet Access (HSDPA) network in
the Nordic Countries. The solution, provided by Nokia, is implemented in the whole of Elisa s 3G network in Finland, and allows the operator to
offer faster mobile data services to its customers and operate its network more cost-efficiently.

Elisa s goal is to provide our customers the best services and continuously develop the Elisa service offering. With HSDPA, we can offer both
our business and private customers faster broadband services and continue to honor our commitment to 3G development, said Anssi Okkonen,
Vice President, Offering, Elisa Corporation.

We are delighted to support Elisa in launching the first commercial HSDPA network in the Nordic Countries, said Olli Oittinen, Senior Vice
President, Networks, Nokia. HSDPA brings about new and exciting opportunities for operators to tap into the growing data services business.

Nokia has supplied the HSDPA solution to Elisa as part of a frame agreement announced in June 2005, and continues as the main supplier of
Elisa s mobile network infrastructure.

In WCDMA 3G, Nokia has 58 customers to date. Nokia s high-performing HSDPA is a simple software upgrade to Nokia WCDMA networks,
thus enabling cost-effective and fast rollout. In the first phase, the Nokia HSDPA offers average data speeds of 1-2 Mbps. Nokia is a leader in
the HSDPA market, with over 20 contracts globally, 9 of which have been publicly announced.

About Elisa

Elisa Corporation is a leading Finnish telecommunications company offering private and corporate customers a comprehensive range of
telecommunications services, including voice and data services, connections to the Internet and content services, customised communications
and ICT solutions and network operator services. Elisa provides international services in association with its partners, Vodafone and Telenor.

Elisa Corporation is listed on the Helsinki Exchanges, and its revenue in 2005 amounted to 1.34 billion euros. Elisa has 1.3 million fixed
network subscriptions, of which 420,000 are broadband subscriptions. As a broadband provider, Elisa is the market leader in Finland. The
company s mobile network holds approximately 2 million subscriptions. The company has approximately 4,600 employees.

Saunalahti Group Oyj is a subsidiary of Elisa that offers Internet and telecommunications services to consumers under the Saunalahti name and
to corporate customers under the name EUnet Finland.
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About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks
Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34379

Nokia
Communications
Tel. +358 7180 34900

Email: press.office @nokia.com

Elisa

Anssi Okkonen, Vice President, Offering

Tel. +358 50 506 5510

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 06, 2006

Choose your side and steel yourself for war as Warhammer® 40,000(TM): Glory in Death(TM) hits stores

Espoo, Finland -Nokia, Games Workshop and THQ Wireless, a subsidiary of THQ Inc. (NASDAQ: THQI), today announced that they have
shipped Warhammer 40,000: Glory in Death. N-Gage gamers can now choose their identities and become either Ork, Eldar, Space Marine or
Chaos Space Marine as they battle for supremacy of the universe.

With the combination of classic gameplay, intense storyline and exclusive artwork, fans and newcomers alike will fall under the spell of Glory in
Death, said Timo Toivanen, product marketing manager of Nokia Games Division. Also, thanks to Bluetooth technology and Hotseat
functionality, gamers will be able to pit themselves against their friends - wherever they are.

The rich history of Warhammer 40,000 has been brought to life with illustrations from cult graphic artist Mike McMahon, whose artwork has
appeared in a number of fantasy franchises including 2000 AD, and a storyline conceived by veteran screenwriter and Warhammer 40,000
expert, Andy Walsh.

The highly acclaimed Warhammer 40,000 universe from Games Workshop has been adapted and developed for the N-Gage games platform for
fans to unite and embark in single player campaign mode or two player Hotseat with one N-Gage game deck, or two players via Bluetooth.

Visit http://www.gloryindeath.com/ for more information.

About THQ Wireless

THQ Wireless Inc., a subsidiary of THQ Inc. (NASDAQ: THQI), is a global leader in mobile entertainment, offering a wide range of wireless
products, including games, personalization products, information services and messaging based on top licenses such as the WWE®, Star
Wars, popular Nickelodeon properties and professional sports leagues including the NFL, NBA, NHL, MLB and the
NHRA. In addition to wireless entertainment products, THQ Wireless controlling interest in MINICK gives the
company access to one of the largest premium messaging networks in the world in order to offer a broad range of
services from content distribution to mobile marketing campaigns and place the company at the forefront of this
rapidly growing messaging market. Headquartered in Los Angeles County, California, THQ Wireless has offices
worldwide, in addition to distribution agreements through wireless carriers across the globe. Further information can
be found at www.thqwireless.com.

About THQ
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THQ Inc. NASDAQ: THQI) is a leading worldwide developer and publisher of interactive entertainment software. The company develops its
products for all popular game systems, personal computers and wireless devices. Headquartered in Los Angeles County, California, THQ sells
product through its global network of offices located in North America, Europe and Asia Paficic. More information about THQ and its products
may be found at www.thq.com and www.thqwireless.com. THQ, THQ Wireless and their respective logos are trademarks and/or registered
trademarks of THQ Inc.
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About N-Gage

The N-Gage game deck is an innovative mobile device that is creating an entirely new market for the games industry. Built for active gamers,
the N-Gage platform is the first mobile and connected game deck to feature online high-quality 3D multiplayer game play over Bluetooth
wireless technology and GPRS. The N-Gage device also offers unique online games services as well as a comprehensive and growing games
catalogue from the leading game publishers. Nokia is the world leader in mobile communications. Nokia and N-Gage are trademarks or
registered trademarks of Nokia Corporation.

About Games Workshop

Games Workshop Group PLC is the world s largest tabletop wargames company. Based in Nottingham, UK, it designs, manufactures and
distributes its range of Warhammer and Warhammer 40,000 games, model soldiers, novels, collectible card games, and role-playing games
through more than 340 of its own Hobby centres, mail order, Internet and more than 4,000 independent retailers in more than 50 countries
worldwide.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Multimedia
Communications

Tel: +358 7180 45667

Nokia, Americas
Press Desk
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: n-gage.media@nokia.com

Nokia, Asia Pacific
Communications
Tel: +65 6723 2323
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E-mail: communications.apac @nokia.com

WWW.n-gage.com/press

www.nokia.com

Copyright © 2006 Nokia. All rights reserved. Nokia and N-Gage are trademarks or registered trademarks of Nokia Corporation. Some features
and services are dependent on the network, supported digital content formats, the compatibility of other devices and applications, and other
factors. Please refer to the user guide for more detailed information.
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Warhammer 40,000: Glory In Death Copyright © Games Workshop Ltd 2006. All Rights Reserved. Games Workshop, Space
Marines, Space Wolves, Space Marine Chapters and Chapter Insignia, Orks, Eldar, Chaos Space Marines,
Warhammer, Warhammer 40,000 and all associated marks, names, races and race insignia, characters, illustrations
and images from the Warhammer 40,000 Universe and the Glory In Death game are either R TM and/or C Games
Workshop Ltd 2000-2006, variably registered in the UK and other countries around the world. All Rights Reserved.
THQ, THQ Wireless and their respective logos are trademarks and/or registered trademarks of THQ Inc. All rights
reserved. All other trademarks, logos and copyrights are property of their respective owners.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 10, 2006

Nokia and Linksys to Drive Mobile Technologies throughout the Digital Home

Nokia 770 Internet Tablet Bundled with Linksys Wireless Routers and Gateways To Create new Go Wireless at Home Solution

Helsinki, Finland and London, United Kingdom - Nokia, the world leader in mobile communications and Linksys®, a Division of Cisco
Systems, Inc, the recognized leading provider of voice, wireless and networking hardware for the consumer and small
business customer today announced a product bundle entitled, Go wireless at home , which includes the Nokia 770
Internet Tablet bundled with either a Linksys high-speed wireless router or gateway. This convenient and secure
wireless Internet bundle has been designed to provide freedom for home users who wish to access the Internet using
the Nokia 770 Internet Tablet over Wi-Fi, together with the latest in wireless solutions from Linksys.

The digital home is currently one of the most exciting trends in the consumer electronics industry, says Ari Virtanen, vice president of Nokia s
Convergence Products. Nokia aims to be at the forefront of that development by providing solutions that introduce mobile devices to the digital
home offering, such as the Nokia 770 Internet Tablet. This co-operation with Linksys is a good example of new solutions within the
communications industry that offer enhanced convenience for home users.

Working together, our two organizations are bringing the benefits and freedom of wireless networking to the home, adds Robert Auci, sales
director for Linksys in Europe, the Middle East and Africa. The design and functionality of both the 770 and Linksys wireless routers and
gateways make a definite statement in any digital home. This is truly a compelling offering for any digital living enthusiast.

The Nokia 770 Internet Tablet provides mobile broadband access to the Internet via Wi-Fi or by Bluetooth connection with compatible mobile
devices. Its wide high-resolution screen makes it optimal for viewing online content away from a laptop and/or desktop computer. The Nokia
770 Internet Tablet includes web browser, email client, news reader and media players for listening to music and watching videos. It runs on
Linux based Nokia Internet Tablet software which is based on popular desktop Linux and Open Source technologies. The maemo web site
(www.maemo.org) provides Open Source developers and innovation houses tools and opportunities to collaborate on new applications. Already
numerous developers have created more than one hundred applications that are available for the device. A full list of features and product
software support of the Nokia 770 is available at www.nokia.com/770.

A variety of router and gateway connectivity options will be available in the bundle, including the Linksys WRT54GS Wireless-G Broadband
Router with SpeedBooster and the WAG54GX?2 Linksys Wireless-G ADSL Gateway with SRX200, based on MIMO technology, which have
been tested to work seamlessly with the Nokia 770 Internet Tablet and offer maximum performance in the digital home*.
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Availability

The joint Nokia/Linksys product bundle is available in the first phase through a link on the Nokia website www.nokia.com/770 in UK, Ireland,
Germany, Italy, Sweden, Denmark, Finland, Netherlands, Spain, France, Austria and Belgium.

About Linksys

Founded in 1988, Linksys, a Division of Cisco Systems, Inc. (NASDAQ: CSCO) is the recognized leader in Voice, Wireless and Ethernet
networking hardware for consumer, SOHO and small business users. Linksys is dedicated to making networking easy and affordable for its
customers, offering innovative, award-winning products that seamlessly integrate with a variety of devices and applications. Linksys provides
award-winning product support to its customers. For more information, visit www.linksys.com/uk

About Nokia

Nokia is the world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects
people to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions
for imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Linksys
Angela Hepburn
Tel. +33 158 04 33 42

E-mail: ahepburn@cisco.com

Nokia, Multimedia
Communications

Tel. +358 7180 45725

www.nokia.com

www.nokia.com/mobiletv
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*Actual real-world throughput, speed and range will depend upon a number of factors, including distance from the access point, volume of
network traffic, building materials and construction, operating system used, whether a mixed network configuration is used, interference and

other adverse conditions.

Linksys is a registered trademark or trademark of Cisco Systems, Inc. and/or its affiliates in the U.S. and certain other countries.

Copyright © 2006 Cisco Systems, Inc. All rights reserved.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 10, 2006

Nokia powers Eurotel s HSDPA network in the Czech Republic

Espoo, Finland - A leading Czech mobile operator, Eurotel Praha, spol. s.r.o. has launched the first High Speed Downlink Packet Access
(HSDPA) network in the Czech Republic. The solution, provided by Nokia, allows Eurotel, an affiliate of Telefonica and O2, to operate its
network more cost-efficiently and offer faster mobile data services to its customers.

We are pleased to announce another notable first - being the Czech Republic s first mobile operator to launch HSDPA services, such as faster
data with international connectivity, says Salvador Anglada, CEO, Eurotel Praha, spol. s.r.o. With Nokia s HSDPA solution we can offer our
customers download speeds twice as fast as the current fast data solution.

We are very pleased to support Eurotel in launching HSDPA services, which is an important milestone for the Czech Republic and the whole
Telefonica Group, says Pentti Tolonen, General Manager, Networks, Nokia. Nokia HSDPA solution makes real mass-market mobile multimedia
possible, and shows further proof of Nokia s strength in advanced radio network technologies.

In WCDMA 3G, Nokia has 58 customers to date. Nokia s high-performing HSDPA is a simple software upgrade to Nokia WCDMA networks,
thus enabling cost-effective and fast rollout. In the first phase, the Nokia HSDPA offers average data speeds of 1-2 Mbps. Nokia is a leader in
the HSDPA market, with over 20 contracts globally, 9 of which have been publicly announced.

Nokia has supplied the HSDPA solution to Eurotel as part of a contract announced in September 2005.

About Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o.

Eurotel Praha, spol. s r.o. is the leading mobile telecommunications operator in the Czech Republic. The company provides complex voice and
data services to more than 4.67 million customers (December 2005). Quality of the services provided, scope of offered solutions, level of
innovation and customer care make the company founded in 1991 the leader of the Czech market.

In cooperation with its 100 % owner, CESKY TELECOM, a.s., Eurotel offers the most complex portfolio of voice and data services supported
by unique combination of fixed and mobile telephony. The services are provided to customers of contract as well as prepaid services. Eurotel in
the long term confirms its leading position in the Czech market also in the segment of business customers.

In the territory of the Czech Republic Eurotel operates the NMT and GSM network as well as unique 3G networks - CDMA2000 1XxEV-DO data
network and most recently UMTS network enabling data, voice, picture and video transmission. Together with CESKY TELECOM the
company operates the most extensive WiFi hotspots network in the country.
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Eurotel is a holder of the prestigious award Employer of the Year for the year 2003, in 2004 Eurotel placed second among mobile operators in
the chart. Eurotel also holds international quality management system certificate ISO 9001:2003 and was awarded the ISO 14001 environmental
management system certificate as the only telecommunications operator in the Czech Republic. The company is a holder of the occupational
safety and health and information security certificates. Eurotel is the only operator to be awarded the Health Supporting Business title in 2005. In
2002 Eurotel incorporated a foundation, which regularly on an annual basis supports multiple projects aimed at children and the young
throughout the country.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks
Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34379

Nokia
Communications
Tel. +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 10, 2006

Nokia wins three top awards by the UK s Mobile News magazine

Nokia Named Top Mobile Manufacturer for the second year running

London, UK - Nokia, the world s leading mobile handset manufacturer, swept the board at this year s Mobile News Awards held in London,
winning the awards for Manufacturer of the Year, Most Innovative Product and Most Technologically Advanced Product.

The judging panel of industry experts awarded Nokia the coveted title of Manufacturer of the Year as a result of its bold moves in 2005. These
included its launch of the Nokia Nseries sub-brand, its entrance into new territories through its music and youth platforms, the re-claiming of its
design leadership and the creation of a new field sales force.

Nokia also picked up the Most Innovative Product award for the Nokia N91. This device has been recognised as a true mobile music experience
and is the flagship music device from the groundbreaking high performance multimedia Nokia Nseries range. The Nokia N91 is the first 3G
device to include an integrated 4-gigabyte hard disk providing consumers with the largest storage capacity on a handset with up to 3,000 songs
and 12.5 hours worth of unparalleled sound quality.

Nokia was also presented with the Most Technologically Advanced Product award for the Nokia N92. The Nokia N92 is the world s first
integrated DVB-H mobile device and represents a significant leap forward for both the mobile and television industries. With DVB-H television
services set to launch globally in 2006, the Nokia N92 provides an indication of how people will be consuming live television on the move in the
future.

Commenting on the win Mats Wolontis, Managing Director of Nokia UK, said: Everyone at Nokia worked very hard in 2005 to cement our
position as the number one manufacturer and to produce cutting edge devices such as the Nokia N91 and Nokia N92. It s great to receive
recognition for this hard work - especially when it originates from our colleagues in the mobile industry.

About the Mobile News Awards

Now in its 12th year, the Mobile News Awards acknowledge the best products, services, innovations and companies within the UK mobile
communications industry. There are 15 categories which mark achievement across all areas of the industry, ranging from Best Small Dealer/
Retailer to Best Manufacturer .

About Nokia
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Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects
people to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions
for imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.
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Media Enquiries:

Nokia UK
Press Office

Tel : +44 845 070 7619

E-mail: nokiateam @redconsultancy.com

Nokia
Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34900

www.nokia.co.uk

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 11, 2006

Nokia strengthens West African presence with new Nigeria office

Lagos, Nigeria - Nokia today officially opened its office in Lagos, Nigeria, which will serve both Nigeria and the West African sub region.
Nokia s new office highlights the company s commitment to significantly enhancing its physical presence on the continent and joins a growing
list of African offices in Egypt, Ethiopia, Morocco, Kenya, Tunisia and South Africa.

According to Timo Toikkanen, Nokia s senior vice president, Customer and Market Operations in Middle East and Africa, The potential for
growth in Nigeria s telecoms industry is enormous. This is both an amazing opportunity, as well as a challenge. It is an opportunity to provide
customised, peerless service to match the growing needs of the market and a challenge to do this effectively amidst the flux and intense
dynamics of the industry. Toikkanen believes that establishing this office will enable Nokia to address these opportunities and challenges even
more effectively.

Nokia is the first manufacturer to introduce local Nigerian languages like Hausa, Yoruba and Ibo as an option on their mobile phones. In so
doing we are enhancing the convenience of millions more customers and connecting millions more people. It was a wonderful accolade for both
Nigeria and Nokia, when we sold our billionth phone right here in Lagos in September 2005 continues Toikkanen.

Nokia s head of networks for the region, Mr. Emmanuel Revmatas, adds that due to the ever-changing environment and rapid subscriber growth,
it is imperative for Nokia to have on-the-ground support. Telecommunications is an incredibly important development tool, and Nokia wants to
continue to play a leading role in spearheading the economic growth and development that telecommunications typically unleashes especially in
new growth markets.

Nokia has a long-standing presence and enjoys phenomenal brand awareness in Nigeria. In January, it was declared Best Foreign Brand of the
Year 2005 by THISDAY Newspaper, one of Nigeria s leading newspapers. The company has also been involved in youth leadership and
motivational programs, working with the NGO, LEAP Africa. Revmatas continues, Establishing a physical presence in Nigeria will enable us to
consolidate on such social interventions, whilst further entrenching the Nokia brand in the region.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobile industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:
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PRESS RELEASE

April 13,2006

Nokia to publish Q1 2006 results on April 20, 2006

Espoo, Finland - Nokia will publish its first quarter financial results on Thursday April 20, 2006, at approximately 1 pm Helsinki time (CET +1).

The press release will be available on the Nokia website immediately after publication.

Nokia s investor conference call will begin at 3 pm Helsinki time (CET +1). A live webcast of the conference call will be available at
www.nokia.com/investor. Media representatives wishing to listen in may call +1 706 6345012.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia

Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 18, 2006

Nokia expands its mobile infrastructure R&D Center in Sichuan in China

The Chengdu R&D Center focuses on Nokia core networks

Espoo, Finland - Nokia announced today that it will further strengthen its R&D operations in China and expand its Chengdu R&D Center to
carry part of Nokia mobile network infrastructure products development for global and local markets.

Nokia Chengdu R&D Center, established in August 2005, started as a focused R&D unit for IP Multimedia Subsystem (IMS) based
communications applications. In order to have more direct responsiveness to emerging customer needs in this market, Nokia has decided to
further expand the Chengdu R&D Center scope, engaging in development of systems such as carrier grade platform middleware, WAP gateways
for mobile browsing, intelligent packet core subsystems and increasing multimedia applications development effort. The expansion of Nokia
Chengdu R&D Center will capitalize on the favourable competence base in China, and develop a better alignment with the Chinese mobile
communications market, a key global growth driver.

The Chinese mobile market is seeing tremendous growth and digital convergence is coming to the mobile mass market in China. The expansion
of our Chengdu R&D Center will significantly strengthen our product creation responsiveness to evolving customer requirements in China, says
Jouni Pirhonen, Head of Nokia Chengdu R&D Center, We aim to develop Nokia Chengdu R&D Center into one of the major R&D centers for
Nokia core networks, developing products for mobile and convergence communications for the global markets.

As the global leader of mobility, Nokia has a unique end-to-end capability with a Unified Core Network, multi-access solutions, handset
leadership, and services offering, making Nokia an ideal partner for true convergence based on mobile softswitching and IMS for fixed and
mobile. Nokia is the market leader of WCDMA 3G network systems in APAC and China Area and is best positioned with true end-to-end
localization capability in China.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Networks
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PRESS RELEASE

April 19, 2006

World s First Commercial Roll Out of Near Field Communication (NFC) Technology Simplifies Travel for Consumers

Hanau, Germany field trial results proved strong consumer acceptance of secure mobile payment for public transportation systems

Espoo, Finland - Nokia, Royal Philips Electronics, Vodafone and the Rhein-Main-Verkehrsverbund (RMV), the regional public transport
authority for the Region Frankfurt Rhine-Main in Germany, have announced that following a successful ten-month field trial, Near Field
Communication (NFC) technology will be deployed in a commercial environment. Nokia 3220 mobile phones with integrated NFC technology
can now be used as electronic bus tickets and act as loyalty cards for discounts at local retail outlets and attractions. Everyone of the
approximately 95.000 residents in the city of Hanau can now enjoy the ease and convenience of NFC for mobile ticketing in public
transportation, simply with the swipe of their compatible phones.

Most people have their mobile phone with them wherever they go, so the possibility to use the phone to conduct daily transactions, such as
transport ticketing and access to services, adds great value for consumers. The NFC enabled Nokia 3220 mobile phones have been tested by 160
residents for use in the public bus system in the city of Hanau. At the end of the trial more than 90% of the trial participants considered this a
positive, convenient system worth continuing.

Local Vodafone shops will offer the NFC-enabled Nokia 3220 handsets immediately for sale, allowing passengers to hold their mobile phones
close to the reading device to enter and disembark from a city bus in Hanau. At the end of the month, the customers will receive an invoice from
the local public transport operator outlining all trips taken, and the costs, which are calculated using the best available fares at the time of travel.

The results of the RMYV trial clearly demonstrate that consumers like the simplicity of using NFC for secure payment and ticketing for public
transportation in a real-city environment. As a key technology and market driver for NFC, all parties are extremely pleased to see the world s first
commercial rollout in Germany. The strong collaboration to deliver on the promise of the technology was key to the consumer acceptance.
Technology should be easy to use and make people s lifes simpler and more enjoyable. With the commercial rollout of NFC in a variety of
applications, the promise is being realized.

In addition to public transport ticketing, a newly introduced local leisure card - the RMV-ErlebnisCard Hanau loyalty card - will be incorporated
into the NFC-enabled phones. This feature will enable mobile phones to receive discounts at RMV s 14 selected retail partners in the area
including restaurants, shops and local attractions.

67



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

About Rhein-Main-Verkehrsverbund GmbH (RMYV)

RMYV is one of the largest Regional Public Transport Authorities in Europe which provides its services for five million inhabitants in the state of
Hess/Germany. RMYV is responsible for organization and co-ordination of the operation of regional rail services as well as for integrating long
distance, regional and (sub)urban rail services in to an overall mass transit system, including 156 public transport companies. www.rmv.de

About Royal Philips Electronics

Royal Philips Electronics of the Netherlands (NYSE: PHG, AEX: PHI) is one of the world s biggest electronics companies and Europe s largest,
with sales of EUR 30.4 billion in 2005. With activities in the three interlocking domains of healthcare, lifestyle and technology and 159,200
employees in more than 60 countries, it has market leadership positions in medical diagnostic imaging and patient monitoring, color television
sets, electric shavers, lighting and silicon system solutions. News from Philips is located at http://www.semiconductors.philips.com.

About Vodafone

Vodafone is the world s leading mobile telecommunications group with operations in 26 countries across 5 continents, as well as 33 partner
networks. As at 31 December 2005, Vodafone had 179 million proportionate customers worldwide. For further information, please visit
www.vodafone.com <http://www.vodafone.com> .

About Near Field Communication (NFC)

NFC technology evolved from a combination of contactless identification (RFID) and interconnection technologies. NFC operates in the 13.56
MHz frequency range, over a distance of typically a few centimeters. NFC technology is standardized in ISO 18092, ISO 21481, ECMA (340,
352 and 356) and ETSI TS 102 190. NFC is compatible with Sony s FeliCa(TM) card and the broadly established contactless smart card

infrastructure based on ISO 14443 A, which is used in Philips MIFARE® technology. www.nfc-forum.org.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.
www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 19, 2006

Nokia launches online shop for UK customers

World s largest manufacturer of mobile devices begins selling SIM free products direct to consumers www.nokia.co.uk/shop

London, United Kingdom -Nokia is delighted to announce the launch of the Nokia UK Online Shop, an attractive, well designed and informative
site selling Nokia SIM-free products direct to consumers in the UK.

The Nokia UK Online Shop will feature regular mobile device exclusives for customers, starting at launch when the website will feature the
stunning black Nokia 8800, a new design that until now has not been available in the UK.

In addition to the latest Nokia products, the online shop will also be used to promote and sell exciting new mobile experiences and Nokia s new
enhancements to allow phones users to get even more from their devices.

The Online Shop concept will also enable Nokia to develop a holistic customer experience which in turn will allow the organization to increase
its understanding of the customer, support its expanding product portfolio in new sales channels and use these learnings to further develop its
offerings both on and off the High Street.

There is clearly a growing market out there for SIM-free products especially as many our customers now have more than one handset.
Additionally there is a core group of Nokia users who are always looking for the latest must have phone. The online shop will help us meet these
demands and further develop our business; it gives us a great opportunity to be in closer contact with our customers and to understand their likes
and dislikes. said Mats Wolontis, Managing Director of Nokia UK.

The UK site will be the first globally with more local online shops planned for selected countries in Europe in the second half of 2006. Typical
target customers include those who may wish to upgrade to a new or more featured device model or have an additional mobile device either for a
gift or for that special dress occasion.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.
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PRESS RELEASE

April 20, 2006

Nokia comments on Qualcomm 10-Q statement filed April 19, 2006 regarding current licensing arrangements

Espoo, Finland - Nokia acknowledges Qualcomm has released the following information in its Form 10-Q report, filed with US Securities and
Exchange Commission on April 19, 2006, concerning its licensing agreement with Nokia.

We have a license agreement with Nokia Corp. which in part expires on April 9, 2007. While the parties have been in discussions to conclude an
extension or a new license agreement beyond that time period, there is no certainty as to when we will be able to conclude an agreement or the
terms of any such agreement. There is also a possibility that the parties will not be able to conclude a new or extended agreement by April, 2007.
In that event after April 9, 2007, unless and until the existing agreement is extended or a new agreement is concluded, Nokia s right to sell
subscriber products under most of our patents (including many that we have declared as essential to the CDMA, WCDMA and other standards)
and therefore Nokia s obligation to pay royalties to us will both cease under the terms of the current agreement, and our rights to sell integrated
circuits under Nokia s patents will likewise cease under the terms of the current agreement.

The terms of Nokia s current license agreement with Qualcomm are covered by a non-disclosure agreement and we are therefore unable to
disclose specific contract details.

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia

Communications

Tel: +358 7180 34900

Email: press.office @nokia.com

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 21, 2006

Nokia and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology celebrate the opening of Nokia Research Center Cambridge

Researchers collaborate to advance future of mobile communications for consumers and enterprises

Cambridge, Mass., U.S. and Helsinki, Finland - Advancing the vision of mobility while developing real-world applications, Nokia and the
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT) today announce the opening of the Nokia Research Center Cambridge. The joint research facility,

a collaboration between Nokia Research Center and MIT s Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence Laboratory (CSAIL), brings researchers
and scientists from MIT and Nokia together to develop high-impact research to create the state-of-the-art in communications technologies.

Our mission is to explore and develop technologies that will be available in the marketplace in five to ten years - not just novelties, but
technologies that will see mass market demand from consumers and enterprises, said Dr. Bob Iannucci, head of Nokia Research Center. With
MIT s academic and research expertise, Nokia s mobility and technology leadership, and the fusion of some of the world s brightest minds, the
Nokia Research Center Cambridge will provide a platform for delivering compelling new innovations.

The center is currently focusing its research on several projects, each part of a larger vision where mobile devices become elements of an

ecosystem of information, services, peripherals, sensors and other devices. These projects revolve around enhancing people s lives and
productivity by enabling more intuitive interaction between individuals, machines and environments, and range from developing the underlying
computer architecture to leveraging and extending the Semantic Web. Although not commercially available today, projects like those underway
could likely become real-world applications within the next decade.

Specific projects include:

Project Simone addresses new ways to interact with your mobile device primarily using speech.

MobileStart provides a framework for task-oriented applications that interact via written language on the mobile
device.

MyNet/UIA develops a way for different users to easily and securely connect various devices to each other and across
the Internet.
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Asbestos explores the use of new operating systems mechanisms for information flow control to prevent private
information from being inadvertently shared or maliciously exposed.

SwapMe develops a platform for Semantic Web applications that are policy, preference, and context aware.

ComposeMe provides mechanisms for verifying interoperability of Web services.
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Armo explores new design methodologies and languages to enable the development of high-performance,
energy-efficient hardware for mobile devices.

Our collaboration with Nokia and the subsequent opening of the Nokia Research Center Cambridge is an exciting opportunity for all parties,
including the CSAIL research team, said Professor Rodney Brooks, director of the MIT CSAIL Lab. Not only do we have the opportunity to
work on truly compelling research with Nokia s highest-caliber researchers, but - because of Nokia s leadership in the mobile communications
market - we also have confidence that our joint research will likely be deployed throughout the world, ultimately having a positive impact on the
daily lives of hundreds of millions of people.

Located five minutes from CSAIL s headquarters, the Nokia Research Center Cambridge will have approximately 20 researchers from MIT and
20 researchers from Nokia. Joint projects will be managed under the direction of a joint steering committee, and Dr. James Hicks from the Nokia
Research Center has been named director of the Nokia Research Center Cambridge. Arvind, Johnson Professor of Computer Science and
Engineering at MIT, will be the program manager for MIT/CSAIL.

For more information on the Nokia Research Center, please visit http://research.nokia.com/

About MIT/CSAIL

The MIT Computer Science and Artificial Intelligence Laboratory (CSAIL) was formed on July Ist, 2003 by the merger of the Artificial
Intelligence Laboratory (Al Lab) and the Laboratory for Computer Science (LCS). It is an interdepartmental laboratory that includes faculty
from Electrical Engineering and Computer Science, Mathematics, Brain and Cognitive Science, Aeronautics and Astronautics, Ocean
Engineering, Earth, Atmospheric and Planetary Sciences, the Biological Engineering Division and the Harvard-MIT Division of Health Sciences
and Technology. CSAIL is also the home of the World Wide Web Consortium. With more than 90 Principal Investigators and 800 members,
CSAIL is the largest laboratory on the MIT campus.

The primary mission of CSAIL is research in many aspects of computation and artificial intelligence. It is organized into four broad research
directorates: 1) Architecture, systems, and networks, 2) Theory, 3) Language, learning, vision, and graphics, and 4) Physical, biological, and
computational systems.

Over the past four decades, members of CSAIL and its predecessors have been responsible for many of the innovations in computer science and
information technology, including time sharing, public key encryption, bit-mapped displays, TCP/IP, personal workstations, Web standards,
computer vision, speech, and robotics. CSAIL members have distinguished themselves as members of the U.S. Academy of Sciences and
Engineering (17), recipients of the MacArthur Foundation Genius Award (6), Turing Award (4), Japan Prize (2), and Millennium Technology
Award. Technology transfer from CSAIL is often accomplished through startups; some of them include Akamai, Cognex, iRobot, OpenMarket,
RSA Data Security, Silicon Spice and SpeechWorks.

For more information about CSAIL, please visit http://www.csail.mit.edu
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About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

About Nokia Research Center

Interacting closely with all Nokia business groups and Technology Platforms, Nokia Research Center is responsible for the strategic and
long-term research in Nokia. Looking beyond current product development, the Research Center challenges current strategies and drives Nokia s
renewal through long-term technology exploration. Nokia Research Center participates in the standardization work and various international
R&D projects in cooperation with universities and research institutes. Nokia Research Center employs about 1,100 people and has activities in
Finland, USA, Germany, Hungary, China and Japan.

Media Enquiries:

MIT/CSAIL

Patti Richards

MIT News Office
Tel: +1 617 253 8923

E-mail: prichards @mit.edu

Nokia, Americas
Press Desk
Tel: +1 972 894 4573

E-mail: Communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia, Communications
Tel: +358 7180 34900

E-mail: press.office @nokia.com

Industry Analysts only:
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Nokia, Americas

Virve Virtanen

Tel: +1 914 368 0511

E-mail: virve.virtanen @nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 24, 2006

Nokia signs extension contract with Viaero Wireless in Colorado and Nebraska

Espoo, Finland - Viaero Wireless and Nokia announced they ve signed an extension contract to expand Viaero s current network and enhance its
existing GSM/GPRS network with Nokia MSC Server 3GPP Release 4 architecture. This will be one of the first Release 4 deployments by a
North American regional operator.

Under the contract, Nokia will expand and upgrade Viaero s network, supplying radio and core network equipment and installation, integration,
and testing services. Viaero s network will continue to be supported by the unique Nokia NetAct(TM) network and service management system
and Nokia NetAct Traffica(TM), a real-time traffic monitoring and analysis tool for multi-technology networks. The expansion will increase
Viaero s subscriber capacity, and increase its coverage area, and will provide new services to subscribers in Colorado and Nebraska.

This agreement means that Viaero Wireless will continue to serve our customers with a powerful network architecture, said Frank DiRico, CEO
of Viaero Wireless. We have a great partnership with Nokia and have confidence in their ability to enable Viaero to deliver the latest and
greatest cellular, mobile internet and messaging services to our customers.

Nokia has been a major network supplier to Viaero Wireless since February 2002 when Nokia was selected to supply a complete system,
including GSM and GPRS core networks and an EDGE-capable radio network to replace Viaero s then existing AMPS network.

We look forward to continuing our close collaboration with Viaero, which is one of Nokia Networks long standing customers, said Tim Johnson,
Vice President, Networks, Nokia. This expansion further enhances Viaero s functionality and efficiency in their GPRS and OSS systems,
guaranteeing operating expenditure savings.

Nokia is a leader in providing GSM/GPRS/EDGE networks around the world. To date, Nokia has supplied GSM networks to over 130 operators
in over 60 countries.

About Viaero Wireless

Headquartered in Ft. Morgan, CO Viaero Wireless has been providing superior quality wireless service including cellular phone and mobile
internet service to rural Colorado and Nebraska since 1990. Viaero Wireless is focused on providing the best coverage possible to give our
customers anytime access, personal customer service, competitive products, the latest features and seamless connectivity inside and outside our
borders.
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About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Inquiries:

Viaero Wireless
info@viaero.com

WWW.viaero.com

Nokia, North America
Communications
Tel. +1 972 894 4573

communication.corp@nokia.com

Nokia, Networks
Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34379

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 25, 2006

Nokia announces three new Bluetooth Headsets

Trio complements Nokia devices handsomely with convenience and simple to use design.

Espoo, Finland - Nokia, the global leader in mobility, today announced three new Bluetooth Headsets; the elegant and lightweight Nokia
Bluetooth Headset BH-700, the classic feature packed Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-600 and the sleek Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-300.

These three new headsets are the latest confirmation of Nokia s innovative approach to Bluetooth headsets. All three Nokia Bluetooth Headsets
are planned to be commercially available during the summer of 2006. The estimated retail prices (excluding taxes) for the three headsets are
50-60 EUR for the Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-300, 60-70 EUR for the Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-600 and 70-80 EUR for the Nokia
Bluetooth Headset BH-700.

Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-700

Weighing only 10 grams, the Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-700 s simple and elegant form factor offers the ultimate in freedom and comfort when
used with a compatible mobile device. With talk time of up to 6 hours and up to 160 hours of stand by time, the Nokia Bluetooth Headset

BH-700 provides a hassle-free and long-lasting communications experience. The power button, volume control and call answering buttons make
it easy to handle calls.

Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-600

Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-600 is a classic, comfortable and easy to use headset that provides excellent audio quality even in noisy
environments due to digital signal processing (DSP). The Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-600 has a talk time of up to 7 hours and up to 170 hours
of stand by time and weighs 18 grams.

Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-300

The sleek minimalist styled Nokia Bluetooth Headset BH-300 is an easy-to-use wireless headset with comfortable user changeable ear loops.
Weighing only 10 grams, it completes the Nokia Bluetooth headset trio with very user-friendly functionality and a feeling of simplicity. It has
talk time of up to 5 hours 30 minutes and up to 150 hours of stand by time.

About Nokia

Nokia is a world leader in mobile communications, driving the growth and sustainability of the broader mobility industry. Nokia connects people
to each other and the information that matters to them with easy-to-use and innovative products like mobile phones, devices and solutions for
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imaging, games, media and businesses. Nokia provides equipment, solutions, and services for network operators and corporations.

Media Enquiries:

Nokia, Multimedia

Communications

Tel. +358 7180 45751

Nokia

Communications

Tel. +358 7180 34900

Email: press.office @nokia.com

Related photos in print quality can be found at: www.nokia.com/press >photos

www.nokia.com
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PRESS RELEASE

April 25, 2006

Nokia Drives Internet Convergence With New Nokia Nseries Devices and Experiences

Berlin, Germany and Hong Kong, China - Nokia today unveiled a new range of Nokia Nseries multimedia computers and experiences,
reinforcing Nokia s leadership in making the Internet mobile. Nokia Nseries has become synonymous with high-performance multimedia
experiences and these new devices further establish Nokia Nseries as the leader in mobile multimedia. All Nokia Nseries devices include
high-quality video and photo capture capabilities, superb audio performance, high speed Internet browsing and more.

Nokia Nseries brings mobility to those experiences which used to be linked to a place or a single purpose device. When you have a Nokia
Nseries device that is always with you and connected, you no longer need to sit in front of your TV to watch your favorite program or take along
a separate digital camera when you go on vacation, said Anssi Vanjoki, executive vice president and general manager of Multimedia, Nokia. Our
goal is to make it easy for people to have their favorite experiences - whether it s sharing video, browsing the Internet or buying new music - with
them all the time.

The Nokia Nseries range is an iconic example of the fastest growing product category in the mobile space: converged devices. Nokia expects
that the coverged device market will grow to 100 million units in 2006 and to exceed 250 million units in 2008. According to Canalys research,
the converged device market reached 53 million units in 2005 with Nokia commanding more than 50 percent market share of that market.

We launched Nokia Nseries last year to address this fast growing market and we have already sold approximately 5 million Nokia
Nseries multimedia computers, explained Vanjoki. Clearly, people want to have a device that gives them access to all digital content, all the
time, wherever they are and at a reasonable cost.

Issuance of common stock to 401(k) plan

440
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Issuance of common stock in public offering

1,652,396

3,338
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3,338

Net loss

(20,898)

(20,898)

Balance at September 30, 2018

8,506,946

$

223,286
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$

(204,805)

18,482

See notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

(Reflects 1-for-25 reverse stock split effective April 16, 2018)

5
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InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands, except share and per-share data)

(Unaudited)

Three-Month Period Ended September 30, 2017

Additional

Paid-in

Capital

$ 188,862
1,031

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Balance as of June 30, 2017 1,287,007 $ 1
Share-based compensation expense — —
Issuance of common stock on warrant
exchange
Issuance of common stock under ESPP
Issuance of common stock to 401(k)
plan 1,129 — 41
Net loss — — —
Balance at September 30, 2017 1,369,384 $ 1 $ 193,493

80,857 — 3,537
391 — 22

Accumulated
Deficit
$ (169,893)

(9,350)
$ (179,243)

Nine-Month Period Ended September 30, 2017

Additional
Paid-in
Capital
$ 185,955

Common Stock

Shares Amount
Balance as of December 31, 2016 1,281,763 $ 1
Cumulative adjustment on
adoption of ASU 2016-09 — —
Share-based compensation
expense — —
Issuance of common stock on
warrant exchange
Issuance of common stock for
services 14 — —
Issuance of common stock under
ESPP
Issuance of common stock upon
exercise of stock options
Issuance of common stock to
401(k) plan 2,464 — 155
Net loss — — —

155
3,614
80,857 — 3,537
710 — 51

3,576 — 26

Accumulated

Deficit
$ (157,007)

(155)

(22,081)

Total

Stockholders’

Equity

$ 18,970
1,031

3,537
22

41
(9,350)
$ 14,251

Total
Stockholders’

Equity
$ 28,949

3,614

3,537

51
26

155
(22,081)
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Balance at September 30, 2017

Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K
1,369,384  $ 1 $ 193,493

See notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

(Reflects 1-for-25 reverse stock split effective April 16, 2018)

$ (179,243)

$ 14,251
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InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

Loss on impairment of fixed assets

Derivatives loss

Non-cash interest expense

Common stock issued to 401(k) plan

Gain on lease assignment

Share-based compensation expense

Non-cash investment (income) expense, net
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses

Other assets

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses and other liabilities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchases of marketable securities

Sales of marketable securities

Purchases of property and equipment

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Proceeds from issuance of stock under ESPP
Proceeds from exercise of warrants

Repayment of loan payable

Repurchase of warrants

Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warrants, net of commissions and
issuance costs

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

Nine Months Ended

2018 2017

$ (20,898) $ (22,081)
75 387
48 —
12,165 2,264
2 2
6 154
(603) —
541 3,614
— 2
(101) (24)
(860) 6
291 259
9 (161)
(9,325) (15,582)
— (8,256)
— 19,100
(65) (54)
(65) 10,790
— 26
4 51
55 —
(636) (315)
(14) —
16,511 —
15,920 (238)
6,530 (5,030)
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Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information and non-cash investing and
financing activities:

Cash paid for interest

Non-cash issuance of common stock for warrants

Reclassification of derivative warrant liability to additional paid-in capital

See notes to the unaudited consolidated financial statements.

13,271
$ 19,801

$ 35
$ 287
$ 25,326
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2018 (Unaudited)

1.NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND GOING CONCERN, BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND RECENT
ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Business

InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp. (the “Company”) is a pioneering biomaterials and biotechnology company with a
focus on the treatment of spinal cord injuries (“SCIs”). The Company’s Neuro-Spinal Scaffold™ implant is a bioresorbable
polymer scaffold that is designed for implantation at the site of injury within the spinal cord to treat SCI. The

proprietary technologies incorporate intellectual property that is licensed under an exclusive, worldwide license from
Boston Children’s Hospital and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, as well as intellectual property that has

been developed internally in collaboration with its advisors and partners.

Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to business planning, research and
development, recruiting management and technical staff, acquiring operating assets, and raising capital. The Company
has historically financed its operations primarily through the sale of equity-related securities. At September 30, 2018,
the Company had consolidated cash and cash equivalents of $19.7 million. The Company has not achieved
profitability and may not be able to realize sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain profitability in the future. The
Company does not expect to be profitable in the next several years, but rather expects to incur additional operating
losses. The financing closed in June 2018 (see Note 9) provided necessary funding to fund operations for at least the
next twelve months. The Company expects that it will need additional capital resources in order to sustain its product
development efforts, for acquisition of technologies and intellectual property rights, for preclinical and clinical testing
of its anticipated products, pursuit of regulatory approvals, acquisition of capital equipment, laboratory and office
facilities, establishment of production capabilities, for selling, general and administrative expenses, and other working
capital requirements in the future which it may raise through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, other
third party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic alliances and license
arrangements.

Reverse Stock Split

On April 16, 2018, the Company effected a reverse stock split of its common stock, par value $0.00001 per share, at a
ratio of 1-for-25. As a result of the reverse stock split, (i) every 25 shares of the issued and outstanding common stock
were automatically converted into one newly issued and outstanding share of common stock, without any change in

the par value per share; (ii) shares of common stock underlying outstanding stock options and other equity instruments
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convertible into common stock were proportionately reduced and the respective exercise prices, if applicable, were
proportionately increased in accordance with the terms of the agreements governing such securities, and (iii) the
number of authorized shares of common stock outstanding was proportionally decreased.

All of the Company’s historical share and per share information related to issued and outstanding common stock and
outstanding options and warrants exercisable for common stock in these financial statements have been adjusted, on a
retroactive basis, to reflect this 1-for-25 reverse stock split.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) consistent with those applied in, and should be read in
conjunction with, the Company’s audited financial statements and related footnotes for the year ended December 31,
2017 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K as filed with the United States Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”) on March 12, 2018. The unaudited consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments,
consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a fair
presentation of the Company’s financial position as of September 30, 2018 and its results of operations and cash flows
for the interim period presented, and are not necessarily indicative of results for subsequent interim periods or for the
full year. The interim financial statements do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for
complete financial statements, as allowed by the relevant SEC
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(Continued)

rules and regulations; however, the Company believes that its disclosures are adequate to ensure that the information
presented is not misleading.

Recently Adopted Accounting Standards

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”’) No.
2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“ASU 2014-09”), to provide updated guidance on revenue
recognition. ASU 2014-09 requires a company to recognize revenue when it transfers promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services. In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606): Principal versus Agent Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross Versus Net), which clarifies the
implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations. In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-10,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing, which
clarifies certain aspects of identifying performance obligations and licensing implementation guidance. In May 2016,
the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope
Improvements and Practical Expedients, which relates to disclosures of remaining performance obligations, as well as
other amendments to guidance on collectability, non-cash consideration, and the presentation of sales and other
similar taxes collected from customers. Collectively, these standards are effective for annual reporting periods
beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within each annual reporting period.
Currently, this guidance is not applicable to the Company as the Company does not generate revenue. However, the
Company will adopt and evaluate the impact of adopting these standards on its consolidated financial statements when
the Company begins to generate revenue.

In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10) - Recognition
and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities (“ASU 2016-01"). ASU 2016-01 is intended to improve
the recognition and measurement of financial instruments by; requiring equity investments to be measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognized in net income: requiring public business entities to use the exit price
notion when measuring the fair value of financial instruments for disclosure purposes; requiring separate presentation
of financial assets and financial liabilities by measurement category and form of financial asset on the balance sheet or
the accompanying notes to the financial statements; eliminating the requirement for public business entities to disclose
the method(s) and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value that is required to be disclosed for financial
instruments measured and amortized at cost on the balance sheet; and requiring a reporting organization to present
separately in other comprehensive income the portion of the total change in the fair value of a liability resulting from a
change in the instrument-specific credit risk when the organization has elected to measure the liability at fair value in
accordance with the fair value option for financial instruments. ASU 2016-01 is effective for annual periods and
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interim periods within those annual periods, beginning after December 15, 2017. The amendments should be applied
by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. The
amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable fair values (including disclosure requirements)
should be applied prospectively to equity investments that exist as of the date of adoption. In February 2018, the
FASB issued ASU No. 2018-03 which includes technical corrections and improvements to clarify the guidance in
ASU No. 2016-01. The Company adopted ASU 2016-01 on January 1, 2018 and it did not have any impact on its
accounting for equity investments, fair value disclosures or other disclosure requirements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain
Cash Receipts and Cash Payments (“ASU No. 2016-15"), which clarifies the classification of certain cash receipts and
cash payments in the statement of cash flows, including debt prepayment or extinguishment costs, settlement of
contingent consideration arising from a business combination and insurance settlement proceeds. The Company
adopted ASU 2016-15 on January 1, 2018, and it did not result in any changes to the presentation of amounts shown
on the Company’s consolidated statements of cash flows for all periods presented.
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In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash (A
Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force) (“ASU No 2016-18”). The amendments in this update require that
a statement of cash flows explain the change during the period in the total of cash, cash equivalents, and amounts
generally described as restricted cash or restricted cash equivalents. Therefore, amounts generally described as
restricted cash and restricted cash equivalents should be included with cash and cash equivalents when reconciling the
beginning-of-period and end-of-period total amounts shown on the statement of cash flows. The Company adopted
ASU No. 2016-18 in the first quarter of 2018 and applied the guidance retrospectively to the prior period consolidated
statement of cash flows. The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
within the statement of financial position that sum to the total of the same such amounts shown in the statement of

cash flows.

September 30, September 30,

(In thousands) 2018 2017
Cash and cash equivalents $ 19,707 $ 16,434
Restricted cash included in current assets 4 361
Restricted cash included in other non-current assets 90 —
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the statement of cash

flows $ 19,801 $ 16,795

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-09, Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope of
Modification Accounting (“ASU 2017-09”), to clarify when to account for a change to the terms or conditions of a
share-based payment award as a modification. Under this new guidance, modification accounting is required if the fair
value, vesting conditions, or classification of the award changes as a result of the change in terms or conditions. ASU
2017-09 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting
periods within each annual reporting period. The Company adopted ASU 2017-09 on January 1, 2018 and it did not
have a material effect on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or disclosures.

In December 2017, the SEC issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 118 (“SAB 118”) to address the application of U.S. GAAP
in situations in which a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including
computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs
Act (the “Tax Reform Act”) which was signed into law on December 22, 2017. In March 2018, the FASB issued

ASU 2018-05, which amended ASC 740-Income Taxes, to incorporate the requirements of SAB 118. The Company
recognized the provisional tax impacts of the Tax Reform Act in the fourth quarter 2017. During first quarter 2018,

the Company did not receive any additional information regarding these provisional calculations. As a result, the
Company continues to anticipate finalizing the Company’s analysis in connection with the completion of its tax return
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for 2017 to be filed in 2018.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842). The guidance in this ASU supersedes the
leasing guidance in Topic 840, Leases. Under the new guidance, lessees are required to recognize lease assets and
lease liabilities on the balance sheet for all leases with terms longer than 12 months. Leases will be classified as either
finance leases or operating leases, with classification affecting the pattern of expense recognition in the statement of
operations. The new standard is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including
interim reporting periods within each annual reporting period. The Company is currently gathering information and
evaluating the impact of this guidance on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In July 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-11, Part I. Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down
Round Features and Part II. Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily Redeemable Financial Instruments
of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception
(“ASU 2017-117). Part I of this guidance applies to entities that issue financial instruments such as warrants, convertible
debt or convertible preferred stock that contain down round features. Part II of this guidance replaces the indefinite
deferrals for certain mandatorily redeemable noncontrolling interests and mandatorily redeemable financial

instruments of nonpublic entities. ASU 2017-11 is effective for annual reporting

10
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periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim reporting periods within each annual reporting period.
The Company has concluded that the adoption of ASU 2017-11 will not have a material impact on the financial
statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2018-02, Income Statement — Reporting
Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive
Income. This update relates to the impacts of the tax legislation commonly referred to as the Tax Reform Act. The
guidance permits the reclassification of certain income tax effects of the Tax Reform Act from other comprehensive
income to retained earnings (stranded tax effects). The guidance also requires certain new disclosures. The guidance is
effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, and interim periods within those reporting periods.
Early adoption is permitted. Entities may adopt the guidance using one of two transition methods; retrospective to
each period (or periods) in which the income tax effects of the Tax Reform Act related to the items remaining in other
comprehensive income are recognized or at the beginning of the period of adoption. The Company is currently
evaluating the impact that the guidance may have on its Consolidated Financial Statements.

In August 2018, the SEC adopted the final rule under SEC Release No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and
Simplification, amending certain disclosure requirements that were redundant, duplicative, overlapping, outdated or
superseded. In addition, the amendments expanded the disclosure requirements on the analysis of stockholders' equity
for interim financial statements. Under the amendments, an analysis of changes in each caption of stockholders' equity
presented in the balance sheet must be provided in a note or separate statement. The analysis should present a
reconciliation of the beginning balance to the ending balance of each period for which a statement of comprehensive
income is required to be filed. This final rule is effective on November 5, 2018. The Company adopted this release in
the third quarter of 2018.

2.CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

At September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, cash equivalents were comprised of money market funds and other
short-term investments.
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From time to time, the Company may have cash balances in financial institutions in excess of insurance limits. The
Company has never experienced any losses related to these balances. The Company considers only those investments
that are highly liquid, readily convertible to cash, and that mature within three months from date of purchase to be
cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,

(In thousands) 2018 2017

Cash $ (156) $ 23

Money market funds 19,863 12,887

Total cash and cash equivalents $ 19,707 $ 12,910
3.RESTRICTED CASH

Restricted cash as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 was $94 thousand and $361 thousand, respectively.
Restricted cash as of September 30, 2018 included a $50 thousand security deposit related to the

11
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Company’s credit card account, $4 thousand related to 401(k) reserve account and a $40 thousand standby letter of
credit in favor of a landlord (see Note 6).

4.  MARKETABLE SECURITIES

The Company invests its excess cash in fixed income instruments denominated and payable in U.S. dollars, including
money market accounts, commercial paper, and corporate obligations, in accordance with the Company’s investment
policy that primarily seeks to maintain adequate liquidity and preserve capital.

As of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, the Company had no marketable securities.

5.FAIR VALUES OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Company groups its assets and liabilities generally measured at fair value into three levels based on the markets in
which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the assumptions used to determine fair value.

Level 1 — Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. Level 1 assets and
liabilities generally include debt and equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market. Valuations are
obtained from readily available pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation is based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
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Level 3 — Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. Level 3 assets and liabilities include financial instruments whose
value is determined using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques, as well as
instruments for which the determination of fair value requires significant management judgment or estimation.

The Company uses valuation methods and assumptions that consider, among other factors, the fair value of the
underlying stock, risk-free interest rate, volatility, expected life, and dividend rates in estimating fair value for the
warrants considered to be derivative instruments (see Notes 11 and 12).

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis are summarized below:

At September 30, 2018

(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Cash equivalents $ 19,863 $ — $ — $ 19,863
Derivative warrant liability $ — $ — $ — $ —

At December 31, 2017

(In thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value
Cash equivalents $ 12,887 $ — $ — $ 12,887
Derivative warrant liability $ — $ 4 $ — $ 4

6.COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Leases

On November 30, 2011, the Company entered into a commercial lease for 26,342 square feet of office, laboratory, and
manufacturing space in Cambridge, Massachusetts (as amended on September 17, 2012 and October 31, 2017,

12
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the “Cambridge Lease”). The term of the Cambridge Lease was six years and three months, with one five-year extension
option. On August 21, 2017, the Company exercised its option for the five-year extension on the Cambridge Lease.

The five-year renewal lease term was set to commence on November 1, 2018 and end on October 31, 2023. The terms
of the Cambridge Lease required a standby letter of credit in the amount of $311 thousand.

On March 31, 2016, the Company entered into a short-term lease, to sub-lease 5,233 square feet of its facility (the
“2016 Sublease”). The 2016 Sublease term was from April 1, 2016 through January 31, 2017. In connection with the
2016 Sublease, the Company received sublease income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017 of
$26 thousand, which was recorded as an offset to rent expense.

On June 13, 2017, the Company entered into a new short-term lease, to sub-lease 5,233 square feet of its facility (the
“Moderna Sublease”). The lease term was from July 1, 2017 through October 26, 2018. On June 19, 2017, the Company
received a $55 thousand security deposit under the terms of the Moderna Sublease. In conjunction with the assignment
of the Cambridge Lease on May 3, 2018 further described below, this security deposit was transferred to the third

party that assumed the lease. In connection with Moderna Sublease, the Company did not record any sublease income
for the three-month period ended September 30, 2018. In connection with the Moderna Sublease, the Company
received sublease income of $112 thousand for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018, which was recorded
as an offset to rent expense.

On May 3, 2018, the Company assigned the Cambridge Lease to a third party who assumed all of the Company’s
remaining rights and obligations under the Cambridge Lease including the Moderna Sublease. On the same date as the
lease assignment, the Company entered into a sublease for 5,104 square feet of space, originally part of the Cambridge
Lease, from the third party to which the Company assigned the Cambridge Lease. The sublease commenced on May
3, 2018 through October 31, 2023 and contains rent holiday and rent escalation clauses. In connection with the lease
assignment and the sublease, the $311 thousand standby letter of credit was terminated, and a new standby letter of
credit was established for $40 thousand. On November 1, 2018, the standby letter of credit will be increased to $60
thousand. The $55 thousand security deposit under the Moderna Sublease was transferred to the third party and $603
thousand of deferred rent was removed from the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2018. The resulting gain
was recorded within the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss during the second quarter of
2018. The Company also wrote off certain furniture, fixtures and equipment (including laboratory equipment) and
recorded an impairment charge of $48 thousand for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. The Company did not
record any impairment charges for the three-month period ended September 30, 2018.

100



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease and records the difference
between the amount charged to expense and the rent paid as prepaid rent or deferred rent liability. As of

September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, the amount of prepaid rent was $108 thousand and $0, respectively. As
of September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, the amount of deferred rent liability was $0 and $397 thousand,

respectively.

Pursuant to the terms of the non-cancelable lease and sublease agreements in effect at September 30, 2018, the future
minimum rent commitments are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Fourth Quarter 2018 —
2019 243
2020 375
2021 386
2022 398
Thereafter 339
Total $ 1,741

13
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Total rent expense for the three-month period ended September 30, 2018 was $107 thousand. Total rent expense for
the three-month period ended September 30, 2017 was $269 thousand.

Total rent expense for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018 was $746 thousand, and does not include the
one-time gain on termination of the Cambridge Lease of $603 thousand that was recorded to the consolidated
statement of operations and comprehensive loss during the second quarter of 2018. Total rent expense for the
nine-month period ended September 30, 2017 was $828 thousand.

Compensation Commitment

The Company entered into a compensation arrangement with an executive during September 2016 which provided for
a future cash payment by the Company to the executive based on the February 13, 2017 stock price of the executive’s
former employer. The award was earned over a period of one year. The expense related to the compensation
arrangement was $87 thousand and $174 thousand for the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30,
2017, respectively. As of September 30, 2018, there were no outstanding payments to the executive.

Litigation

Lawsuits with Former Employee

In November 2013, the Company filed a lawsuit against Francis Reynolds, its former Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, in Middlesex Superior Court, Middlesex County, Massachusetts (InVivo
Therapeutics Holdings Corp. v. Reynolds, Civil Action No. 13-5004). The complaint alleges breaches of fiduciary
duties, breach of contract, conversion, misappropriation of corporate assets, unjust enrichment, and corporate waste,
and seeks monetary damages and an accounting. The lawsuit involves approximately $500 thousand worth of personal
and/or exorbitant expenses that the Company alleges Mr. Reynolds inappropriately caused it to pay while he was
serving as the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, President, and Chairman of the Company’s
Board of Directors. On December 6, 2013, Mr. Reynolds answered the complaint, and filed counterclaims against the
Company and the Company’s Board of Directors. The counterclaims allege two counts of breach of contract, two
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counts of breach of the covenant of good faith and fair-dealing, and tortious interference with a contract, and seek
monetary damages and a declaratory judgment. The counterclaims related to Mr. Reynolds’s allegations that the
Company and the Company’s Board of Directors interfered with the performance of his duties under the terms of his
employment agreement, and that Mr. Reynolds was entitled to additional shares upon the exercise of certain stock
options that he did not receive. On January 9, 2014, the Company, along with the directors named in the
counterclaims, filed the Company’s answer denying that Mr. Reynolds is entitled to any relief. The parties have
completed discovery. On March 3, 2017, the counterclaim defendants filed a motion for summary judgement on all
counterclaims asserted by Mr. Reynolds. On October 18, 2017, the Court allowed the motion for summary judgment
in substantial part, and denied it in part. The Court, citing disputed issues of fact, declined to dismiss the
counterclaims for breach of contract, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and declaratory
judgment concerning Mr. Reynolds’ attempted exercise of certain stock options, which Mr. Reynolds claims is the
equivalent of 47,864 shares of common stock, but dismissed all other claims asserted by Mr. Reynolds. In July 2018,
the parties reported the case as settled to the Court.

Vendor Dispute

In July 2018, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with a former vendor under which the vendor agreed
to pay the Company $1.2 million, of which $800 thousand was received in July 2018 and is included in other income
on the statement of operations and other comprehensive loss. The remaining $400 thousand is owed to the Company
by December 1, 2018.

14
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7. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

September 30, December 31,

(In thousands) 2018 2017
Severance and restructuring $ 917 $ 1,160
Bonus 238 62
Vacation 53 55
Payroll 40 79
Other accrued expenses 195 282
Total accrued expenses $ 1,443 $ 1,638

8.LOAN PAYABLE

In October 2012, the Company entered into a loan agreement with the Massachusetts Development Finance Agency
(“MassDev”). The loan agreement provided the Company with a $2.0 million line of credit from the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts’ Emerging Technology Fund, with $200 thousand designated to be used for working capital purposes
and the remainder to be used for the purchase of capital equipment. The annual interest rate on the loan is fixed at

6.5% with interest-only payments for the first thirty months, commencing on November 1, 2012, and then equal
installments of interest and principal over the next fifty-four months, until the final maturity of the loan in March

2019. Commencing on May 1, 2015, equal monthly payments of $41 thousand are due until loan maturity.

In May 2018, in order to obtain the consent of MassDev for facility changes, including the assignment of the
Cambridge Lease, and the sale of certain assets, the Company paid down $300 thousand of principal on the MassDev
loan. As of September 30, 2018, $216 thousand in principal payments will be due in the next twelve months. In
October 2012, as part of the agreement, the Company issued MassDev a warrant for the purchase of 362 shares of the
Company’s common stock. The warrant has a seven-year term and is exercisable at $166 per share. The fair value of
the warrant was determined to be $32 thousand and is being amortized through interest expense over the life of the
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note. Amortization expense was $1 thousand in each of the three-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017
and $3 thousand in each of the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. This amortization expense
was included in interest expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. The equipment line of credit
is secured by substantially all the assets of the Company, excluding intellectual property. Interest expense related to
this loan for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $9 thousand and $17 thousand,
respectively. Interest expense related to this loan for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was
$35 thousand, and $56 thousand respectively.

9.COMMON STOCK

In May 2018, the Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation to
increase the number of shares of authorized common stock from 4,000,000 to 25,000,000 shares. As of
September 30, 2018, and December 31, 2017, 8,506,946 and 1,370,992 shares were issued and outstanding
respectively.

In June 2018, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of an aggregate of 1,378,400 Common Units, at an
offering price of $2.00 each, each comprised of one share of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.00001 per
share and one Series A warrant to purchase one share of common stock. The public offering also included 6,242,811
pre-funded units at an offering price of $1.99 each, each comprised of one pre-funded Series B Warrant, and one
Series A warrant to purchase one share of common stock. Each Series A warrant has an exercise price of $2.00 per
share, is exercisable immediately and expires five years from the date of issuance. Each Series B warrant has an
exercise price of $0.01 per share, is exercisable immediately and will expire twenty years from the date of issuance
(see Note 12). The net proceeds to the Company, after deducting the underwriting discounts and
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commissions and other offering expenses, were $13.5 million (see Note 12). In September 2018, the Company entered
into an Amendment to Warrant Agency Agreement and Warrants (the “Ladenburg Warrant Amendment”) with
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company (“Continental”’) that amends the Warrant Agency Agreement, by and
between the Company and Continental, as Warrant Agent, dated June 25, 2018, and the Series A Common Stock
Purchase Warrant, and the Series B Pre-Funded Common Stock Purchase Warrant both dated June 25, 2018 (the
Series A and Series B Warrant, collectively the “2018 Warrants”). The Ladenburg Warrant Amendment adds a provision
to each of the warrants that allows the Company or a successor entity whose stock is not listed on a trading market to,
in connection with a Fundamental Transaction (as such term is defined in the 2018 Warrants) that is not within the
Company’s control, purchase the warrant from the holder, at the holder’s option, by paying the same form of
consideration in the same proportion that is offered to the holders of the Company’s common stock in connection with
the Fundamental Transaction, including cash, stock, any combination thereof and any choice of consideration

thereof, in an amount equal to the Black-Sholes Value of the remaining unexercised portion of the Warrant on the
consummation date of the Fundamental Transaction. The fair value of the amended 2018 Warrants was re-measured
immediately prior to the date of the Ladenburg Warrant Amendment with changes in fair value recorded as a loss of
$764 thousand in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and $14.7 million was reclassified to equity.
During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 4,427,084 shares of common
stock upon the exercise of Series B warrants for aggregate proceeds of $44 thousand. The Company reclassified $8.7
million from derivative warrant liability to additional paid-in capital and recorded a derivative loss of $1.2 million in
connection with the warrant exercises. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued an
aggregate of 5,478,002 shares of common stock upon the exercise of Series B warrants for aggregate proceeds of $55
thousand. The Company reclassified $10.6 million from derivative warrant liability to additional paid-in capital and
recorded a derivative loss of $1.2 million in connection with the warrant exercises.

In January 2018, the Company entered into a purchase and a registration rights agreement with Lincoln Park Capital
Fund, LLC (“Lincoln Park”), under which it has the right to sell up to $15 million, in shares of our common stock,
$0.00001 par value per share, to Lincoln Park over a twenty-four-month period, subject to certain limitations and
conditions set forth in the purchase agreement and registration rights agreement. On May 30, 2018 the Company’s
stockholders approved to increase the issuance and sale by the Company to Lincoln Park, including the Company’s
prior issuances and sales of shares of common stock to Lincoln Park since January 2018, of up to 1,200,000 shares of
common stock. In accordance with the terms of the purchase agreement, at the time the Company signed the purchase
agreement and the registration rights agreement, it issued 17,192 shares to Lincoln Park as consideration for its
commitment to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock under the purchase agreement and recorded $627
thousand in deferred offering costs. As of September 30, 2018, these costs were reclassified to additional paid-in
capital. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company did not sell any shares to Lincoln Park.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company sold an aggregate of 256,804 shares to Lincoln
Park, for aggregate proceeds of $3.1 million net of issuance costs.
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In May 2018, the Company’s Board of Directors approved to increase the number of shares of Common Stock reserved
under the 401(k) Plan by 4,000 shares, bringing the aggregate number of shares of Common Stock eligible for
distribution pursuant to the 401(k) Plan as of that date to 4,100 shares. In the second quarter of 2018 the Company
revised its 401(k)-matching policy to move from share matching to cash-based matching. During the nine months
ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 440 shares of common stock with a fair value of $6
thousand to the Company’s 401(k) plan as a matching contribution. The Company contributed $32 thousand in
matching contributions to employee 401(k) accounts during the nine months ended September 30, 2018. During the
year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 3,933 shares of common stock with a fair value
of $183 thousand to the Company’s 401(k) plan as a matching contribution.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 1,133 shares of common
stock under the Company’s Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”’) and received cash proceeds of approximately
$4 thousand. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 710 shares of common
stock under the ESPP and received cash proceeds of $51 thousand.
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During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 3,576 shares of common stock upon
the exercise of stock options and received cash proceeds from such exercises of $26 thousand.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 139 shares of common stock upon the
exercise of warrants and received cash proceeds from such exercises of $3 thousand.

During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company issued an aggregate of 80,857 shares of common stock to
certain holders of warrants, dated May 9, 2014, in exchange for their warrants to purchase an aggregate of 23,102
shares of common stock. The Company did not receive any cash proceeds from the warrant exchanges.

10.STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

In 2007, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and the Company’s shareholders subsequently approved, the 2007
Employee, Director and Consultant Stock Plan (the “2007 Plan”). The 2007 Plan provided that the Company’s Board of
Directors (or committees and/or executive officers delegated by the Board of Directors) could grant incentive and
nonqualified stock options to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors.

On October 26, 2010, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and the Company’s shareholders subsequently
approved, the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (as subsequently amended, the “2010 Plan”). The 2010 Plan provided for
grants of incentive stock options to employees, and nonqualified stock options and restricted common stock to
employees, consultants, and non-employee directors of the Company.

In April 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and the Company’s shareholders subsequently approved, the
2015 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2015 Plan”). The 2015 Plan provides for grants of incentive stock options to
employees, and nonqualified stock options, restricted common stock, restricted stock units, and stock appreciation
rights to employees, consultants, and non-employee directors of the Company.
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Upon approval of the 2015 Plan by the Company’s shareholders on June 16, 2015, the 2010 Plan was terminated and
no additional shares or share awards have been subsequently granted under the 2010 Plan. As of September 30, 2018,
the total number of shares available to be issued under the 2015 Plan was 201,011 shares, consisting of 160,000 shares
initially authorized under the 2015 Plan shares plus the 12,894 shares that remained available for grant under the 2010
Plan at the time of its termination adjusted for cumulative cancellations, forfeitures and issuances from the 2010 Plan
and 2015 Plan.

Options issued under the 2007 Plan, 2010 Plan, and 2015 Plan (collectively, the “Plans”) are exercisable for up to 10
years from the date of issuance.

In March 2015, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted, and the Company’s shareholders subsequently approved,
the ESPP. The ESPP allows employees to buy company stock twice per year through after-tax payroll deductions at a
discount from market. The Company’s Board of Directors initially authorized 7,500 shares for issuance under the
ESPP. Commencing on the first day of the year ended December 31, 2016 and on the first day of each year thereafter
during the term of the ESPP, the number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance shall be increased by the
lesser of (i) 1% of the Company’s outstanding shares of common stock on such date, (ii) 2,000 shares, or (iii) a lesser
amount determined by the Board of Directors. Under the terms of the ESPP, in no event shall the aggregate number of
shares reserved for issuance during the term of the ESPP exceed 50,000 shares. As of December 31, 2017, there were
9,933 shares reserved for issuance under the ESPP.

In January 2018, 188 shares that were purchased in the offering period commencing on July 1, 2017 and ending on
December 31, 2017 were issued under the ESPP. In July 2018, 945 shares that were purchased in the offering period
commencing on January 1, 2018 and ending on June 30, 2018 were issued under the ESPP. As of September 30, 2018,
$1 thousand of employee payroll deductions had been withheld since July 1, 2018, the commencement of the current
offering period, and are included in accrued expenses on the balance sheet. The
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ESPP is considered a compensatory plan with the related compensation cost recognized over each six-month offering
period. The compensation expense related to the ESPP for the three-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and
2017 was $1 thousand and $3 thousand, respectively, and is included in share-based compensation expense. The
compensation expense related to the ESPP for the nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was $1
thousand and $16 thousand, respectively, and is included in share-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation

For the three-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded stock-based compensation
expense of $85 thousand and $1 million, respectively, inclusive of the expense related to the ESPP. For the
nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense
of $541 thousand and $3.6 million, respectively, inclusive of the expense related to the ESPP. Stock-based
compensation expense for the nine-month period ended September 30, 2017 included $24 thousand of expense related
to a stock option modification.

The Company adopted ASU 2016-09 on January 1, 2017. Prior to the adoption of this standard, the Company
recognized stock-based compensation, net of estimated forfeitures, over the vesting period of the grant. Upon adoption
of ASU 2016-09, the Company elected to change its accounting policy to recognize forfeitures as they occur. The
Company continues to recognize stock-based compensation expense over the vesting period of the grant. The new
forfeiture policy election was adopted using a modified retrospective approach with a cumulative effect adjustment of
$155 thousand recorded to accumulated deficit on the balance sheet as of January 1, 2017.

The Company estimates the fair value of each option award on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option

pricing model. The expected term of options granted under the Plans, all of which qualify as “plain vanilla,” is based on
the average of the contractual term (10 years) and the vesting period (generally, 48 months). For non-employee

options, the expected term is the contractual term. The risk-free rate is based on the yield of a U.S. Treasury security
with a term consistent with the option.

The assumptions used principally in determining the fair value of options granted were as follows:
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Risk-free interest rate

Expected dividend yield
Expected term (employee grants)
Expected volatility

September 30,
2018

2.45%

0%

5.27 Years
96.07%

December 31,
2017

1.69 - 2.36%
0%

6.22 Years
104%

111



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents
InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for the Quarter Ended September 30, 2018 (Unaudited)

(Continued)

Stock options

A summary of option activity as of September 30, 2018 and changes for the nine-month period then ended are
presented below:

Weighted

Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Options Shares Price Term in Years Value
Outstanding at December 31, 2017 134,770 $ 164.29
Granted 3,024 $17.25
Expired (5,334) $ 173.13
Cancelled/Forfeited (90,070) $ 175.07
Exercised — $ —
Outstanding at September 30, 2018 42.390 $ 129.89 6.80 $ —
Vested at September 30, 2018 30,667 $ 153.41 6.08 $ —

The weighted average grant-date fair value of options granted during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was
$12.88 per share. The total fair value of options that vested in the three months ended September 30, 2018 was $96
thousand. The total fair value of options that vested in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $899 thousand.
For the three-month period ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of
$58 thousand related to stock options. For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded
stock-based compensation expense of $477 thousand related to stock options. As of September 30, 2018, total
unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested share-based option compensation arrangements amounted
to $283 thousand and is estimated to be recognized over a period of 2.08 years.

Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the restricted stock unit (“RSU”) activity under the 2015 Plan during the nine-month
period ended September 30, 2018:
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Unvested balance at December 31, 2017
Granted
Vested/Released
Forfeited

Unvested balance at September 30, 2018

Number of Grants
20,000
(1,250)
(5,500)
13,250

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

$ 2570
$ 3125
$ 3125
$ 2287

For the three-month period ended September 30, 2018, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense of
$26 thousand related to the time-based RSUs. For the nine-month period ended September 30, 2018, the Company
recorded stock-based compensation expense of $61 thousand related to the time-based RSUs. As of

September 30, 2018, total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs amounted to $249

thousand which the Company expects to recognize over a remaining weighted-average of 2.88 years.
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11.  WARRANTS

The following table presents information about warrants to purchase common stock issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2018:

Number of Exercise

Year Issued Classification Warrants Price Date of Expiration
2012 Equity 243 $ 166.00 10/5/2019

2014 Equity 307 $ 11.75 5/9/2021

2016 Equity 85,869 $ 250.00 3/18/2021

2018 Equity 7,621,211 $ 2.00 6/25/2023

2018 Equity 764,809 $ 0.01 6/25/2038

Total 8,472,439

Weighted average exercise price $ 4.34

Weighted average life in years 6.07

In June 2018, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of an aggregate of 1,378,400 Common Units, at an
offering price of $2.00 each, each comprised of one share of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.00001 per
share and one Series A warrant to purchase one share of common stock. The public offering also included 6,242,811
pre-funded units at an offering price of $1.99 each, each comprised of one pre-funded Series B Warrant, and one
Series A warrant to purchase one share of common stock. Each Series A warrant has an exercise price of $2.00 per
share, is exercisable immediately and expires five years from the date of issuance. Each Series B warrant has an
exercise price of $0.01 per share, is exercisable immediately and will expire twenty years from the date of issuance
(see Note 12). The net proceeds to the Company, after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and
other offering expenses, were $13.5 million.

At inception the 2014 and 2018 Warrants had provisions that precluded equity classification. Upon amendment, the
Company assessed whether the warrants required accounting as derivatives and determined that the warrants were (1)
indexed to the Company’s own stock and (2) classified in stockholders’ equity in accordance with FASB Accounting
Standards Codification Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging. As such, the Company concluded that the warrants meet
the scope exception for determining whether the instruments require accounting as derivatives and accordingly are
classified in stockholders’ equity. See below for a further description of the warrant amendment.
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Warrant Exchange

On August 10, 2017, the Company entered into exchange agreements with certain holders of the warrants, dated

May 9, 2014, to exchange such warrants for shares of common stock equivalent to 3.5 times the number of shares of
common stock issuable to such holders at the $96.75 exercise price under the warrants as of the date of the exchanges.
The Company issued an aggregate of 80,857 shares of common stock to the warrant holders in exchange for their
warrants to purchase an aggregate of 23,102 shares of common stock. The warrants exchanged in this transaction were
subsequently cancelled and terminated.

The Company re-measured the fair value of the exchanged warrants immediately prior to the exchange and recorded a
$3.0 million derivatives loss on the statement of operations and a corresponding increase to the warrant liability on the
balance sheet. The fair value of the warrants immediately prior to the exchange was equivalent to 80,857 shares of
common stock at the Company’s closing stock price of $43.75 on August 9, 2017, the day before execution of the
exchange. As a result of the exchange, the Company recorded the settlement by removing the derivative liability
related to the exchanged warrants and recorded the issuance of common stock for $3.5 million.

Following the warrant exchange, there were additional warrants, dated May 9, 2014, to purchase shares of common
stock that remain outstanding (“Outstanding 2014 Warrants”). As a result of the Company’s issuance of common stock in
exchange for certain of the liability warrants, the exercise price of the Outstanding 2014
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Warrants was adjusted downwards from $96.75 per share to $20.75 per share and additional warrants were issued
such that the Outstanding 2014 Warrants were exercisable for an aggregate of 1,941 shares of common stock.

Warrant Cancellation

In the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company entered into warrant cancellation agreements with certain holders of the
Outstanding 2014 Warrants to cancel and terminate such warrants for total cash consideration of $40 thousand. As of
December 31, 2017, the remaining Outstanding 2014 Warrants were exercisable for an aggregate of 537 shares of
common stock.

During nine months ended September 30, 2018 the Company entered into warrant cancellation agreements with
certain holders of the Outstanding 2014 Warrants to cancel and terminate such warrants for total cash consideration of
$14 thousand. As of September 30, 2018, the sole remaining Outstanding 2014 Warrants was exercisable for an
aggregate of 307 shares of common stock.

Warrant Amendment

In May 2018, the Company entered into a warrant amendment agreement with the sole remaining holder of an
Outstanding 2014 Warrant (the “Warrant Amendment”). The warrant holder received cash compensation of $19
thousand and a two year extension of warrant term in exchange for the removal of all anti-dilution provisions except
those for stock splits, reverse splits or stock dividends. As a result of the amendment, the Company reclassified the
remaining 2014 warrants valued at $1 thousand to stockholders’ equity (see Note 12).

In September 2018, the Company entered into the Ladenburg Warrant Amendment. As a result of the Ladenburg
Warrant Amendment, the Company reclassified the 2018 Warrants valued at $14.7 million to stockholders’ equity (see
Note 12).
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12. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The warrants issued in connection with the Company’s 2018 underwritten public offering had provisions that
precluded the Company from classifying them as equity instruments (See Note 11). Accordingly, these warrants had
been accounted for as derivative warrant liabilities. The Company used the Black-Scholes model and assumptions that
considered, among other factors, the fair value of the underlying stock, risk-free interest rate, volatility, expected life,
and dividend rates in estimating fair value for these warrants.

At inception the fair value of the Series B pre-funded warrants was estimated at $11.5 million using a Black-Scholes
model with the following assumptions: expected volatility of 202.51%, risk free interest rate of 2.95%, expected life
of 20 years and no dividends.

At inception the fair value of the Series A warrants was estimated at $13.7 million using a Black-Scholes model with
the following assumptions: expected volatility of 202.51%, risk free interest rate of 2.75%, expected life of 5 years
and no dividends.

The Company allocated $13.2 million of the net proceeds to record the relative fair value of the warrant liability, with
the remaining amount of $286 thousand recorded to permanent equity. The Company subsequently recorded the fair
value of the warrant liability at $25.2 million with the loss of $12 million being recorded as a derivative loss on the
Company’s consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss during the second quarter of 2018.

In September 2018, the Company entered into the Ladenburg Warrant Amendment. The fair value of the amended
2018 Warrants was re-measured immediately prior to the date of the Ladenburg Warrant Amendment with
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changes in fair value recorded as a loss of $764 thousand in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and
$14.7 million was reclassified to equity.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 4,427,084 shares of common
stock upon the exercise of Series B warrants for aggregate proceeds of $44 thousand. The Company reclassified $8.7
million from derivative warrant liability to additional paid-in capital and recorded a derivative loss of $1.2 million in
connection with the warrant exercises. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, the Company issued an
aggregate of 5,478,002 shares of common stock upon the exercise of Series B warrants for aggregate proceeds of $55
thousand. The Company reclassified $10.6 million from derivative warrant liability to additional paid-in capital and
recorded a derivative loss of $1.2 million in connection with the warrant exercises.

The 2014 Warrants issued in connection with the Company’s May 2014 public offering had anti-dilution protection
provisions and, under certain conditions, required the Company to automatically reprice the 2014 Warrants (See Note
11). Accordingly, the 2014 Warrants had been accounted for as derivative warrant liabilities. Through the date of the
warrant exchange (Note 11), the Company used the Binomial Lattice option pricing model and assumptions that
considered, among other factors, the fair value of the underlying stock, risk-free interest rate, volatility, expected life,
and dividend rates in estimating fair value for the 2014 Warrants considered to be derivative instruments.

In May 2018, the Company entered into the Warrant Amendment, which removed provisions that had previously
precluded equity classification treatment of the 2014 Warrants on the Company’s balance sheets. The fair value of the
amended 2014 Warrants was re-measured immediately prior to the date of amendment with changes in fair value
recorded as a loss of $1 thousand in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and $1 thousand was
reclassified to equity.

As of December 31, 2017, the derivative warrant liability was insignificant and was included as a derivative warrant
liability in current liabilities on the balance sheet. Changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments
were recognized in the Company’s consolidated statement of operations as a derivative gain or loss.

The assumptions used principally in determining the fair value of the 2014 Warrants were as follows:
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2014 Warrants
December 31,
2017
Risk free interest rate 1.91 %
Expected dividend yield — %
Contractual term (in years) 1.4
Expected volatility 82 %

The table below presents the changes in the derivative warrant liability during the three-month and nine-month
periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended

September 30,

2018 2017
Balance at June 30, $ 21,469 $ 519
Reduction in derivative liability due to exercise and repurchase of warrants (8,730) —
Reclassification of fair value of derivative liabilities to equity on amendment of warrant
agreements (14,706) —
Increase in derivative liability prior to warrant exchange — 3,029
Reduction in derivative liability due to warrant exchange — (3,537)
Increase in the fair value of warrants 1,967 30
Balance at September 30, $ — $ 41
22
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Balance at December 31,

Issuance of new warrants

Reduction in derivative liability due to exercise and repurchase of warrants
Reclassification of fair value of derivative liabilities to equity on amendment of warrant
agreements

Increase in derivative liability prior to warrant exchange

Reduction in derivative liability due to warrant exchange

Increase (decrease) in the fair value of warrants

Balance at September 30,

13. RESTRUCTURING

Nine Months Ended

September 30,

2018 2017

$ 4 $ 1,314
13,172 —
(10,634) —
(14,707) —
— 3,029
— (3,537)
12,165 (765)

$ — $ 41

In August 2017, the Company implemented a strategic restructuring. In conjunction with the strategic restructuring,
the Company completed a reduction in force eliminating approximately 39% of its workforce.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017, the Company recorded $738 thousand in restructuring
expenses, including employee severance benefits and related costs, as well as a write-off of certain fixed assets. The
Company did not record any restructuring expenses during the three or nine months ended September 30, 2018.

The following table summarizes the restructuring costs by category for the periods indicated (in thousands):
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Three and Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2017

Non-Cash
Cash (D Total
Research and development $ 602 $ 41 $ 643
General and administrative 95 — 95
$ 697 $ 41 $ 738

(1) The non-cash restructuring expenses represent write-offs of certain fixed assets in connection with the
restructuring. The write-offs were recorded as a charge to research and development expense on the statement of

operations.

The following table summarizes the restructuring reserve for the periods indicated (in thousands):

September 30, 2018
Restructuring reserve beginning balance $ 348
Cash restructuring expenses incurred during the period —
Amounts paid during the period (348)
Restructuring reserve ending balance $ —

23

December
31,2017
$ —
857
(509)
$ 348
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14. NET LOSS PER COMMON SHARE

Basic and diluted net loss per share of common stock has been computed by dividing net loss by the weighted average
number of shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income per share of common stock is computed by
dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares outstanding plus the dilutive effect, if any, of
outstanding stock options, warrants and convertible securities. In a net loss period, options, warrants related to the
Company’s May 2014 and June 2018 capital raises, unvested restricted stock units and convertible securities are
anti-dilutive and therefore excluded from diluted loss per share calculations.

For the three-month and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the following potentially dilutive
securities were not included in the computation of net loss per share because the effect would be anti-dilutive:

September 30,

2018 2017
Warrants 8,472,439 111,930
Stock options 42,390 158,920
Unvested restricted stock units 13,250 11,800

8,528,079 282,650

15.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Subsequent to September 30, 2018 and as of November 5, 2018, the Company issued an aggregate of 799,309 shares
of common stock upon the exercise of the warrants associated with the June 2018 underwritten public offering. Upon
exercise, the Company received $77 thousand in cash.
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Item 2.MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS.

The following management’s discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the unaudited consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report and with our historical consolidated financial
statements, and the related notes thereto, included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended

December 31, 2017 (the “2017 Annual Report”). The management’s discussion and analysis contains forward-looking
statements within the meaning of the safe harbor provisions under Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). These statements
include statements made regarding our commercialization strategy, future operations, cash requirements and liquidity,
capital requirements, and other statements on our business plans and strategy, financial position, and market trends. In
some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “might,” “will,” “should,” “believe,” “plan,”
“intend,” “anticipate,” “target,” “estimate,” “expect,” and other similar expressions. These forward-looking statements are subj
to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied
by the forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report, including factors such as our ability to raise substantial
additional capital to finance our planned operations and to continue as a going concern; our ability to execute our
strategy and business plan; our ability to obtain regulatory approvals for our products, including the Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold™; our ability to successfully commercialize our current and future product candidates, including the
Neuro-Spinal Scaffold; the progress and timing of our development programs; market acceptance of our products; our
ability to retain management and other key personnel; our ability to promote, manufacture, and sell our products,

either directly or through collaborative and other arrangements with third parties; and other factors detailed under “Risk
Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date
hereof. We do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances
occurring after the date of this Quarterly Report, except as required by law.

9 EEINT3

99 ¢ 29 ¢

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements,
which we have prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these
financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well as the
reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate such estimates and
judgments, including those described in greater detail below. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

All share amounts presented in this Item 2 give effect to the 1-for-25 reverse stock split of our outstanding shares of
common stock that occurred on April 16, 2018.
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Overview

We are a research and clinical-stage biomaterials and biotechnology company with a focus on treatment of spinal cord
injuries, or SCIs. Our approach to treating acute SCIs is based on our investigational Neuro-Spinal Scaffold™ implant, a
bioresorbable polymer scaffold that is designed for implantation at the site of injury within a spinal cord and is

intended to treat acute SCI. The Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant incorporates intellectual property licensed under an
exclusive, worldwide license from Boston Children’s Hospital and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology. We also
plan to evaluate other technologies and therapeutics that may be complementary to our development of

the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant or offer the potential to bring us closer to our goal of redefining the life of the SCI
patient.

The current standard of care for acute management of spinal cord injuries focuses on preventing further injury to the
spinal cord. However, the current standard of care does not address repair of the spinal cord.

Our Clinical Program

We currently have one clinical development program for the treatment of acute SCI.
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Neuro-Spinal Scaffold Implant for acute SCI

Our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant is an investigational bioresorbable polymer scaffold that is designed for
implantation at the site of injury within a spinal cord. The Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant is intended to promote
appositional, or side-by-side, healing by supporting the surrounding tissue after injury, minimizing expansion of areas
of necrosis, and providing a biomaterial substrate for the body’s own healing/repair processes following injury. We
believe this form of appositional healing may spare white matter, increase neural sprouting, and diminish
post-traumatic cyst formation.

The Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant is composed of two biocompatible and bioresorbable polymers that are cast to
form a highly porous investigational product:

- Poly lactic-co-glycolic acid, a polymer that is widely used in resorbable sutures and provides the biocompatible
support for Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant; and

- Poly-L-Lysine, a positively charged polymer commonly used to coat surfaces in order to promote cellular attachment.

Because of the complexity of SClISs, it is likely that multi-modal therapies will be required to maximize positive
outcomes in SCI patients. In the future, we may attempt to further enhance the performance of our Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant by multiple combination strategies involving electrostimulation devices, additional biomaterials,
drugs approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, or growth factors. We expect the Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant to be regulated by the FDA as a Class III medical device.

Completed Pilot Study

We conducted an early feasibility human pilot study, as the initial phase of a larger pivotal study, of our Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold under our approved Investigational Device Exemption, or IDE, application for the treatment of complete,
traumatic acute SCI. The study was intended to assess the safety and feasibility of the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold for the
treatment of complete thoracic functional SCI, as well as to gather preliminary evidence of the clinical effectiveness of
the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold.

The pilot study was initially approved for five subjects in up to six clinical sites across the United States, and was later
modified to increase the number of allowable clinical sites to up to 20 and to permit enrollment of up to 10 subjects.
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The pilot study was initially staggered such that each patient that met the eligibility criteria would be followed for
three months prior to enrolling the next patient in the study. In December 2014, the FDA approved an expedited
enrollment plan that allowed us to continue enrolling patients more rapidly barring any significant safety issues. We
enrolled five subjects in the pilot study between October 2014 and September 2015. The FDA approved conversion of
this pilot study to a pivotal probable benefit study, which we refer to as The INSPIRE Study, that includes data from
the patients enrolled in the pilot study.

The INSPIRE Study

Our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant has been studied in The INSPIRE Study: the “InVivo Study of Probable Benefit of
the Neuro- Spinal Scaffold for Safety and Neurologic Recovery in Subjects with Complete Thoracic AIS A Spinal
Cord Injury,” under an Investigational Device Exemption, or IDE, application for the treatment of neurologically
complete thoracic traumatic acute SCI. We commenced an FDA-approved pilot study in 2014 that the FDA approved
converting into The INSPIRE Study in January 2016. As of December 31, 2017, we had implanted our Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant in a total of 19 patients in The INSPIRE Study, 16 of whom reached the six-month primary endpoint
visit, and three of whom died. In July 2017, after the third patient death, enrollment of patients in The INSPIRE Study
was placed on hold as we engaged with the FDA to address the patient deaths. We subsequently closed enrollment in
The INSPIRE Study and will follow the remaining active subjects until completion. Following discussions with the
FDA, in March 2018, we received FDA approval for a randomized controlled trial to supplement the existing clinical
evidence for the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant that we obtained from The INSPIRE Study. We refer to this herein as
the INSPIRE 2.0 Study.
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The purpose of The INSPIRE Study, which was the original study, was to evaluate whether the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold
implant is safe and demonstrates probable benefit for the treatment of complete T2-T12 neurological level of injury,
or (NLI), SCI. The primary endpoint was defined as the proportion of patients achieving an improvement of at least
one AIS grade at six months’ post-implantation. Additional endpoints included measurements of pain, sensory and
motor scores, bladder and bowel function, Spinal Cord Independence Measure (a disability scale for patients with
SCI), and quality of life. The INSPIRE Study included an Objective Performance Criterion, or OPC, which is a
measure of study success used in clinical studies designed to demonstrate safety and probable benefit in support of an
Humanitarian Device Exemption, or HDE, approval. At the time enrollment of patients in The INSPIRE Study was
placed on hold, the OPC was defined as 25% or more of the patients in the study demonstrating an improvement of at
least one AIS grade at the six-month post-implantation visit.

The FDA approved the enrollment of up to 30 patients in The INSPIRE Study so that there would be at least 20
evaluable patients at the primary endpoint analysis, accounting for events such as screen failures or deaths that would
prevent a patient from reaching the primary endpoint visit. Of the 19 patients implanted in The INSPIRE Study, 16
patients have reached the six-month primary endpoint visit. Of these 16, seven had improved from complete AIS A
SCI to incomplete SCI (two patients to AIS C and five patients to AIS B) at the six-month primary endpoint visit and
nine had not demonstrated improvement at that visit. Three of the seven patients who improved were assessed to have
AIS B SCI at the six-month primary endpoint and were later assessed to have improved to AIS C SCI at the 12 or
24-month visits. Two of the 16 patients were initially assessed to have improved from complete AIS A SCI to
incomplete AIS B SCI, but each was later assessed to have reverted to complete AIS A SCI prior to the six-month
examination. One of these two was then assessed at the six-month visit to have improved again to AIS B and the other
remained AIS A. Since we have closed enrollment, the target of enrolling 20 evaluable patients into The INSPIRE
Study will not be reached.

The FDA had previously recommended that we include a randomized, concurrent control arm in The INSPIRE
Study. Acting on the FDA’s recommendation, we proposed and received approval for the INSPIRE 2.0 Study
(described below) to supplement the existing clinical evidence for the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant. In addition, as
one source of comparator data, we initiated the Contemporary Thoracic SCI Registry Study, or the CONTEMPO
Registry Study. The CONTEMPO Registry Study utilizes existing databases and registries to develop a historical
comparator that, to the extent possible, matches patients to those patients enrolled in The INSPIRE Study. The
CONTEMPO Registry Study is designed to provide comprehensive natural history benchmarks for The INSPIRE
Study results that include SCI patients with similar baseline characteristics treated since 2006. The CONTEMPO
Registry Study includes data from the Christopher & Dana Reeve Foundation North American Clinical Trials
Network Registry, or NACTN, as well as the Model Systems Registry and the European Multicenter Study about
Spinal Cord Injury, or EMSCI. We have submitted a protocol for the CONTEMPO Registry Study to the FDA and we
announced top-line findings from CONTEMPO in March 2018 from a total of 170 patients from the three registries:
12 individuals from NACTN, 64 from EMSCI, and 94 from the Model Systems Registry. AIS conversion rates at
approximately six months post-injury varied from 16.7% — 23.4% across the three registries. In two of the registries,
there was a skew of the patient population to low (T10-T12) thoracic injuries, representing 46-47% of the registry
population. This compares to just four out of sixteen patients (25%) in follow-up in the INSPIRE study with low
thoracic injuries. Patients with low thoracic injuries are known to have the best prognoses, and the conversion rates
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were the highest in the low thoracic group in all three registries and the INSPIRE study. When all three registries were
normalized to the INSPIRE patient population distribution across T2-T5, T6-T9 and T10-T12 injury groups, the
normalized conversion rate for CONTEMPO registries ranged from 15.5%-20.6%. We cannot be certain what
additional information or studies will be required by the FDA to approve our HDE submission.

INSPIRE 2.0 Study

Our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant has been approved to be studied under our approved IDE in the INPSIRE 2.0
Study, which is titled the “Randomized, Controlled, Single-blind Study of Probable Benefit of the Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold™ for Safety and Neurologic Recovery in Subjects with Complete Thoracic AIS A Spinal Cord Injury as
Compared to Standard of Care.” The purpose of the INSPIRE 2.0 Study is to assess the overall safety and probable
benefit of the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold for the treatment of neurologically complete thoracic traumatic acute SCI. The
INSPIRE 2.0 Study is designed enroll 10 subjects into each of the two study arms, which we refer to as the Scaffold
Arm and the Comparator Arm. Patients in the Comparator Arm will receive the standard of care, which is spinal
stabilization without dural opening or myelotomy. The INSPIRE 2.0 Study is a single blind study, meaning that the
patients and

27

129



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

assessors are blinded to treatment assignments. The FDA approved the enrollment of up to 35 patients in this study so
that there would be at least 20 evaluable patients (10 in each study arm) at the primary endpoint analysis, accounting
for events such as screen failures or deaths that would prevent a patient from reaching the primary endpoint visit. We
expect to conduct the INSPIRE 2.0 Study at up to 25 sites in the United States. Enrolling patients in the INSPIRE 2.0
Study will also require the approvals of the institutional review boards, or IRBs, at each clinical site. We estimate that
from study initiation, enrollment will take approximately 18 months, and the total time to completion of the INSPIRE
2.0 Study is estimated to be two years from study initiation. We are in the process of initiating the INSPIRE 2.0 Study,
and subject to successful IRB approvals, we anticipate that the first patient in the INSPIRE 2.0 Study will be enrolled
in the fourth quarter of 2018.

The primary endpoint is defined as the proportion of patients achieving an improvement of at least one AIS grade at
six months post-implantation. Assessments of AIS grade are at hospital discharge, three months, six months, 12
months and 24 months. The definition of study success for INSPIRE 2.0 is that the difference in the proportion of
subjects who demonstrate an improvement of at least one grade on AIS assessment at the six-month primary endpoint
follow-up visit between the Scaffold Arm and the Comparator Arm must be equal to or greater than 20%. In one
example, if 50% of subjects in the Scaffold Arm have an improvement of AIS grade at the six-month primary
endpoint and 30% of subjects in the Comparator Arm have an improvement, then the difference in the proportion of
subjects who demonstrated an improvement is equal to 20% (50% minus 30% equals 20%) and the definition of study
success would be met. In another example, if 40% of subjects in the Scaffold Arm have an improvement of AIS grade
at the six-month primary endpoint and 30% of subjects in the Comparator Arm have an improvement, then the
difference in the proportion of subjects who demonstrated an improvement is equal to 10% (40% minus 30% equals
10%) and the definition of study success would not be met. Additional endpoints include measurements of changes in
NLI, sensory levels and motor scores, bladder, bowel and sexual function, pain, Spinal Cord Independence Measure,
and quality of life.

Although The INSPIRE Study is structured with the OPC as the primary component for demonstrating probable
benefit, the OPC is not the only variable that the FDA would evaluate when reviewing a future HDE application.
Similarly, while our INSPIRE 2.0 Study is structured with a definition of study success requiring a minimum
difference between study arms in the proportion of subjects achieving improvement, that success definition is not the
only factor that the FDA would evaluate in the future HDE application. Approval is not guaranteed if the OPC is met
for The INSPIRE Study or the definition of study success is met for the INSPIRE 2.0 Study, and even if the OPC or
definition of study success are not met, the FDA may approve a medical device if probable benefit is supported by a
comprehensive review of all clinical endpoints and preclinical results, as demonstrated by the sponsor’s body of
evidence.

In 2016, the FDA accepted our proposed HDE modular shell submission and review process for the Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant. The HDE modular shell is comprised of three modules: a preclinical studies module, a
manufacturing module, and a clinical data module. As part of its review process, the FDA reviews each module,
which are individual sections of the HDE submission, on a rolling basis. Following the submission of each module,
the FDA reviews and provides feedback, typically within 90 days, allowing the applicant to receive feedback and
potentially resolve any deficiencies during the review process. Upon receipt of all three modules, which constitutes
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the complete HDE submission, the FDA makes a filing decision that may trigger the review clock for an approval
decision. We submitted the first module in March 2017 and received feedback in June 2017. We plan to submit an
updated clinical module in the fourth quarter of 2019. The HDE submission will not be complete until the
manufacturing and clinical modules are also submitted.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates
and assumptions and, in connection therewith, adopt certain accounting policies that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments for all assets and liabilities, stock-based compensation
expense, and the fair value determined for stock purchase warrants classified as derivative liabilities. We base our
estimates and judgments on historical experience, current economic and industry conditions, and on various
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other factors that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Such factors form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. There have been no changes in our
critical accounting policies and estimates from the disclosure provided in our 2017 Annual Report.

We believe that full consideration has been given to all relevant circumstances that we may be subject to, and the
consolidated financial statements accurately reflect our best estimate of the results of operations, financial position,
and cash flows for the periods presented.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consisted primarily of expenses related to contract research organizations and
clinical sites, professional services, and payroll. Research and development expenses for the three months ended
September 30, 2018 were $0.9 million, a decrease of $2.0 million compared to the three months ended September 30,
2017. The decrease in research and development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018, is
attributable to a decrease in compensation related expenses and stock compensation expense of $1.1 million and $0.1
million respectively, driven by the restructuring activities from 2017, a decrease in clinical trial costs and consulting
cost of $0.2 million and $0.1 million respectively, due to The INSPIRE Study being placed on hold, a decrease in
legal costs of $0.2 million, a decrease in administrative and operating costs of $0.1 million as a result of cost cutting
measures initiated by the Company in 2018, a decrease in depreciation expense of $0.1 million, a decrease in
recruiting costs $0.1 million and a decrease in facilities and rent expense of $0.1 million as a result of the as a result of
the assignment of the commercial lease for our office, laboratory and manufacturing space in Cambridge,
Massachusetts, which we refer to as the Cambridge Lease.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consisted primarily of payroll, rent, and professional services. General and
administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 were $1.2 million, a decrease of $2.2 million
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease in general and administrative expenses for the
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three months ended September 30, 2018 is attributable to a decrease in stock compensation and compensation related
expense of $0.9 million and $0.7 million respectively, driven by the restructuring activities from 2017, a decrease in
legal fees of $0.5 million and a decrease in facilities and rent expenses of $0.2 million as a result of the assignment of
the Cambridge Lease. These decreases were offset by an increase in consulting expenses of $0.2 million.

Other Income and Expense

Other expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 was a loss of $1.1 million, which was comprised of
derivative loss of $2.0 million, other income of $0.8 million primarily made up of a settlement agreement with a
former vendor, interest income of $81 thousand and interest expense of $10 thousand. Other expenses for the three
months ending September 30, 2017 was a loss of $3.0 million, which was comprised of interest income of $43
thousand, interest expense of $18 thousand, and a derivative loss of $3.1 million due primarily to the impact of the
August 2017 warrant exchange.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 were $3.4 million, a decrease of
$6.2 million compared to the nine months ended 2017. The decrease in research and development expenses for the
nine months ended September 30, 2018 is attributable to a decrease in compensation related expenses and stock
compensation expenses of $2.2 million and $0.8 million respectively, driven by the restructuring activities from 2017,
a decrease in clinical trial and consulting costs of $0.9 million and $0.7 million respectively, due to The INSPIRE
Study
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being placed on hold, a decrease in facilities and rent expense of $0.4 million as a result of the Cambridge lease
assignment, a decrease in administrative and operating costs of $0.3 million as a result of cost cutting measures
initiated by the Company in 2018, a decrease in depreciation expense of $0.2 million, a decrease in recruiting costs of
$0.2 million, a decrease in legal fees of $0.2 million and a decrease in travel related expenses of $0.2 million.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 were $6.4 million, a decrease of
$4.0 million compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The decrease in general and administrative
expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 is attributable to a decrease in stock compensation and
compensation related expenses of $2.3 million and $0.7 million respectively, driven by the restructuring activities
from 2017, a decrease in facilities and rent expenses of $0.5 million as a result of the Cambridge lease assignment, a
decrease in legal fees of $0.3 million, a decrease in travel related expenses of $0.2 million and a decrease in
depreciation expense of $0.1 million. These decreases were offset by an increase in consulting expenses of $0.2
million

Other Income and Expense

Other expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was in a loss of $11.1 million, which was comprised of
derivative loss of $12.2 million, other income of $0.9 million primarily made up of a settlement agreement with a
former vendor, interest income of $159 thousand and interest expense of $36 thousand. Other expenses for the nine
months ended September 30, 2017 was a loss of $2.2 million, which was comprised of interest income of $152
thousand, interest expense of $58 thousand, and a derivative loss of $2.3 million due to the impact of the August 2017
warrant exchange and the change in the fair value of the warrant liability since December 31, 2016.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since inception, we have devoted substantially all of our efforts to business planning, research and development,
recruiting management and technical staff, acquiring operating assets, and raising capital. At September 30, 2018, our
accumulated deficit was $204.8 million. Since our inception, we have historically financed our operations primarily
through the sale of equity related securities.
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At September 30, 2018, we had total assets of $21.5 million, total liabilities of $3.0 million, and total stockholders’
equity of $18 million. For the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded a net loss of $20.9 million. We
have not achieved profitability and may not be able to realize sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain profitability in
the future. We do not expect to be profitable in the next several years, but rather expect to incur additional operating
losses. The financing we closed in June 2018, described in more detail below, provided necessary funding to fund
operations for at least the next twelve months. We have limited liquidity and capital resources and must obtain
significant additional capital resources in order to fund our operations and sustain our product development efforts, for
acquisition of technologies and intellectual property rights, for preclinical and clinical testing of our anticipated
products, pursuit of regulatory approvals, acquisition of capital equipment, laboratory and office facilities,
establishment of production capabilities, for selling, general and administrative expenses and for other working capital
requirements. We also expect that we will need to raise additional capital through a combination of equity offerings,
debt financings, other third party funding, marketing and distribution arrangements and other collaborations, strategic
alliances and licensing arrangements.

Financings Transactions

In June 2018, we closed an underwritten public offering of an aggregate of 1,378,400 Common Units, at an offering
price of $2.00 each, each comprised of one share of our common stock, par value $0.00001 per share and one Series A
warrant to purchase one share of common stock. The public offering also included 6,242,811 pre-funded units at an
offering price of $1.99 each, each comprised of one pre-funded Series B Warrant and one Series A warrant to
purchase one share of common stock. Each Series A warrant has an exercise price of $2.00 per share, exercisable
immediately from the date of issuance and expires five years from the date of issuance. Each Series B warrant has an
exercise price of $0.01 per share, exercisable immediately from the date of issuance and expires twenty years from the
date of issuance. The net proceeds to us, after deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and other
offering
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expenses, were $13.5 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we issued an aggregate of
5,478,002 shares of common stock upon the exercise of Series B warrants for aggregate proceeds of $55 thousand.

In September 2018, we entered into the Ladenburg Warrant Amendment with Continental that amends the Warrant
Agency Agreement and the 2018 Warrants. See Notes 9,11 and 12 to our Consolidated Financial Statements in Item1
of this report for more information about the Ladenburg Warrant Amendment.

In January 2018, we entered into a purchase and a registration rights agreement with Lincoln Park Capital Fund, LLC,
which we refer to as Lincoln Park, under which we have the right to sell up to $15 million in shares of our common
stock to Lincoln Park over a twenty-four-month period, subject to certain limitations and conditions set forth in the
purchase agreement and registration rights agreement. On May 30, 2018 at our Annual Meeting of Stockholders, our
stockholders approved an increase to the number of shares of common stock available for issuance and sale by us to
Lincoln Park, including our prior issuances and sales of shares of common stock to Lincoln Park since January 2018,
up to 1,200,000 shares of common stock. In accordance with the terms of the purchase agreement, at the time we
signed the purchase agreement and the registration rights agreement, we issued 17,192 shares to Lincoln Park as
consideration for its commitment to purchase shares of our common stock under the purchase agreement and recorded
$627 thousand in deferred offering costs. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 we sold an aggregate of
256,804 shares to Lincoln Park, for aggregate proceeds of $3.1 million net of issuance costs.

On August 10, 2017, we entered into exchange agreements with certain holders of warrants dated May 9, 2014, which
we refer to as the 2014 Warrants. Pursuant to the exchange agreements, certain of the 2014 Warrants were exchanged
for shares of common stock equivalent to 3.5 times the number of shares of common stock issuable to such holders
upon exercise, at the $96.75 exercise price under the warrants as of the date of the exchanges. We issued an aggregate
of 80,857 shares of common stock to the participating warrant holders in exchange for their 2014 Warrants for the
purchase of an aggregate of 23,102 shares of common stock. We subsequently cancelled and terminated those 2014
Warrants exchanged in this transaction. Following the warrant exchange, there were additional 2014 Warrants to
purchase shares of common stock that remained outstanding, which we refer to as the Outstanding 2014 Warrants. As
a result of our issuance of common stock in exchange for certain of the 2014 Warrants, the exercise price of the
Outstanding 2014 Warrants was adjusted downwards from $96.75 per share to $20.75 per share and additional
warrants were issued such that the Outstanding 2014 Warrants were exercisable for an aggregate of 1,941 shares of
common stock. The Outstanding 2014 Warrants were subject to further adjustment in the event of sales of our
common stock at a price per share less than the exercise price of the Outstanding 2014 Warrants then in effect (or
securities convertible or exercisable into common stock at a conversion or exercise price less than the exercise price
then in effect). In the fourth quarter of 2017, we entered into warrant cancellation agreements with certain remaining
holders of the Outstanding 2014 Warrants to cancel and terminate such warrants for total cash consideration of $40
thousand. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we entered into warrant cancellation agreements with
certain remaining holders of the Outstanding 2014 Warrants to cancel and terminate such warrants for total cash
consideration of $14 thousand. As of September 30, 2018, the remaining Outstanding 2014 Warrants were exercisable
for an aggregate of 307 shares of common stock.
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In May 2018, we assigned the Cambridge Lease to a third party, who assumed from us all of our remaining rights and
obligations under the lease. Concurrently with the lease assignment, we entered into a sublease for 5,104 square feet
of the space, originally part of the Cambridge Lease, from the third party to which we assigned the lease. The sublease
ends on October 31, 2023 and contains rent holidays and rent escalation clauses. In order to obtain the consent of our
lender for these facility changes and the sale of certain assets, we repaid $300 thousand of principal on our loan and
recorded an impairment charge of $48 thousand. For more information, see Note 7 and Note 8 to the notes to our
Consolidated Financial Statements in Item 1 of this report.

Cashflows

Net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $9.3 million, as compared to
net cash used in operating activities of $15.6 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2017. The change in
net cash used in operating activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 as compared to the same period in
the prior year was primarily due to an decrease in our net loss of $1.2 million, an increase in the change in
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derivative loss of $10 million, a decrease in share-based compensation expense of $3.1 million, a decrease in the
change in other assets of $866 thousand, a gain on lease assignment of $603 thousand and a decrease in depreciation
and amortization expense of $312 thousand.

Net cash used in investing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $65 thousand attributable to
purchases of capital equipment. This compares to net cash from in investing activities for the nine months ended
September 30, 2017 of $10.8 million attributable to sales of marketable securities of $19.1 million offset by purchases
of marketable securities of $8.3 million.

Net cash provided by financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 was $15.9 million consisting
primarily of $16.5 million in proceeds from the issuance of common stock associated with the June 2018 underwritten
public offering and the Lincoln Park financing agreement, offset by $636 thousand in loan repayments. This compares
to net cash of $238 thousand used in financing activities for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 which
consists of proceeds from the exercise of a stock option and Employee Stock Purchase Plan issuances of $77
thousand, offset in part by loan repayments of $315 thousand.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a current or future
material effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations,
liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.

Contractual Obligations

As of September 30, 2018, there were no material changes to our contractual obligations and commitments described
under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in the 2017 Annual
Report.

Item 3.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.
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We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates which could affect our operating results, financial
position, and cash flows. We manage our exposure to these market risks through our regular operating and financing
activities. We do not use derivative financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes. For a discussion of our
market risk exposure, refer to Item 7A, “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,” in our 2017
Annual Report. As of September 30, 2018, there were no material changes in our exposure to market risk compared to
December 31, 2017.

Item 4.Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of September 30, 2018. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the
time periods specified in the rules and forms promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and
procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their
objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible
controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of
September 30, 2018, the Company’s chief
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executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of such date, the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended
September 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control
over financial reporting.

PART II-—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Certain factors may have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. You
should consider carefully the risks and uncertainties described below, in addition to other information contained in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q, including our consolidated financial statements and related notes. The risks and
uncertainties described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of,
or that we currently believe are not material, may also become important factors that adversely affect our business. If
any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, results of operations, and future prospects
could be materially and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position and Need for Additional Capital

We have a limited operating history and have incurred significant losses since our inception.

We have incurred net losses each year since our inception, including net losses of $20.9 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2018. As of September 30, 2018, we had an accumulated deficit of $204.8 million. We have a
limited operating history on which to base an evaluation of our business and investors should consider the risks and
difficulties frequently encountered by early-stage companies in new and rapidly evolving markets, particularly
companies engaged in the development of medical devices. To date, we have not commercialized any products or
generated any revenues from the sale of products, and we do not expect to generate any product revenues in the
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foreseeable future. We do not know whether or when we will generate revenue or become profitable. Moreover, we
may allocate significant amounts of capital towards products and technologies for which market demand is lower than
anticipated and, as a result, may not achieve expectations or may elect to abandon such efforts.

We have devoted most of our financial resources to research and development, including our clinical and preclinical
development activities related to our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant. Overall, we expect our research and development
expenses to be substantial and to increase for the foreseeable future as we continue the development and clinical
investigation of our current and future products. We expect that it could be several years, if ever, before we have a
product candidate ready for commercialization. Even if we obtain regulatory approval to market our Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant or other products, our future revenues will depend upon the size of any markets in which our
products have received approval, our ability to achieve sufficient market acceptance, reimbursement from third-party
payers, and other factors.

We anticipate that we will continue to incur substantial losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or
maintain profitability.

We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and increasing net losses for at least the next several years. We
expect our expenses will increase substantially in connection with our ongoing activities, as we:

continue clinical development of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant;

initiate or restart the research and development of other product candidates;

have our product candidates manufactured for clinical trials and for commercial sale;
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- establish a sales, marketing, and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain
marketing approval;

maintain, protect, and expand our intellectual property portfolio; and

continue our research and development efforts for new product opportunities.

To become and remain profitable, we must succeed in developing and commercializing our product candidates with
significant market potential. This will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including
completing preclinical testing and clinical trials of our current and future product candidates, developing additional
product candidates, obtaining regulatory approval for these product candidates, and manufacturing, marketing, and
selling any products for which we may obtain regulatory approval. We are only in the initial stages of most of these
activities. We may never succeed in these activities and, even if we do, may never generate revenues that are
significant enough to achieve profitability.

Even if we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual
basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable could depress the value of our company and could impair our
ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development efforts, diversify our product
offerings, or even continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could cause you to lose all or part of
your investment.

We will need additional funding in the future. In the future, if we are unable to raise capital when needed, we could
be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate our product development programs or commercialization efforts.

We expect our expenses will increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we conduct our
INSPIRE 2.0 Study, and as we seek regulatory approval for our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant. In addition, if we
obtain regulatory approval for any of our current or future product candidates, we expect to incur significant
commercialization expenses related to manufacturing, marketing, sales, and distribution. Accordingly, we will need to
obtain substantial additional funding in connection with our continuing operations. If we are unable to raise capital
when needed or on attractive terms, we could be forced to delay, reduce, or eliminate our research and development
programs or any future commercialization efforts.

Our future funding requirements, both near and long term, will depend on many factors, including, but not limited to:
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- the scope, progress, results, and costs of preclinical development, laboratory testing, and clinical trials for
our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant and any other product candidates that we may develop or acquire, including our
INSPIRE 2.0 Study;

- future clinical trial results of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant;

- the timing of, and the costs involved in, obtaining regulatory approvals for the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant, and
the outcome of regulatory review of the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant;

- the cost and timing of future commercialization activities for our products if any of our product candidates are
approved for marketing, including product manufacturing, marketing, sales, and distribution costs;

- the revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates for which we receive marketing
approval;

- the cost of having our product candidates manufactured for clinical trials in preparation for regulatory approval and
in preparation for commercialization;

- the cost and delays in product development as a result of any changes in regulatory oversight applicable to our
product candidates;
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- our ability to establish and maintain strategic collaborations, licensing, or other arrangements and the financial
terms of such agreements;

the cost and timing of establishing sales, marketing, and distribution capabilities;

- the costs involved in preparing, filing, prosecuting, maintaining, defending, and enforcing our intellectual property
portfolio;

the efforts and activities of competitors and potential competitors;

the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products, and technologies.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting preclinical testing and clinical trials is a time-consuming,
expensive, and uncertain process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results
required to obtain regulatory approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product candidates, if approved, may
not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of products that we do
not expect to be commercially available for several years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely on
additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on
acceptable terms, or at all.

Our independent registered public accounting firm expressed substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going
concern in its report dated March 12, 2018 included in our Form 10-K as filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, or the SEC, on March 12, 2018. Although we completed a public offering of shares of our common
stock and warrants to purchase shares of our common stock in June 2018 which resulted in net proceeds to us, after
deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and other offering expenses, of $13.5 million, if we are not
successful in raising additional capital, we may not be able to continue as a going concern.

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict our operations, or require us to
relinquish rights to our product candidates on unfavorable terms to us.

Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial product revenues, we expect to finance our cash needs through
a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, and other third party funding alternatives including license and
collaboration agreements. To raise additional capital or pursue strategic transactions, we may in the future sell
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additional shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or exchangeable for our common stock,
which will dilute the ownership interest of our current stockholders, and the terms of these securities may include
liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect the rights of our current stockholders. If we raise additional funds
through collaborations, strategic alliances, or marketing, distribution, or licensing arrangements with third parties, we
may have to relinquish valuable rights to our product candidates, future revenue streams or research programs, or
grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us or that may reduce the value of our common stock. If we are
unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce, or terminate our product
development or commercialization efforts for our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant or any other product candidates that
we develop or acquire.

The recently passed comprehensive tax reform bill could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law new legislation that significantly revises the Code. The
newly enacted federal income tax law, among other things, contains significant changes to corporate taxation,
including reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, limitation of the tax
deduction for net interest expense to 30% of adjusted earnings (except for certain small businesses), limitation of the
deduction for net operating losses, or NOLs to 80% of current year taxable income and elimination of NOL
carrybacks, in each case, for losses arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 (though any such
NOLSs may be carried forward indefinitely), one time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of
whether they are repatriated, elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings (subject to certain important exceptions),
immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation expense over time, and
modifying or repealing many
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business deductions and credits. Notwithstanding the reduction in the corporate income tax rate, the overall impact of
the new federal tax law is uncertain and our business and financial condition could be adversely affected. In addition,
it is uncertain how various states will respond to the newly enacted federal tax law. The impact of this tax reform on
holders of our common stock is also uncertain and could be adverse. We urge our stockholders to consult with their
legal and tax advisors with respect to this legislation and the potential tax consequences of investing in or holding our
common stock.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards may be limited.

We have generated significant net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, and research and development tax credits,
or R&D credits, as a result of our incurrence of losses and our conduct of research activities since inception. We
generally are able to carry NOLs and R&D credits forward to reduce our tax liability in future years. Federal NOLs
generated on or before December 31, 2017 can generally be carried back two years and carried forward for up to
twenty years and can be applied to offset 100% of taxable income in such years. Under newly enacted federal income
tax law, however, federal NOLs incurred in 2018 and in future years may be carried forward indefinitely, but may not
be carried back and the deductibility of such federal NOLs is limited to 80% of taxable income in such years. It is
uncertain how various states will respond to the newly enacted federal tax law.

In addition, our ability to utilize the NOLs and R&D credits is subject to the rules of Sections 382 and 383,
respectively, of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which we refer to as the Code. Those sections
generally restrict the use of NOLs and R&D credits after an “ownership change.” An ownership change occurs if,,
among other things, the stockholders (or specified groups of stockholders) who own or have owned, directly or
indirectly, 5% or more of a corporation’s common stock or are otherwise treated as 5% stockholders under Section 382
of the Code and the United States Treasury Department regulations promulgated thereunder increase their aggregate
percentage ownership of that corporation’s stock by more than 50 percentage points over the lowest percentage of the
stock owned by these stockholders over the applicable testing period. In the event of an ownership change,

Section 382 imposes an annual limitation on the amount of taxable income a corporation may offset with NOL
carryforwards and Section 383 imposes an annual limitation on the amount of tax a corporation may offset with
business credit (including the R&D credit) carryforwards. Any unused annual limitation may be carried over to later
years until the applicable expiration date for the respective NOL or R&D credit carryforwards. We have completed
several financings since our inception, which may have resulted in a change in control as defined by Sections 382 and
383 of the Code, or could result in a change in control in the future, but we have not completed an analysis of whether
a limitation as noted above exists. We have not performed a Section 382 study yet, but we will complete an
appropriate analysis before our tax attributes are utilized.
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Acquisitions of companies, businesses, or technologies may substantially dilute our stockholders and increase our
operating losses.

We continue to actively evaluate business partnerships and acquisitions of businesses, technologies, or intellectual
property rights that we believe would be necessary, useful, or complementary to our current business. Any such
acquisition may require assimilation of the operations, products or product candidates, and personnel of the acquired
business and the training and integration of its employees, and could substantially increase our operating costs,
without any offsetting increase in revenue. We may also acquire the right to use certain intellectual property through
licensing agreements, which could substantially increase our operating costs. Acquisitions and licensing agreements
may not provide the intended technological, scientific or business benefits and could disrupt our operations and divert
our limited resources and management’s attention from our current operations, which could harm our existing product
development efforts. While we may use cash or equity to finance a future acquisition or licensing agreement, it is
likely we would issue equity securities as a significant portion or all of the consideration in any acquisition. The
issuance of equity securities for an acquisition could be substantially dilutive to our stockholders. Any investment
made in, or funds advanced to, a potential acquisition target could also significantly, adversely affect our results of
operations and could further reduce our limited capital resources. Any acquisition or action taken in anticipation of a
potential acquisition or other change in business activities could substantially depress the price of our stock. In
addition, our results of operations may suffer because of acquisition related costs, or the post-acquisition costs of
funding the development of an acquired technology or product candidates or operations of the acquired business, or
due to amortization or impairment costs for acquired goodwill and other intangible assets.

Risks Related to the Development, Regulatory Approval, and Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

We are wholly dependent on the success of one product candidate, the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant. Even if we are
able to complete clinical development and obtain favorable clinical results, we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approval for, or successfully commercialize, our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant.

We currently have only one product candidate, the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant, in clinical development, and our
business depends almost entirely on the successful clinical development, regulatory approval, and commercialization
of that product candidate, which may never occur. We currently have no products available for sale, generate no
revenues from sales of any products, and we may never be able to develop marketable products. Our Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant will require substantial additional clinical development, testing, manufacturing process development,
and regulatory approval before we are permitted to commence its commercialization. Before obtaining regulatory
approval via the Humanitarian Device Exemption, HDE pathway for the commercial sale of any product candidate,
we must demonstrate through extensive preclinical testing and clinical trials that the product candidate does not pose
an unreasonable or significant risk of illness or injury, and that the probable benefit to health outweighs the risk of
injury or illness from its use, taking into account the probable risks and benefits of currently available devices or
alternative forms of treatment. Alternatively, if we were to seek pre-market approval, or PMA, for our product
candidate, that would require demonstration that the product is safe and effective for use in each target indication.
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This process can take many years. Of the large number of medical devices in development in the United States, only a
small percentage successfully complete the regulatory approval process required by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration, or the FDA, and are commercialized. Accordingly, even if we are able to obtain the requisite capital
to continue to fund our development and clinical programs, we may be unable to successfully develop or
commercialize our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant or any other product candidate.

The clinical trials of any of our current or future product candidates are, and the manufacturing and marketing of any
such product candidates will be, subject to extensive and rigorous review and regulation by the FDA and other
government authorities in the United States and in other countries where we intend to test and, if approved, market
such product candidates.

We have experienced delays and may experience further delays in our clinical development of our Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant. Clinical trials for future product candidates may also experience delays or may not be able to
commence.

Before we can obtain regulatory approval for the sale of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant, we must complete the
clinical studies that are required. In July 2017, The INSPIRE Study of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant was placed
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on hold following the third patient death in the trial. We subsequently closed enrollment in The INSPIRE Study and
will follow the active patients until completion. We have proposed, and the FDA has approved the INSPIRE 2.0
Study. We may not be able to pursue the currently defined clinical path forward successfully, or in a timely manner or
that is aligned with our cash resources. The INSPIRE 2.0 Study may not be successfully completed or may take
longer than anticipated because of any number of factors, including potential delays in the enrollment of subjects in
the study, the availability of scaffold implants to supply to our clinical sites, failure to demonstrate safety and probable
benefit of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant, lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial, or unforeseen
safety issues. Enrolling patients the INSPIRE 2.0 Study and any other clinical trial of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold
implant will also require the approval of the institutional review boards, or IRBs at each clinical site.

In addition, our results may subsequently fail to meet the safety and probable benefit standards required to obtain
regulatory approvals. For example, in The INSPIRE Study, two of the 16 evaluable patients were initially assessed to
have improved from complete AIS A SCI to incomplete AIS B SCI, but each was later assessed to have reverted to
complete AIS A SCI prior to the patient’s six-month examination. Of these two patients, one patient had converted
back to AIS B and the other remained at AIS A at the six-month examination. There is known and published
variability in some of the measures used to assess AIS improvement and these measures can vary over time or
depending upon the examiner. While we implemented procedures in The INSPIRE Study and the INSPIRE 2.0 Study,
and will also implement procedures in any future clinical study to limit such variations, we cannot be certain that
regulatory authorities will accept the results of our clinical trials or interpret them the way that we do.

In addition, clinical trials can be delayed or aborted for a variety of reasons, including delay or failure to:

- obtain regulatory approval to commence future clinical trials;

- reach agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial
sites, the terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs
and trial sites;

- obtain IRB approval at each site;

- recruit, enroll, and retain patients through the completion of clinical trials;

maintain clinical sites in compliance with trial protocols through the completion of clinical
trials;

- address patient safety concerns that arise during the course of the trial;

149



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

initiate or add a sufficient number of clinical trial sites; or

manufacture sufficient quantities of our product candidate for use in clinical trials.

We could encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated by us, by the relevant IRB at the sites at which
such trials are being conducted, by the Data Safety Monitoring Board for such trial, or by the FDA or other regulatory
authorities. Such authorities may suspend or terminate a clinical trial due to a number of factors, including failure to
conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or our clinical protocols, a problematic inspection
of the clinical trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse events, or changes in laws or regulations. In addition, regulatory
agencies may require an audit with respect to the conduct of a clinical trial, which could cause further delays or
increase costs. For example, in December 2017, we and several of our clinical sites and our CRO were subject to an
FDA inspection in association with The INSPIRE Study. At the close of the inspection at InVivo, the FDA issued a
Form 483 with two observations relating to our oversight of clinical trial sites in The INSPIRE Study. We sought, and
will continue to seek, input from the FDA regarding the scope and timing of our proposed remediation efforts and the
FDA has indicated that our corrective actions appear adequate. We cannot be certain that we will not be subject to
additional regulatory action by the FDA. We anticipate that our remediation efforts will add costs to our clinical
development plans. Any delays in completing our clinical trials will increase our costs, slow down our product
candidate development and regulatory review process, and jeopardize our ability to obtain approval and commence
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product sales and generate revenues. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, financial condition, and
prospects significantly.

We may find it difficult to enroll patients in our clinical studies, which could delay or prevent clinical studies of our
product candidates.

Identifying and qualifying patients to participate in clinical studies of our product candidates is critical to our success.
The timing of our clinical studies depends on the speed at which we can enroll patients to participate in testing our
product candidates. If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient number of patients to conduct our clinical studies as
planned, we may need to delay, limit, or terminate ongoing or planned clinical studies, any of which would have an
adverse effect on our business.

Patient enrollment is affected by a number of factors including:

severity of the disease, injury, or condition under investigation;

design of the study protocol;

size and nature of the patient population;

eligibility criteria for and design of the study in question;

perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

proximity and availability of clinical study sites for prospective patients;

availability of competing therapies and clinical studies;

efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical studies;

patient referral practices of physicians; and

151



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

- ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment.

For a period in 2016, as a result of an FDA pre-specified enrollment hold, we were unable to enroll patients in The
INSPIRE Study pending FDA authorization to proceed with additional enrollment, which delayed our ability to open
new sites and enroll patients at the pace we had anticipated. In addition, in July 2017 we halted enrollment in the
study, and subsequently closed enrollment in the study. We may experience similar delays with our INSPIRE 2.0
Study. We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical studies if we cannot enroll a sufficient number of eligible
patients to participate in the clinical studies required by regulatory agencies. If we have difficulty enrolling a sufficient
number of patients to conduct our clinical studies as planned, we may need to delay, limit, or terminate ongoing or
planned clinical studies, any of which would have an adverse effect on our business.

Clinical trials involve a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, and results of earlier nonclinical
studies and clinical trials may not be predictive of future trial results.

The results of preclinical studies and early clinical trials of new medical devices do not necessarily predict the results
of later-stage clinical trials. The design of our clinical trials is based on many assumptions about the expected effects
of our product candidates, and if those assumptions are incorrect, the trials may not produce results to support
regulatory approval. We are currently pursuing marketing approval via the HDE regulatory pathway which requires us
to show the device does not pose an unreasonable or significant risk of illness or injury, and that the probable benefit
of health outweighs the risk of injury or illness from its use. Preliminary results may not be confirmed upon full
analysis of the detailed results of an early clinical trial. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development may
fail to show safety and probable benefit sufficient to support intended use claims despite having progressed through
initial clinical testing. The data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to obtain
regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere. It is also possible that patients enrolled in clinical trials will
experience
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adverse events or unpleasant side effects that are not currently part of the product candidate’s profile. Because of the
uncertainties associated with clinical development and regulatory approval, we cannot determine if or when we will
have an approved product ready for commercialization or achieve sales or profits.

We must obtain FDA approval before we can sell any of our products in the United States and approval of similar
regulatory authorities in countries outside the United States before we can sell our products in such countries. We may
incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and
commercialization of our products if such approval is denied or delayed.

The development, manufacture, and marketing of our products are subject to government regulation in the United
States and other countries. In the United States and most foreign countries, we must complete rigorous preclinical
testing and extensive human clinical trials that demonstrate the safety and efficacy of a product in order to apply for
regulatory approval to market the product. If the FDA grants regulatory approval of a product, the approval may be
limited to specific indications or limited with respect to its distribution. Expanded or additional indications for
approved devices may not be approved, which could limit our potential revenues. Foreign regulatory authorities may
apply similar or additional limitations or may refuse to grant any approval. Consequently, even if we believe that
preclinical and clinical data are sufficient to support regulatory approval for our products, the FDA and foreign
regulatory authorities may not ultimately grant approval for commercial sale in any jurisdiction. If our product
candidates are not approved, our ability to generate revenues will be limited and our business will be adversely
affected.

We are currently pursuing an HDE regulatory pathway in the United States for our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant.
The HDE requires that there is no other comparable device available to provide therapy for a condition and requires
sufficient information for the FDA to determine that the device does not pose an unreasonable or significant risk of
illness or injury, and that the probable benefit to health outweighs the risk of injury or illness from its use. The
amended protocol for The INSPIRE Study, which was approved in February 2016, established an OPC, which is a
measure of study success used in clinical studies designed to demonstrate safety and probable benefit in support of an
HDE approval. The OPC for The INSPIRE Study is currently defined as 25% or more of the patients in the study
demonstrating an improvement of at least one AIS grade by six months post-implantation. While we expect The
INSPIRE Study to serve as one source of data used to support HDE approval in the future, we will not complete full
enrollment of that study. In addition, although The INSPIRE Study is structured with the OPC as the primary
component for demonstrating probable benefit, the OPC is not the only variable that the FDA would evaluate when
reviewing a future HDE application.

The FDA had previously recommended that we include a randomized, concurrent control arm in the study and we
have proposed and received approval for the INSPIRE 2.0 Study. The primary endpoint is defined as the proportion
of patients achieving an improvement of at least one AIS grade at six months post-implantation. The definition of
study success is that the difference in the proportion of subjects who demonstrate an improvement of at least one
grade on AIS assessment at the six-month primary endpoint follow-up visit between the Scaffold Arm and the
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Comparator Arm must be equal to or greater than 20%. While our INSPIRE 2.0 Study is structured with a definition
of study success requiring a minimum difference between groups in the percentage of subjects achieving
improvement, that success definition is not the only factor that the FDA would evaluate in the future HDE
application.

Approval is not guaranteed if the OPC is met for The INSPIRE Study or the definition of study success is met for the
INSPIRE 2.0 Study, and even if the OPC or definition of study success are not met, the FDA may approve a medical
device if probable benefit is supported by a comprehensive review of all clinical endpoints and preclinical results, as
demonstrated by the sponsor’s body of evidence.

In addition, as one source of comparator data, we initiated the CONTEMPO Registry Study, utilizing existing
databases and registries to develop a historical comparator that, to the extent possible, matches patients to those
patients enrolled in The INSPIRE Study. There can be no assurance that either our INSPIRE 2.0 Study or the
CONTEMPO Registry Study will be successfully completed. Even if we successfully complete the INSPIRE 2.0
Study and the CONTEMPO Registry Study, we cannot be certain that the FDA will agree that these additional studies
provide sufficient information for the FDA to determine that the device does not pose an unreasonable or significant
risk of illness or injury, and that the probable benefit to health outweighs the risk of injury or illness from its use.
Moreover, analysis of data from the CONTEMPO Registry Study may suggest a higher threshold for evidencing
probable benefit. For example, AIS conversion rates at approximately six months post-injury across the three
registries used in
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CONTEMPO varied from 16.7% — 23.4%, which are higher than the approximately 15.5% conversion rate from the
historical registries that were the basis for the selection of the current OPC for The INSPIRE Study. In the event our
clinical data is not acceptable to the FDA, our ability to obtain approval under the HDE pathway may be delayed or
may not be feasible. If the FDA does not approve our product candidates in a timely fashion, or at all, our business
and financial condition will be adversely affected.

The 21st Century Cures Act recently increased the upper population limit for an HDE from 4,000 to 8,000, which
allows us to potentially request an expansion of our current HUD to include additional patient populations beyond our
current HUD for complete SCI. If we choose to pursue such an expansion, this may cause our application to be
delayed or cause the FDA to request additional information. In addition, our current study is not designed to support
approval beyond complete SCI. Thus, expansion would require additional studies. We cannot be certain that we will
be able to increase the potential population that we might be able to treat based on the HDE pathway. If any of these
events occur, our business and financial condition will be adversely affected.

There are risks associated with pursuing FDA approval via an HDE pathway, including the possibility that the
approval could be withdrawn in the future if the FDA subsequently approves another device for the same intended
use, as well as limitations on the ability to profit from sales of the product.

If the FDA subsequently approves a PMA or clears a 510(k) for the HUD or another comparable device with the same
indication, the FDA may withdraw the HDE. Once a comparable device becomes legally marketed through PMA or
510(k) clearance to treat or diagnose the disease or condition in question, there may no longer be a need for the HUD
and so the HUD may no longer meet the requirements of section 520(m)(2)(B) of the FDCA.

Except in certain circumstances, products approved under an HDE cannot be sold for an amount that exceeds the costs
of research and development, fabrication, and distribution of the device (i.e., for profit). Currently, under section
520(m)(6)(A)(i) of the FDCA, as amended by the Food and Drug Administration Safety and Innovation Act, an HUD
is only eligible to be sold for profit after receiving HDE approval if the device (1) is intended for the treatment or
diagnosis of a disease or condition that occurs in pediatric patients or in a pediatric subpopulation, and such device is
labeled for use in pediatric patients or in a pediatric subpopulation in which the disease or condition occurs; or (2) is
intended for the treatment or diagnosis of a disease or condition that does not occur in pediatric patients or that occurs
in pediatric patients in such numbers that the development of the device for such patients is impossible, highly
impracticable, or unsafe. If an HDE-approved device does not meet either of the eligibility criteria, the device cannot
be sold for profit. With enactment of the FDA Reauthorization Act of 2017, Congress provided that the exemption for
HUD / HDE profitability is available as long as the request for an exemption is submitted before October 1, 2022.

Some of our future products may be viewed by the FDA as combination products and the review of combination
products is often more complex and more time consuming than the review of other types of products.
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Our future products may be regulated by the FDA as combination products. For a combination product, the FDA must
determine which center or centers within the FDA will review the product candidate and under what legal authority
the product candidate will be reviewed. The process of obtaining FDA marketing clearance or approval is lengthy,
expensive, and uncertain, and we cannot be sure that any of our combination products, or any other products, will be
cleared or approved in a timely fashion, or at all. In addition, the review of combination products is often more
complex and more time consuming than the review of a product candidate under the jurisdiction of only one center
within the FDA. We cannot be sure that the FDA will not select to have our combination products reviewed and
regulated by only one FDA center and/or different legal authority, in which case the path to regulatory approval would
be different and could be lengthier and more costly. If the FDA does not approve or clear our products in a timely
fashion, or at all, our business and financial condition will be adversely affected.
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We may face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing, or commercializing
products before or more successfully than we do.

In general, the biotechnology industry is subject to intense competition and rapid and significant technological change.
We have many potential competitors, including major drug companies, specialized biotechnology firms, academic
institutions, government agencies, and private and public research institutions. Many of these competitors have
significantly greater financial and technical resources than us, and superior experience and expertise in research and
development, preclinical testing, design and implementation of clinical trials, regulatory processes and approval for
products, production and manufacturing, and sales and marketing of approved products. Large and established
companies compete in the biotechnology market. In particular, these companies have greater experience and expertise
in securing government contracts and grants to support their research and development efforts, conducting testing and
clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals to market products, manufacturing such products on a broad scale, and
marketing approved products. Smaller or early-stage companies and research institutions may also prove to be
significant competitors, particularly if they have collaborative arrangements with larger and more established
biotechnology companies. We will also face competition from these parties in recruiting and retaining qualified
scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites, and registering subjects for clinical trials.

In order to effectively compete, we will have to make substantial investments in development, clinical testing,
manufacturing, and sales and marketing, or partner with one or more established companies. There is no assurance
that we will be successful in having our products approved or gaining significant market share for any of our products.
Our technologies and products also may be rendered obsolete or noncompetitive as a result of products introduced by
our competitors.

The results of our clinical trials may not support our product candidate claims or may result in the discovery of
adverse side effects.

Our ongoing research and development, preclinical testing, and clinical trial activities are subject to extensive
regulation and review by numerous governmental authorities both in the United States and abroad. Clinical studies
must be conducted in compliance with FDA regulations or the FDA may take enforcement action. The data collected
from these clinical studies may ultimately be used to support market clearance for these products. Even if our clinical
trials are completed as planned, we cannot be certain that their results will support our product candidate claims or
that the FDA will agree with our conclusions regarding them. Success in preclinical studies and early clinical trials
does not ensure that later clinical trials will be successful, and we cannot be sure that the later trials will replicate the
results of prior trials and preclinical studies. The clinical trial process may fail to demonstrate that our product
candidates are safe and effective for the proposed indicated uses, which could cause us to abandon a product candidate
and may delay development of others. Any delay or termination of our clinical trials will delay the filing of our
product submissions and, ultimately, our ability to commercialize our product candidates and generate revenues. It is
also possible that patients enrolled in clinical trials will experience adverse side effects that are not currently part of
the product candidate’s profile.
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If approved, our products will require market acceptance to be successful. Failure to gain market acceptance would
impact our revenues and may materially impair our ability to continue our business.

Even if we receive regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of our product candidates, the commercial success of
our products will depend on, among other things, their acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payers such as
health insurance companies, and other members of the medical community as a therapeutic and cost-effective
alternative to competing products and treatments. Physicians and hospitals will need to establish training and
procedures to utilize and implement our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant, and there can be no assurance that these
parties will adopt the use of our device or develop sufficient training and procedures to properly utilize it. Market
acceptance of, and demand for, any product that we may develop and commercialize will depend on many factors,
both within and outside of our control. Payers may view new products or products that have only recently been
launched or with limited clinical data available, as investigational, unproven, or experimental, and on that basis may
deny coverage of procedures involving use of our products. If our product candidates fail to gain market acceptance,
we may be unable to earn sufficient revenue to continue our business.
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If we or our suppliers fail to comply with FDA regulatory requirements, or if we experience unanticipated problems
with any approved products, these products could be subject to restrictions or withdrawal from the market.

Any product for which we obtain regulatory approval, and the manufacturing processes, reporting requirements,
post-approval clinical data, and promotional activities for such product, will be subject to continued regulatory review
and oversight by the FDA. In particular, we and our third-party suppliers will be required to comply with the FDA’s
Quality System Regulations, or QSRs. These FDA regulations cover the methods and documentation of the design,
testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, sterilization, storage, and shipping of products.
Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements is subject to continual review and is monitored rigorously
through periodic inspections by the FDA. If we, or our manufacturers, fail to adhere to QSR requirements, this could
delay production of our product candidates and lead to fines, difficulties in obtaining regulatory clearances, recalls,
enforcement actions, including injunctive relief or consent decrees, or other consequences, which could, in turn, have
a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, we and our suppliers are required to comply with Good Manufacturing Practices and Good Tissue
Practices with respect to any human cells and biologic products we may develop, and International Standards
Organization regulations for the manufacture of our products, and other regulations which cover the methods and
documentation of the design, testing, production, control, quality assurance, labeling, packaging, storage, and shipping
of any product for which we obtain clearance or approval. Manufacturing may also be subject to controls by the FDA
for parts of the combination products that the FDA may find are controlled by the biologics regulations.

The FDA audits compliance with the QSR and other similar regulatory requirements through periodic announced and
unannounced inspections of manufacturing and other facilities. The failure by us or one of our suppliers to comply
with applicable statutes and regulations administered by the FDA, or the failure to timely and adequately respond to
any adverse inspectional observations or product safety issues, could result in any of the following enforcement
actions:

untitled letters, warning letters, fines, injunctions, consent decrees, and civil penalties;

unanticipated expenditures to address or defend such actions;

customer notifications or repair, replacement, refunds, recall, detention, or seizure of our products;

operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production;
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refusing or delaying our requests for premarket approval of new products or modified products;

withdrawing PMA that have already been granted;

refusal to grant export approval for our products; or

criminal prosecution.

Any of these sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations, and
financial condition.

Our products and operations are subject to extensive governmental regulation both in the United States and abroad,
and our failure to comply with applicable requirements could cause our business to suffer.

Our medical device and biologic products and operations are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and various
other federal, state, and foreign governmental authorities. For example, we expect to initiate a clinical trial in Canada
and will be subject to applicable Canadian regulations as we initiate and conduct that trial. Government regulation of
medical devices and biologic products is meant to assure their safety and effectiveness, and includes regulation of,
among other things:

design, development, and manufacturing;
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testing, labeling, content, and language of instructions for use and storage;

clinical trials;

product safety;

marketing, sales, and distribution;

regulatory clearances and approvals including premarket clearance and
approval;

conformity assessment procedures;

product traceability and record keeping procedures;

advertising and promotion;

product complaints, complaint reporting, recalls, and field safety corrective actions;

- post market surveillance, including reporting of deaths or serious injuries, and malfunctions that, if they were to
recur, could lead to death or serious injury;

post market studies; and

product import and export.

The regulations to which we are subject are complex and have tended to become more stringent over time. Regulatory
changes could impede our ability to carry on or expand our operations and could result in higher than anticipated costs
or lower than anticipated sales.
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Before we can market or sell a new regulated medical device product in the United States, we must obtain clearance
under Section 510(k) of the FDCA, approval of a PMA, or approval of an HDE, unless the device is specifically
exempt from premarket review. Our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant is expected to be regulated by the FDA as a Class
III medical device, requiring either PMA or HDE approval. An HUD designation was granted for the Neuro-Spinal
Scaffold implant in 2013, opening the HDE pathway.

In the PMA process, the FDA must determine that a proposed device is safe and effective for its intended use based, in
part, on extensive data, including, but not limited to, technical, preclinical, clinical trial, manufacturing, and labeling
data.

Modifications to products that are approved through a PMA generally need FDA approval. The process of obtaining a
PMA is costly and generally takes from one to three years, or even longer, from the time the application is submitted
to the FDA until an approval is obtained.

An HDE application is similar in form and content to a PMA and, although exempt from the effectiveness
requirements of a PMA, an HDE does require sufficient information for the FDA to determine that the device does not
pose an unreasonable or significant risk of illness or injury, and that the probable benefit to health outweighs the risk
of injury or illness from its use. Like a PMA, changes to HDE devices generally need FDA approval.

Biological products must satisfy the requirements of the Public Health Services Act and its implementing regulations.
In order for a biologic product to be legally marketed in the U.S., the product must have a BLA approved by the FDA.
The testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort, and financial resources, and each may take several
years to complete.
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The FDA can delay, limit, or deny clearance or approval of a product for many reasons, including:

- we may not be able to demonstrate to the FDA’s satisfaction that our products are safe and effective for their
intended uses;

- the data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials may be insufficient to support clearance or approval, where
required; and

the manufacturing process or facilities we use may not meet applicable requirements.

In addition, the FDA may change its clearance and approval policies, adopt additional regulations or revise existing
regulations, or take other actions that may prevent or delay approval or clearance of our products under development
or impact our ability to modify our currently approved or cleared products on a timely basis.

Further, even after we have obtained the proper regulatory clearance or approval to market a product, the FDA may
require us to conduct post-marketing studies. Failure to conduct required studies in a timely manner could result in the
revocation of approval for the product that is subject to such a requirement and could also result in the recall or
withdrawal of the product, which would prevent us from generating sales from that product in the United States.

Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations could jeopardize our ability to sell our products and result in
enforcement actions such as:

warning letters;

fines;

injunctions;

civil penalties;

termination of distribution;

163



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

recalls or seizures of products;

delays in the introduction of products into the market;

total or partial suspension of production;

refusal of the FDA or other regulators to grant future clearances or approvals;

withdrawals or suspensions of current clearances or approvals, resulting in prohibitions on sales of our products;
and/or

in the most serious cases, criminal penalties.

Any of these sanctions could result in higher than anticipated costs or lower than anticipated sales and have a material
adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations, and financial condition.

If our products, or the malfunction of our products, cause or contribute to a death or a serious injury before or after
approval, we will be subject to medical device reporting regulations, which can result in voluntary corrective actions
or agency enforcement actions.

Under the FDA medical device reporting regulations, medical device manufacturers with approved products are
required to report to the FDA information that a device has or may have caused or contributed to a death or serious
injury or has malfunctioned in a way that would likely cause or contribute to death or serious injury if the malfunction
of the device or one of our similar devices were to recur. Any such serious adverse event involving our products could
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result in future voluntary corrective actions, such as recalls or customer notifications, or agency action, such as
inspection or enforcement action. In the context of our ongoing clinical trial, we report adverse events to the FDA in
accordance with IDE regulations and to other relevant regulatory authorities in accordance with applicable national
and local regulations. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary, and either pre- or post-market, needed
to address any serious adverse events will require the dedication of our time and capital, distract management from
operating our business, and may harm our reputation and financial results.

Our products, once approved, may in the future be subject to product recalls. A recall of our products, either
voluntarily or at the direction of the FDA, or the discovery of serious safety issues with our products, could have a
significant adverse impact on us.

If our products are approved for commercialization, the FDA and similar foreign governmental authorities have the
authority to require the recall of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or defects in design or
manufacture. In the case of the FDA, the decision to require a recall must be based on an FDA finding that there is
reasonable probability that the device would cause serious injury or death. A government-mandated or voluntary
recall by us or one of our partners could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health, component failures,
malfunctions, manufacturing errors, design or labeling defects, or other deficiencies and issues. Recalls of any of our
commercialized products would divert managerial and financial resources and have an adverse effect on our
reputation, results of operations, and financial condition, which could impair our ability to manufacture our products
in a cost-effective and timely manner in order to meet our customers’ demands. We may also be subject to liability
claims, be required to bear other costs, or take other actions that may have a negative impact on our future sales and
our ability to generate profits.

If we obtain approval for our products, we may be subject to enforcement action if we engage in improper marketing
or promotion of our products.

We are not permitted to promote or market our investigational products. After approval, our promotional materials
and training methods must comply with FDA and other applicable laws and regulations, including the prohibition of
the promotion of unapproved, or off-label, use. Surgeons may use our products off-label, as the FDA does not restrict
or regulate a surgeon’s choice of treatment within the practice of medicine. However, if the FDA determines that our
promotional materials or training constitutes promotion of an off-label use, it could request that we modify our
training or promotional materials or subject us to regulatory or enforcement actions, including the issuance of an
untitled letter, a warning letter, injunction, seizure, civil fine, or criminal penalties. It is also possible that other
federal, state, or foreign enforcement authorities might take action if they consider our promotional or training
materials to constitute promotion of an off-label use, which could result in significant fines or penalties under other
statutory authorities, such as laws prohibiting false claims for reimbursement. In that event, our reputation could be
damaged and adoption of the products could be impaired. In addition, the off-label use of our products may increase
the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims are expensive to defend and could divert our management’s
attention, result in substantial damage awards against us, and harm our reputation.
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If we obtain approval for our products, their commercial success will depend in part upon the level of reimbursement
we receive from third parties for the cost of our products to users.

The commercial success of any product will depend, in part, on the extent to which reimbursement for the costs of our
products and related treatments will be available from third-party payers such as government health administration
authorities, private health insurers, managed care programs, and other organizations. Adequate third-party insurance
coverage may not be available for us to establish and maintain price levels that are sufficient for us to continue our
business or for realization of an appropriate return on investment in product development.
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Legislative or regulatory reform of the healthcare systems in which we operate may affect our ability to
commercialize our product candidates and could adversely affect our business.

The government and regulatory authorities in the United States, the European Union, and other markets in which we
plan to commercialize our product candidates may propose and adopt new legislation and regulatory requirements
relating to the approval, CE marking, manufacturing, promotion, or reimbursement of medical device and biologic
products. It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted or applicable regulations, guidance, or
interpretations changed, and what the impact of such changes, if any, may be. Such legislation or regulatory
requirements, or the failure to comply with such, could adversely impact our operations and could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

For example, in the United States, legislative changes have been enacted in the past and further changes are proposed
that would impact the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, or the Affordable Care Act. These new laws may
result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding. Beginning April 1, 2013, Medicare payments
for all items and services, including drugs and biologics, were reduced by 2% under the sequestration (i.e., automatic
spending reductions) required by the Budget Control Act of 2011, as amended by the American Taxpayer Relief Act
of 2012. Subsequent legislation extended the 2% reduction, on average, to 2025. It is likely that federal and state
legislatures within the United States and foreign governments will continue to consider changes to existing healthcare
legislation. The Affordable Care Act has faced ongoing legal challenges, including litigation seeking to invalidate
some of or all of the law or the manner in which it has been implemented. With the new Presidential administration
and Congress, there have been, and may be additional, legislative changes affecting the Affordable Care Act,
including repeal of certain provisions of the Affordable Care Act. It remains to be seen, however, precisely what
impact legislation to date and any future legislation will have on the availability of healthcare and containing or
reducing healthcare costs. We cannot predict the reform initiatives that may be adopted in the future or whether
initiatives that have been adopted will be repealed or modified. We cannot quantify or predict with any certainty the
likely impact of the Affordable Care Act, its amendment or repeal, or any alternative or related legislation, or any
implementation of any such legislation, on our business model, prospects, financial condition, and results of
operations.

These and other legislative and regulatory changes that have been or may be proposed in the future may impact our
ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates.

We have limited experience manufacturing our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant for clinical-study scale and no
experience for commercial scale.

To date, we have manufactured our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant on a small scale, including sufficient supply that is
needed for our clinical studies. We may encounter unanticipated problems in the scale-up process that will result in
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delays in the manufacturing of the Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant and therefore delay our clinical studies. During our
clinical trials, we are subject to FDA regulations requiring manufacturing of our scaffolds with the FDA requirements
for design controls and subject to inspections by regulatory agencies. Our failure to comply with applicable
regulations may result in delays and interruptions to our product supply while we seek to secure another supplier that
meets all regulatory requirements. If we are unable to scale up our manufacturing to meet requirements for our clinical
studies, we may be required to rely on contract manufacturers. Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails risks to
which we would not be subject if we manufactured the product ourselves, including the possible breach of the
manufacturing agreements by the third parties because of factors beyond our control, and the possibility of termination
or nonrenewal of the agreements by the third parties because of our breach of the manufacturing agreement or based
on their own business priorities.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

We license certain technology underlying the development of our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant from BCH and MIT,
and the loss of the license would result in a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, and operating
results and cause the market value of our common stock to decline.

We license technology from Boston Children’s Hospital, or BCH, and the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, or
MIT, that is integrated into our Neuro-Spinal Scaffold implant under an exclusive license. Under the license
agreement, we have agreed to milestone payments and to meet certain reporting obligations. In the event that we
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were to breach any of the obligations under the agreement and fail to timely cure, BCH and MIT would have the right
to terminate the agreement upon notice. In addition, BCH and MIT have the right to terminate our license upon the
bankruptcy or receivership of the Company. If we are unable to continue to use or license this technology on
reasonable terms, or if this technology fails to operate properly, we may not be able to secure alternatives in a timely
manner and our ability to develop our products could be harmed.

If we cannot protect, maintain and, if necessary, enforce our intellectual property rights, our ability to develop and
commercialize products will be adversely impacted.

Our success, in large part, depends on our ability to protect and maintain the proprietary nature of our technology. We
and our licensors must prosecute and maintain our existing patents and obtain new patents. Some of our proprietary
information may not be patentable, and there can be no assurance that others will not utilize similar or superior
solutions to compete with us. We cannot guarantee that we will develop proprietary products that are patentable, and
that, if issued, any patent will give a competitive advantage or that such patent will not be challenged by third parties.
The process of obtaining patents can be time consuming with no certainty of success, as a patent may not issue or may
not have sufficient scope or strength to protect the intellectual property it was intended to protect. We cannot assure
you that our means of protecting our proprietary rights will suffice or that others will not independently develop
competitive technology or design around patents or other intellectual property rights issued to us. Even if a patent is
issued, it does not guarantee that it is valid or enforceable. Any patents that we or our licensors have obtained or
obtain in the future may be challenged, invalidated, or unenforceable. If necessary, we may initiate actions to protect
our intellectual property, which can be costly and time consuming.

If third parties successfully claim that we infringe their intellectual property rights, our ability to continue to develop
and commercialize products could be delayed or prevented.

Third parties may claim that we or our licensors are infringing on or misappropriating their proprietary information.
Other organizations are engaged in research and product development efforts that may overlap with our products.
Such third parties may currently have, or may obtain in the future, legally blocking proprietary rights, including patent
rights, in one or more products or methods under development or consideration by us. These rights may prevent us
from commercializing products, or may require us to obtain a license from the organizations to use the technology.
We may not be able to obtain any such licenses that may be required on reasonable financial terms, if at all, and
cannot be sure that the patents underlying any such licenses will be valid or enforceable. There may be rights that we
are not aware of, including applications that have been filed but not published that, when issued, could be asserted
against us. These third parties could bring claims against us that would cause us to incur substantial expenses and, if
successful, could cause us to pay substantial damages. Further, if a patent infringement suit were brought against us,
we could be forced to stop or delay research and development of the product that is the subject of the suit.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property
litigation, there is a risk that some of our trade secrets or other confidential information could be compromised by
disclosure during this type of litigation.
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Risks Related to our Dependence on Third Parties

We will depend upon strategic relationships to develop, exploit, and manufacture our products. If these relationships
are not successful, we may not be able to capitalize on the market potential of these products.

The near and long-term viability of our products will depend, in part, on our ability to successfully establish new
strategic collaborations with biotechnology companies, hospitals, insurance companies, and government agencies.
Establishing strategic collaborations is difficult and time-consuming. Potential collaborators may reject collaborations
based upon their assessment of our financial, regulatory, or intellectual property position. If we fail to establish a
sufficient number of collaborations on acceptable terms, we may not be able to commercialize our products or
generate sufficient revenue to fund further research and development efforts.

Even if we establish new collaborations, these relationships may never result in the successful development or
commercialization of any of our product candidates for reasons both within and outside of our control.
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There are a limited number of suppliers that can provide materials to us. Any problems encountered by such suppliers
may detrimentally impact us.

We rely on third-party suppliers and vendors for certain of the materials used in the manufacture of our products or
other of our product candidates. Any significant problem experienced by one of our suppliers could result in a delay or
interruption in the supply of materials to us until such supplier resolves the problem or an alternative source of supply
is located. Any delay or interruption could negatively affect our operations.

If the third parties on which we rely to conduct our laboratory testing, animal and human clinical trials do not perform
as contractually required or expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our
products.

We have been, and will continue to be, dependent on third-party CROs, medical institutions, investigators, and
contract laboratories to conduct certain of our laboratory testing, animal and human clinical studies. We are
responsible for confirming that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with our approved plan and
protocol. Moreover, the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies require us to comply with regulations and standards,
commonly referred to as good clinical practices, for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to
assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and that the trial participants are adequately protected.
Our reliance on these third parties does not relieve us of these responsibilities and requirements. If these third parties
do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines, if the third
parties need to be replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to
adhere to our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our preclinical development activities
or clinical trials may be extended, delayed, suspended, or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory
approval or successfully commercialize our products on a timely basis, if at all, and our business, operating results,
and prospects may be adversely affected.

If the third parties on which we rely to conduct our laboratory testing, animal, and human clinical trials do not perform
as contractually required or expected, we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval for or commercialize our
products.

We have been, and will continue to be, dependent on third party CROs, medical institutions, investigators, and contract
laboratories to conduct certain of our laboratory testing, animal and human clinical studies. We are responsible for
confirming that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with our approved plan and protocol. Moreover,
the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies require us to comply with regulations and standards, commonly referred to

as good clinical practices, for conducting, recording, and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and
reported results are credible and accurate and that the trial participants are adequately protected. Our reliance on these
third parties does not relieve us of these responsibilities and requirements. If these third parties do not successfully
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carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet expected deadlines, if the third parties need to be
replaced, or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to the failure to adhere to our
clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our preclinical development activities or clinical
trials may be extended, delayed, suspended, or terminated, and we may not be able to obtain regulatory approval or
successfully commercialize our products on a timely basis, if at all, and our business, operating results, and prospects
may be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth

Our success depends on our ability to retain our management and other key personnel.

We depend on our senior management as well as key scientific personnel. We have implemented restructurings that
have significantly reduced our workforce over the last few months, leaving only key positions filled. On February 2,
2018, we appointed Richard Toselli M.D. as President, Chief Executive Officer, and a director. The loss of any
members of senior management or key scientific personnel could harm our business and significantly delay or prevent
the achievement of research, development, or business objectives. Competition for qualified employees is intense
among biotechnology companies, and the loss of qualified employees, or an inability to attract, retain, and motivate
additional highly skilled employees could hinder our ability to successfully develop marketable products.

Our future success also depends on our ability to identify, attract, hire, train, retain, and motivate other highly skilled
scientific, technical, marketing, managerial, and financial personnel. Although we will seek to hire and retain
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qualified personnel with experience and abilities commensurate with our needs, there is no assurance that we will
succeed despite our collective efforts. The loss of the services of any of our senior management or other key personnel
could hinder our ability to fulfill our business plan and further develop and commercialize our products and services.
Competition for personnel is intense, and any failure to attract and retain the necessary technical, marketing,
managerial, and financial personnel would have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial
condition, and results of operations.

We may be subject to claims that our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have wrongfully used or
disclosed confidential information of third parties.

We have received confidential and proprietary information from collaborators, prospective licensees, and other third
parties. In addition, we employ individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or pharmaceutical
companies. We may be subject to claims that we or our employees, consultants, or independent contractors have
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed confidential information of these third parties or our employees’ former
employers. We may also be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators, or other third parties have an
ownership interest in our patents or other intellectual property. We may be subject to ownership disputes in the future
arising, for example, from conflicting obligations of consultants or others who are involved in developing our product
candidates. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in
addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership
of, or right to use, valuable intellectual property. Such an outcome could have a material adverse effect on our
business. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial cost and be
a distraction to our management and employees.

Risks Related to Litigation and Legal Compliance

We may face, and in the past have faced, lawsuits, which could divert management’s attention and harm our business.

We may face lawsuits, including class action or securities derivative lawsuits. For example, we were previously the
subject of a securities derivative lawsuit and securities class action lawsuit, both of which were dismissed in January
2017. The amount of time that is required to resolve these lawsuits is unpredictable and any lawsuits may divert
management’s attention from the day-to-day operations of our business, which could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, and cash flows. Any litigation or claim against us, even those without merit, may cause us to
incur substantial costs, and could place a significant strain on our financial resources, divert the attention of
management from our core business and harm our reputation.
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We face potential product liability claims, and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial
liability and costs.

We will have exposure to claims for product liability. Product liability coverage for the healthcare industry is
expensive and sometimes difficult to obtain. We may not be able to maintain such insurance on acceptable terms or be
able to secure increased coverage if the commercialization of our products progresses, nor can we be sure that existing
or future claims against us will be covered by our product liability insurance. Moreover, the existing coverage of our
insurance policy or any rights of indemnification and contribution that we may have may not be sufficient to offset
existing or future claims. A successful claim may prevent us from obtaining adequate product liability insurance in the
future on commercially desirable terms, if at all. Even if a claim is not successful, defending such a claim would be
time-consuming and expensive, may damage our reputation in the marketplace, and would likely divert our
management’s attention.

We are subject to environmental, health, and safety laws. Failure to comply with such environmental, health, and
safety laws could cause us to become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could have a material adverse
effect on the success of our business.

We are subject to various environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations, including those relating to safe
working conditions, laboratory, and manufacturing practices, the experimental use of animals and humans, emissions
and wastewater discharges, and the use and disposal of hazardous or potentially hazardous substances used in
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connection with our research. Any of these laws or regulations could cause us to incur additional expense or restrict
our operations. Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be expensive, and current or future
environmental regulations may impair our research and development efforts.

Our relationships with customers and third party payers will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse,
and other healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, program
exclusion, contractual damages, reputational harm, and diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians, and third party payers will play a primary role in the recommendation and use of our
products and any other product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. Our future arrangements with
healthcare providers, physicians, and third party payers may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through
which we market, sell, and distribute any products for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under
applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:

- the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
offering, receiving, or providing remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in
return for, either the referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order, or recommendation or arranging of, any
good or service, for which payment may be made under a federal healthcare program such as Medicare and
Medicaid;

- the federal False Claims Act imposes criminal and civil penalties, including through civil whistleblower or qui tam
actions, against individuals or entities for, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented,
false or fraudulent claims for payment by a federal healthcare program or making a false statement or record
material to payment of a false claim or avoiding, decreasing, or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal
government, with potential liability including mandatory treble damages and significant per-claim penalties;

- the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), imposes criminal and civil
liability for executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program or making false statements relating to
healthcare matters;

- HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and its
implementing regulations, also imposes obligations, including mandatory contractual terms, with respect to
safeguarding the privacy, security, and transmission of individually identifiable health information;

- the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires applicable manufacturers of covered products to report
payments and other transfers of value to physicians and teaching hospitals; and
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- analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws and transparency
statutes, may apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed
by non-governmental third party payers, including private insurers.

Some state laws require device companies to comply with the industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the
relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and may require product manufacturers to
report information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or
marketing expenditures. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and security of health information in some
circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus
complicating compliance efforts.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any governmental regulations that
apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines, and the curtailment
or restructuring of our operations. Any penalties, damages, fines, curtailment, or restructuring of our operations could
adversely affect our financial results. If any such actions are instituted against us and we are not successful in
defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a significant impact on our business, including
the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

51

176



Edgar Filing: NOKIA CORP - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and
regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business
practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations, or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse
or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any
other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal, and
administrative penalties, damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of products from government funded healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations. If any of the
physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in
compliance with applicable laws, they may be subject to criminal, civil, or administrative sanctions, including
exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.

Risks Related to Investment in Our Securities

The price of our common stock has been and may continue to be volatile, which could lead to losses by investors and
costly securities litigation.

The trading price of our common stock is likely to be highly volatile and could fluctuate in response to factors such as:

the status, completion, and/or results of our clinical trials;

actual or anticipated variations in our operating results;

announcements of developments by us or our competitors;

regulatory actions regarding our products;

- announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital
commitments;

adoption of new accounting standards affecting our industry;
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additions or departures of key personnel;

sales of our common stock or other securities in the open market; and

other events or factors, many of which are beyond our control.

The stock market is subject to significant price and volume fluctuations. In the past, following periods of volatility in
the market price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been initiated against such
company. Litigation initiated against us, whether or not successful, could result in substantial costs and diversion of
our management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business and financial condition.

In the foreseeable future, we do not intend to pay cash dividends on shares of our common stock so any investor gains
will be limited to the value of our shares.

We currently anticipate that we will retain future earnings for the development, operation, and expansion of our
business and do not anticipate declaring or paying any cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any gains to
stockholders will therefore be limited to the increase, if any, in our share price.

In the event that we fail to satisfy any of the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market, our common stock
may be delisted, which could affect our market price and liquidity.

Our common stock is listed on the Nasdaq Capital Market. For continued listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market, we
will be required to comply with the continued listing requirements, including the minimum market capitalization
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standard, the corporate governance requirements and the minimum closing bid price requirement, among other
requirements. For example, we were previously listed on the Nasdaq Global Market and on January 23, 2018 we
received a deficiency letter from the Listings Qualifications Department of the Nasdaq Stock Market notifying us that,
for the prior 30 consecutive business days, the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00
per share requirement for continued inclusion on the Nasdaq Global Market. Although we regained compliance with
the Bid Price Rule as a result of the reverse stock split we effected on April 16, 2018, we received a notification from
the Listing Qualifications Department of the Nasdaq Stock Market on May 11, 2018, notifying us that, based on our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2018, our stockholders’ equity was $8,323,000, and
therefore, the we were not in compliance with the minimum stockholders’ equity standard which required a minimum
of $10,000,000 in stockholders’ equity. We elected to transfer to the Nasdaq Capital Market, and the transfer was
effective June 19, 2018.

On August 15, 2018, we received a written notification from the Listing Qualifications Department of the Nasdaq
Stock Market notifying us that, based on the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2018, the Company’s stockholders’ equity was $(1,909,000), and therefore, the Company was not in compliance with
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(1), which requires a $2,500,000 minimum stockholders’ equity standard. Total
stockholders’ deficit at June 30, 2018 was primarily driven by derivative accounting on the warrants issued as part of
our June 2018 public offering. In accordance with such notice, we were requested to provide to Nasdaq, on or before
October 1, 2018, our specific plan to regain compliance with all Nasdaq Capital Market listing requirements and our
time frame to complete our plan. On October 1, 2018, we submitted a plan to regain compliance with the continued
listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market, and Nasdaq has granted us an extension until November 14, 2018
to evidence compliance with all Nasdaq Capital Market listing requirements. If Nasdaq determines that such plan is
not sufficient, it will provide written notification that our securities will be delisted. At that time, we may appeal
Nasdaq’s determination to a hearings panel (the “Panel”). We expect that our stock would remain listed pending the
Panel’s decision. There can be no assurance that, if we do appeal Nasdaq’s determination to the Panel, that such appeal
would be successful.

In the event that we fail to satisfy any of the listing requirements of the Nasdaq Capital Market our common stock

may be delisted. If our securities are delisted from trading on the Nasdaq Capital Market, and we are not able to list

our securities on another exchange our securities could be quoted on the OTC Bulletin Board or on the “pink sheets.” As
a result, we could face significant adverse consequences including:

- a limited availability of market quotations for our securities;

- a determination that our common stock is a “penny stock,” which would require brokers trading in our common stock
to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading
market for our securities;

- a limited amount of news and analyst coverage; and

- adecreased ability to issue additional securities (including pursuant to short-form registration statements on Form
S-3 or obtain additional financing in the future).
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Anti takeover effects of certain provisions of our articles of incorporation and Nevada state law may discourage or
prevent a takeover.

Our articles of incorporation divide our Board of Directors into three classes, with three-year staggered terms. The
classified board provision could increase the likelihood that, in the event an outside party acquired a controlling block
of our stock, incumbent directors nevertheless would retain their positions for a substantial period, which may have
the effect of discouraging, delaying, or preventing a change in control. In addition, Nevada has a business combination
law, which prohibits certain business combinations between Nevada publicly traded corporations, or Nevada
corporations that elect to be subject to the law, and “interested stockholders” for two years after the interested
stockholder first becomes an interested stockholder, unless the corporation’s board of directors approves the
transaction by which the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder in advance, or the proposed combination in
advance of the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder.

The proposed combination may be approved after the stockholder becomes an interested stockholder with preapproval
by the board of directors and a vote at a special or annual meeting of stockholders holding at least 60% of the voting

power not owned by the interested stockholder or his/her/ its affiliates or associates. After the two-year
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moratorium period, additional stockholder approvals or fair value requirements must be met by the interested
shareholder up to four years after the stockholder became an interested stockholder. In addition, we may become
subject to Nevada’s control share laws. A corporation is subject to Nevada’s control share law if it has more than 200
stockholders, at least 100 of whom are stockholders of record and residents of Nevada, and if the corporation does
business in Nevada, including through an affiliated corporation. This control share law may have the effect of
discouraging corporate takeovers. Currently, we believe that we have less than 100 stockholders of record who are
residents of Nevada, and are therefore not subject to the control share laws.

The provisions of our articles of incorporation and Nevada’s business combination and control share laws make it more
difficult for a third party to acquire us and make a takeover more difficult to complete, even if such a transaction were
in our stockholders’ interest or might result in a premium over the market price for our common stock.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description

3.1 Articles of Incorporation of InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp. as amended (incorporated by reference
from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2016 as
filed with the SEC on August 4, 2016.)

32 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the SEC on June 1, 2017.)

33 Certificate of Amendment to Articles of Incorporation of InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp.
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the SEC June 1, 2018.)

34 Certificate of Change Pursuant to NRS 78.2009 filed with Nevada Secretary of State, dated April 13 2018
(incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
the SEC on April 16, 2018.)

4.1 Amendment to Warrant Agency Agreement, by and between InVivo Therapeutics Holdings Corp. and
Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, as Warrant Agent, dated September 27,
2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed
with the SEC on September 28, 2018).

4.2
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Form of Series A Common Stock Purchase Warrant, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 28, 2018).

4.3 Form of Series B Common Stock Purchase Warrant, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed with the SEC on September 28, 2018).

31.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

31.2 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

32.1 Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

322 Certification of the Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.
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101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE
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XBRL Instance Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

INVIVO THERAPEUTICS HOLDINGS CORP.

Date: November 8, 2018 By: /s/ Richard Toselli
Name: Richard Toselli
Title: Chief Executive Officer, Principal Executive Officer
Date: November 8, 2018 By: /s/ Jeffrey Modestino
Name: Jeffrey Modestino
Title: Principal Financial Officer, Principal Accounting Officer, Treasurer
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